
City of Brookings 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
Monday, December 11, 2023, 7:00pm 
City Hall Council Chambers, 898 Elk Drive, Brookings, OR 97415 

CITY COUNCIL 
A. Call to Order 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 

C. Roll Call 

D. Oral Requests and Communications from the audience 
(*Public Comments on non-agenda items – five (5) minute limit per person, please submit Public Comment Form in advance)   

E. Consent Calendar 
1. Approve Council minutes for November 13, 2023 [Pg. 1] 
2. Accept October Financials [Pg. 4] 

F. Staff Reports/Public Hearings/Ordinances/Resolutions/Final Orders  
1. Continued Review of Planning Commission Decision on APP-1-23, Notice of 
Abatement to St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church [Pg. 10] 

a. 1st Seven Day Additional Evidence Submitted [Pg. 15] 
b. 2nd Seven Day Responses to First Seven Days [Pg. 46] 
c. 3rd Seven Day Response – Applicants Final Legal Argument [Pg. 48] 
d. City’s Rebuttal to St. Timothy’s Final Legal Argument [Pg. 62] 
e. October 23, 2023 City Council Agenda Report [Found on Website] 

2. Authorize the Issuance of Wastewater Revenue Bonds [Pg. 68] 

a. Draft Ordinance 23-O-810 [Pg. 69] 

3. Amend BMC 13.050.250 Water Curtailment [Pg. 71] 

a. Draft Ordinance 23-O-811 [Pg. 72] 
b. Exhibit A [Pg. 73] 

4. Wastewater Treatment Plant – Outfall Repair Task Order [Pg. 74] 

a. Jacobs Task Order #2 [Pg. 75] 
b.  Rubicon outfall inspection [Pg. 83] 

5. Oregon State Fire Marshal (OSFM) Engine Program Intergovernmental Agreement 

[Pg. 93] 

a. Resolution 23-R-1251 [Pg. 94] 

b. Draft 2023 OSFM Engine Program IGA [Pg. 95] 

6. Audit Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 [Pg. 104] 
a. June 30, 2023 Audit [Pg. 105] 

 



7. Ratify the City Council decision, adopting Ordinance 23-O-809 [Pg. 224] 
a.  Council Agenda Report and attachments – November 13, 2023 [Pg. 225] 
b.  Ordinance 23-O-809 Signed [Pg. 230] 

G. Informational Non-Action Items 
1. November 2023 Vouchers [Pg. 231] 

H. Remarks from Mayor, Councilors and City Manager 

I. Adjournment 

 

 

URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
A.  Call to Order 

C.  Roll Call 

D.  Consent Calendar 

 1. Approve Urban Renewal Agency minutes for October 9, 2023 [Pg. 235]  

E.  Staff Reports  
1. Downtown Decorative Light LED Retrofit [Pg. 236] 
 a. Reese Electric Bid [Pg. 238] 

b. Stadelman Electric Bid [Pg. 239] 
2. Audit Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 [Pg. 241] 

a. June 30, 2023 Audit [Pg. 242] 
 

F.  Agency Remarks 

G.  Adjournment 

 
 
*Public Comment forms and the agenda packet are available on-line at www.Brookings.or.us/PublicCommentForm. Public  Brookings City Hall 
and Chetco Community Public Library.  Return completed Public Comment forms to the City Recorder before start of the meeting or during 
regular business hours.   
  
All public meetings are held in accessible locations. Auxiliary aids will be provided upon request with at least 72 hours advance notification.  
Please contact 469-1102 if you have any questions regarding this notice. 
 
View the City Council meeting LIVE at the time of the meeting on:  
 - Television – Charter Channel 181 
  -  Internet – 1. Visit the City of Brookings website at www.brookings.or.us. 2. Click on Government (top tab).  3. Click on City Council 
(right side).  4. Under Agenda & Meetings click “Watch Meeting Live”.  5. You will need to download the VLC Media Player. Follow directions 
and links for your device 

https://www.brookings.or.us/DocumentCenter/View/7/Public-Comment-Form-PDF?bidId=%20
http://www.brookings.or.us/


City of Brookings 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
City Hall Council Chambers, 898 Elk Drive, Brookings, OR 97415 

Monday, November 13, 2023 

Call to Order 
Council President Ed Schreiber called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM 

Roll Call 
Council Present: Council President Ed Schreiber, and Councilors Isaac Hodges, and Andy 
Martin; a quorum present 

Staff present: City Manager Janell Howard, Public Works and Development Services Deputy 
Director Lauri Ziemer, City Attorney Lori Cooper (by phone) and Deputy Recorder Brooklyn 
Osterhage 

Media Present: 1 
Others Present: Approximately 40 audience members 

Consent Calendar 

1. Approve Council minutes for October 23, 2023
2. Accept Planning Commission minutes for September 5, 2023
3. Accept Parks and Recreation minutes for September 28, 2023
4. Approve Liquor License Application for Compass Rose

Councilor Hodges moved, Councilor Martin seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to approve the Consent Calendar. 

Oral Requests and Communications from the Audience 
1. Jerry Law – 98281 South Bank Chetco River Road, Brookings gave an update on Post

966 Fundraising.
2. Thena Lyons – 96305 Spindrift Lane, Brookings spoke on Coos-Curry Electric

Cooperative (CCEC) franchise.
3. Mike Frederick – 16883 Yellowbrick Road, Brookings spoke on the Mushroom Festival.
4. Alex Frederick – 16883 Yellowbrick Road, Brookings spoke on the recall.
5. Robert O’Sullivan – 96734 DeMoss Road, Brookings spoke against the amendment to

the Benevolent Meal Services Code.

Staff Reports 
1. Benevolent Meal Services Code Amendment
Staff report presented by Lauri Zeimer

Councilor Hodges moved, Councilor Martin seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to read Ordinance 23-O-809 by title only.  
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Ordinance 23-O-809 was read by title only. 

Councilor Martin moved, Councilor Schreiber seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to adopt Ordinance 23-O-809 amending the Brookings Municipal 
Code, Title 17 Land Development Code, amending Chapter 17.124.050 
Benevolent Meal Services as described in Exhibit A.  

Councilor Hodges moved, Councilor Martin seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to waive fees for entities that apply for CUP under BMC 17.124.050 
Benevolent Meal Services for 90 days from adoption of Ordinance 23-O-809.  

2. Grant Submission for up to 16 Self-Contained Breathing Apparatuses (SCBAs)
Staff report presented by Janell Howard and Fire Chief Jim Watson answered questions

Councilor Hodges moved, Councilor Martin seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to authorize staff to participate in the regional Assistance to 
Firefighters Grant process for the purchase of up to 16 SCBAs. 

3. Approve Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Curry County for
Building Services
Staff report presented by Janell Howard

Councilor Martin moved, Councilor Hodges seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to authorize the City Manager to sign an MOU with Curry County to 
provide building inspection services. 

4. Award contract for bond counsel services for the USDA Bonds
Staff report presented by Janell Howard

Councilor Martin moved, Councilor Hodges seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to authorize City Manager to sign agreement with Hawkins 
Delafield & Wood in the amount of $25,000 for bond counsel services for the 
USDA Bonds. 

5. Consideration of Potential Elected Official Vacancies

Comments from the audience 
1. Jennifer White – 1090 Parkview Drive, Brookings spoke in opposition to agenda item.
2. Robert O’Sullivan – 96734 DeMoss Road, Brookings spoke in opposition to agenda item.

Staff report presented by Janell Howard 

Councilor Martin moved, Councilor Hodges seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to accept resignation of Mayor Ron Hedenskog and declare the 
Mayor position vacant. 

2



Councilor Martin moved, Councilor Hodges seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to accept resignation of Councilor Michelle Morosky and declare 
Council Position #4 vacant. 

Councilor Hodges moved, Councilor Martin seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to appoint Kristi Fulton to Councilor position #4. 

The Oath of Office was given to Kristi Fulton by Deputy Recorder Brooklyn Osterhage. 

Remarks from Mayor and Councilors 
Council President, Ed Schreiber, offered to relinquish the title of Council President if 
somebody else is willing to have that responsibility so that the City can have adequate 
check signers. Councilor Andy Martin volunteered until there’s a full council, and it can 
be reconsidered. 

Councilor Schreiber moved, Councilor Hodges seconded, and Council voted 
unanimously to reassign the Council President title to Councilor Martin. 

Remarks from Mayor and Councilors 
Councilors Hodges and Martin acknowledged and thanked Ron Hedenskog and Michelle 
Morosky for their time on the Council and expressed excitement for new Council member 
Kristi Fulton. 

Councilor Fulton addressed the citizens of Brookings and expressed desire to do the City’s 
business keeping Brookings residents safe and a great place to live.  

Councilor Schreiber thanked those who originally voted for him, City staff, Councilors and 
Mayors he’s worked with and his family and wished success for new Council. 

Adjournment 
Councilor Ed Schreiber adjourned the meeting at 8:31 PM. 

Respectfully submitted: 

ATTESTED: 

this 11th day of December, 2023: 

Isaac Hodges, Mayor Janell K. Howard, City Recorder 
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CITY OF BROOKINGS

FUND SUMMARY

FOR THE 4 MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2023

GENERAL FUND

REMAINING

BUDGET PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 34 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  12/05/2023     03:47PM       PAGE: 1

REVENUE

TAXES 4,026,050.00 127,046.23 625,116.70 3,400,933.30 15.5

LICENSES AND PERMITS 297,000.00 24,592.56 85,890.02 211,109.98 28.9

INTERGOVERNMENTAL 294,500.00 13,075.38 74,603.31 219,896.69 25.3

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 1,109,500.00 27,338.24 178,075.86 931,424.14 16.1

OTHER REVENUE 140,500.00 16,891.00 243,340.52 (            102,840.52) 173.2

TRANSFERS IN 686,105.00 .00 .00 686,105.00 .0

6,553,655.00 208,943.41 1,207,026.41 5,346,628.59 18.4

EXPENDITURES

JUDICIAL:

PERSONAL SERVICES 38,235.00 3,460.50 13,703.13 24,531.87 35.8

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 12,850.00 325.00 1,737.82 11,112.18 13.5

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

51,085.00 3,785.50 15,440.95 35,644.05 30.2

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION:

PERSONAL SERVICES 423,568.00 31,206.20 129,257.21 294,310.79 30.5

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 228,800.00 26,226.19 90,666.34 138,133.66 39.6

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

652,368.00 57,432.39 219,923.55 432,444.45 33.7

POLICE:

PERSONAL SERVICES 3,314,004.00 272,014.94 1,032,450.39 2,281,553.61 31.2

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 231,000.00 7,900.13 78,518.85 152,481.15 34.0

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 294,941.08 294,941.08 (            294,941.08) .0

DEBT SERVICE 109,426.00 .00 14,306.95 95,119.05 13.1

TRANSFERS OUT .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

3,654,430.00 574,856.15 1,420,217.27 2,234,212.73 38.9

FIRE:

PERSONAL SERVICES 249,661.00 21,269.01 82,027.19 167,633.81 32.9

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 107,500.00 11,132.27 49,450.55 58,049.45 46.0

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

DEBT SERVICE 30,580.00 .00 .00 30,580.00 .0

TRANSFERS OUT .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

387,741.00 32,401.28 131,477.74 256,263.26 33.9
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CITY OF BROOKINGS

FUND SUMMARY

FOR THE 4 MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2023

GENERAL FUND

REMAINING

BUDGET PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 34 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  12/05/2023     03:47PM       PAGE: 2

PLANNING AND BUILDING:

PERSONAL SERVICES 240,456.00 16,074.65 62,940.03 177,515.97 26.2

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 93,700.00 4,826.14 13,650.46 80,049.54 14.6

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

TRANSFERS OUT .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

334,156.00 20,900.79 76,590.49 257,565.51 22.9

PARKS & RECREATION:

PERSONAL SERVICES 287,161.00 24,954.09 98,801.38 188,359.62 34.4

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 137,900.00 4,336.06 31,791.70 106,108.30 23.1

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 891.90 (                   891.90) .0

DEBT SERVICE 9,981.00 .00 .00 9,981.00 .0

TRANSFERS OUT .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

435,042.00 29,290.15 131,484.98 303,557.02 30.2

GOLF COURSE:

PERSONAL SERVICES .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 900,000.00 .00 .00 900,000.00 .0

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

900,000.00 .00 .00 900,000.00 .0

SWIMMING POOL:

PERSONAL SERVICES 102,122.00 .00 65,350.30 36,771.70 64.0

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 66,700.00 1,114.25 22,850.62 43,849.38 34.3

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

168,822.00 1,114.25 88,200.92 80,621.08 52.2

NON-DEPARTMENTAL:

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 175,600.00 9,204.69 38,782.36 136,817.64 22.1

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

TRANSFERS OUT 575,000.00 .00 .00 575,000.00 .0

CONTINGENCIES AND RESERVES 829,411.00 .00 .00 829,411.00 .0

1,580,011.00 9,204.69 38,782.36 1,541,228.64 2.5

8,163,655.00 728,985.20 2,122,118.26 6,041,536.74 26.0

(         1,610,000.00) (            520,041.79) (            915,091.85) (            694,908.15) (  56.8)
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CITY OF BROOKINGS

FUND SUMMARY

FOR THE 4 MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2023

STREET FUND

REMAINING

BUDGET PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 34 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  12/05/2023     03:47PM       PAGE: 3

REVENUE

INTERGOVERNMENTAL 500,000.00 53,093.25 181,809.21 318,190.79 36.4

OTHER REVENUE 22,000.00 .00 12,442.00 9,558.00 56.6

TRANSFER IN 100,000.00 .00 .00 100,000.00 .0

622,000.00 53,093.25 194,251.21 427,748.79 31.2

EXPENDITURES

EXPENDITURES:

PERSONAL SERVICES 244,962.00 19,623.30 76,263.37 168,698.63 31.1

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 319,700.00 23,552.19 85,115.75 234,584.25 26.6

CAPITAL OUTLAY 15,000.00 .00 .00 15,000.00 .0

DEBT SERVICE 4,409.00 367.38 1,469.56 2,939.44 33.3

TRANSFERS OUT 234,087.00 .00 .00 234,087.00 .0

CONTINGENCIES AND RESERVES 118,842.00 .00 .00 118,842.00 .0

937,000.00 43,542.87 162,848.68 774,151.32 17.4

937,000.00 43,542.87 162,848.68 774,151.32 17.4

(            315,000.00) 9,550.38 31,402.53 (            346,402.53) 10.0
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CITY OF BROOKINGS

FUND SUMMARY

FOR THE 4 MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2023

WATER FUND

REMAINING

BUDGET PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 34 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  12/05/2023     03:47PM       PAGE: 4

REVENUE

SOURCE 03 .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 2,039,000.00 161,747.08 772,647.19 1,266,352.81 37.9

OTHER INCOME 48,000.00 3,970.00 21,787.83 26,212.17 45.4

TRANSFERS IN .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

2,087,000.00 165,717.08 794,435.02 1,292,564.98 38.1

EXPENDITURES

WATER DISTRIBUTION:

PERSONAL SERVICES 432,204.00 33,176.52 134,477.44 297,726.56 31.1

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 183,800.00 24,677.64 82,384.67 101,415.33 44.8

CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 .00 .00 50,000.00 .0

DEBT SERVICE 28,154.00 2,147.40 10,974.06 17,179.94 39.0

TRANSFERS OUT 24,000.00 .00 .00 24,000.00 .0

718,158.00 60,001.56 227,836.17 490,321.83 31.7

WATER TREATMENT:

PERSONAL SERVICES 30,042.00 2,505.99 9,836.62 20,205.38 32.7

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 574,515.00 45,021.95 174,642.71 399,872.29 30.4

CAPITAL OUTLAY 10,000.00 .00 .00 10,000.00 .0

DEBT SERVICE 2,386.00 .00 2,384.49 1.51 99.9

TRANSFERS OUT 742,572.00 .00 .00 742,572.00 .0

CONTINGENCIES AND RESERVES 174,327.00 .00 .00 174,327.00 .0

1,533,842.00 47,527.94 186,863.82 1,346,978.18 12.2

DEPARTMENT 24:

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

.00 .00 .00 .00 .0

2,252,000.00 107,529.50 414,699.99 1,837,300.01 18.4

(            165,000.00) 58,187.58 379,735.03 (            544,735.03) 230.1

7



CITY OF BROOKINGS

FUND SUMMARY

FOR THE 4 MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2023

WASTEWATER FUND

REMAINING

BUDGET PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 34 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  12/05/2023     03:47PM       PAGE: 5

REVENUE

SOURCE 03 (                4,500.00) .00 .00 (                4,500.00) .0

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 3,566,300.00 276,016.86 1,212,821.17 2,353,478.83 34.0

OTHER REVENUE 15,000.00 .00 4,205.55 10,794.45 28.0

TRANSFER IN .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

3,576,800.00 276,016.86 1,217,026.72 2,359,773.28 34.0

EXPENDITURES

WASTEWATER COLLECTION:

PERSONAL SERVICES 675,298.00 50,628.42 200,801.65 474,496.35 29.7

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 290,500.00 3,339.49 65,686.74 224,813.26 22.6

CAPITAL OUTLAY 15,000.00 .00 .00 15,000.00 .0

DEBT SERVICE 28,154.00 2,147.22 10,973.36 17,180.64 39.0

TRANSFERS OUT 226,533.00 .00 .00 226,533.00 .0

1,235,485.00 56,115.13 277,461.75 958,023.25 22.5

WASTEWATER TREATMENT:

PERSONAL SERVICES 45,461.00 3,758.94 14,754.50 30,706.50 32.5

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 1,219,029.00 87,342.27 312,133.04 906,895.96 25.6

CAPITAL OUTLAY 15,000.00 .00 .00 15,000.00 .0

DEBT SERVICE 2,386.00 .00 2,384.49 1.51 99.9

TRANSFERS OUT 1,237,643.00 .00 .00 1,237,643.00 .0

CONTINGENCIES AND RESERVES 256,296.00 .00 .00 256,296.00 .0

2,775,815.00 91,101.21 329,272.03 2,446,542.97 11.9

4,011,300.00 147,216.34 606,733.78 3,404,566.22 15.1

(            434,500.00) 128,800.52 610,292.94 (         1,044,792.94) 140.5
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CITY OF BROOKINGS

FUND SUMMARY

FOR THE 4 MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2023

URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY FUND

REMAINING

BUDGET PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 34 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  12/05/2023     03:47PM       PAGE: 6

REVENUE

TAXES 724,170.00 2,546.75 30,915.12 693,254.88 4.3

INTERGOVERNMENTAL .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

OTHER REVENUE 2,000.00 .00 .00 2,000.00 .0

TRANSFERS IN .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

726,170.00 2,546.75 30,915.12 695,254.88 4.3

EXPENDITURES

GENERAL:

PERSONAL SERVICES .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES 185,256.00 .00 16,508.75 168,747.25 8.9

CAPITAL OUTLAY 1,460,914.00 .00 1,125.00 1,459,789.00 .1

DEBT SERVICE .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

TRANSFERS OUT .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

CONTINGENCIES AND RESERVES .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

1,646,170.00 .00 17,633.75 1,628,536.25 1.1

DEPARTMENT 20:

CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

.00 .00 .00 .00 .0

DEPARTMENT 22:

MATERIAL AND  SERVICES .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

DEBT SERVICE .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

.00 .00 .00 .00 .0

DEPARTMENT 24:

CONTINGENCIES AND RESERVES .00 .00 .00 .00 .0

.00 .00 .00 .00 .0

1,646,170.00 .00 17,633.75 1,628,536.25 1.1

(            920,000.00) 2,546.75 13,281.37 (            933,281.37) 1.4
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City Council Review on Planning Commission APP-1-23 
1st Seven Day Additional Evidence Submitted 

Deadline:  October 30, 2023 

Attachment/ 
Page # From: Description: 

#A Stoel Rives October 30, 2023 Second Evidentiary Submission 

#B Justin Browder Letter in support of St. Timothy’s Church 

#C Reverend Ryan Scott Letter in support of St. Timothy’s Church 

#D Pastor Chris Kramer Letter in support of St. Timothy’s Church 

#E Reverend Paul Strike Letter in support of St. Timothy’s Church 

#F Deacon Indai Kerr Letter in support of St. Timothy’s Church 

#G Chris & Mikaya Mayo Letter in opposition of St. Timothy’s Church 

#H Brandon Ursy DVD with photos and videos of St. Timothy’s Patrons 

#I Blake Peters DVD with photos and videos of St. Timothy’s Patrons 

#A
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Stoel Rives LLP

Allison J. Reynolds

760 SW Ninth Avenue, Suite 3000
Portland, OR 97205

D. 503.294.9625

allison.reynolds@stoel.coin

October 30, 2023

VIA EMAIL

City Council
Attn: Lauri Ziemer

City of Brookings
898 Elk Drive,

Brookings, OR 97415

Second Evidentiary Submission before the City Council in Support of St. Timothy’s
Church Appeal of the April 14, 2023, Notice to Abate.

Re:

Dear City Council Members:

We represent St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church (“St. Tim’s”) in its appeal of the City’s Notice to
Abate (“Notice”), which directed St. Tim’s to cease operation of “social services” at its property
at 401 Fir Street (“Property”) where it operates a church use (“Church”). During the public
hearing on October 23, 2023, at the request of St. Tim’s you kept the record open to all parties
for the addition of new evidence until October 30, 2023. This decision keeps the record open for
rebuttal evidence until November 6, 2023, and the deadline for final legal argument by St. Tim’s
on November 13, 2023.

Please find attached the following documents attached for submittal to the record.

1. St. Timothy’s Rules and Trespass Policy

We are submitting this rules and trespass policy, read to everyone who visits St. Tim’s during
office hours, in response to testimony that St. Tim’s allows drug use on its property and for

people to camp on the property.

121330596.1 0076396-00004
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City Council
October 30, 2023

Page 2

2. Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St.
Timothy’s

We are submitting this in response to statements in the staff report that St. Tim’s has not shown
that the examples of churches it provided are in the same or similar zoning district as St. Tim’s.

The table provides the zoning designation of each church we cited as examples of other churches
provided similar uses, including those in Brookings, Oregon.

Thank you for your consideration.

Very truly yours.

I

Allison J. Reynolds

121330596.1 0076396-00004
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h

imothy s Church is a sanctuary for everyone who comes inside the door or on
Liie property. It is meant to be a place to warm up, clean up, eat and have a safe
place during the hours we are open. We are open Mon, Wed, and Fri, 9-12.

We are happy to be here and be part of this shared community. We offer coffee, tea,
hot chocolate, hot oatmeal and snacks in the office, also a clean pair of socks, and if
needed toothpaste/toothbrush, razors, combs, deodorant soap and occasional
additional items. There is a clothing closet, please take only what you need
immediately. If you need something just ask. Laundry vouchers are available for
one free load on Tuesdays only. You may also get mail sent here.

Meals are served:

Monday brunch: 11-12 St Tim’s
Wed. 12-1 Catholic Church

Tues. 12 -1 Lutheim-ChUfch

Thurs 12-1 Presbyterian Church
Ffi, Sat Sun — 12-1 - St Tim’s

V

oil are welcome to use the church for prayer. We are more than happy to pray with
1 or for you. However, you are not required to pray to receive our services. We

are all God’s children.

There are some respectful regulations we all must be accountable for, including
visitors, employees, and people we serve:

1. DRUGS: No dmgs including marijuana and alcohol in or on your person, or in
your possessions on the property. No visible cigarettes in the building. You
may smoke 10 feet away from the building. We respect a drag free
environment and support AA, NA, and ALANON. If you feel you have a
problem, feel free to ask about meetings.

2. WEAPONS: No visible weapons allowed. Pocket knives are considered a

weapon. This is a safe place. A sanctuary-. No one is to feel threatened.
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3- LANGUAGE: Soft spoken debates and friendly conversation is acceptable.
Swearing, yelling, screaming, fighting, sexual or physical harassment and
arguing will not be tolerated.

4. SHOWERS: The sign-up list for showers is in library. There are two showers
- either is available. Towels and shampoo are in the room. Use only one towel
and enough shampoo for your shower. Please leave the towel in the hamper
for washing. Any clothing left will be thrown away. You may be in the
shower room for 15 minutes. The downstairs bathrooms are available for extra

time needed. Clean up after yourself Last shower at 11:30. Everyone must be
out of the shower by 11:45. Library must also be cleaned.

5. DOGS: Service dogs only. Emotional support and companion dogs do not fit
the category. All animals must be always leashed and under the owners’
control.

6. CAMPING: We do not have any overnight camping services available. No
loitering between the hours of 6 pm and 7 am. We have Property Watch with

the Police Department. You may be trespassed for one year.

TRESPASS POLICY*

1. FIRST MISUSE OF RULES: immediate trespass for that day without fixither
services You may come back the next day we are open.

2. SECOND MISUSE OF RULES: trespass of one week.

3. THIRD MISUSE OF RULES: trespass of one month

4. FOURTH MISUSE OF RULES: Police will be-called. Could be criminal

trespass**. All further services will be suspended.
Any threatening behavior and or physical fights could result in an

immediate criminal trespass.

*Excluding loitering -.may still be a year
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Tabic 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

Church Activity ZoneChurch Name LocationExhibit Number

CommercialComputer lab and rest areaThe Connecting Grounds Springfield, Illinois10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 77-89

Special Commercial
District (multi-use
zone that combines

commercial and non-

Indianapolis, Indiana Legal services10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 91 -96

Trinity Lutheran Church,

Legal Outreach Center

commercial uses,

including residential)

Commercial (set up as
a mixed-use zone that

Los Angeles, California Legal services10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 98-101

Fame Church

allows some

residential

development)

Guidance/counselling; Food

pantry; Mothers of Pre-
Schoolers meetings; youth
video game tournament

R-1-6Brookings, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 110-112,

167, 544-554

Brookings Nazarene

Collects donations for the R-1-6.Brookings, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 123-125

Trinity Lutheran Church
food bank

Collects and distributes goods
to those in need

R-3Brookings Harbor

Foursquare Church

Brookings, Oregon

Hosts bi-weekly Alcoholics

Anonymous meetings

R-3Brookings Presbyterian
Church

Brookings, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 162-166,
470

Auto-Urban

Commercial

Serving meals to the poor and
a Car Care Program

(providing oil changes and
minor car repairs)

Covington, Kentucky10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 114-116

Madison Avenue

Christian Church

Low-density
residential

Assist low income and seniorsSpringfield, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 144-160

Catholic Charities Lane

County in the region including legal
aid

1

121329045.1 0076396-00004
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 144-160

Catholic Charities of Portland, Oregon legal aid Commercial Mixed-

Use 2Portland Oregon

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 471 -473

Nativity Lutheran Church Bend, Oregon Food pantry, providing

firewood, preschool program
for low-income children, safe

parking, charge phones,
restrooms, coffee, water,
showers

Standard Density
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 483-484,

504-507

Central Washington
Justice for our Neighbors

Ellensburg, WA; Walla
Walla WA

pro-bono legal services;
educational presentations

210 North Ruby

Street, Ellensburg,
WA; 209 E Birch

Street, Walla Walla,
WA

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 502-503

Pope Francis Legal
Clinic

Oakland, CA probono legal services 2121 Harrison Street,

Oakland CA 94612

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 514-515

Catholic Legal

Immigration Network,

Inc. - Immigrant Refugee
Community Organization

Portland, Oregon legal aid Central Commercial

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 514-515

Catholic Legal
Immigration Network,

Inc. - Immigrant
Connection - PDX

Portland, Oregon legal aid Corridor Multi-Family

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 514-515

Catholic Legal
Immigration Network,

Inc. - Latino Community
Association

Bend, Oregon legal aid Limited Commercial

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 514-515

Catholic Legal

Immigration Network,
Inc. - Lutheran

Community Services
Northwest

Portland, Oregon legal aid Commercial Mixed-

Use 1

2

121329045 1 0076396-00004
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

General EmploymentPortland, Oregon legal aid10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 514-515

Sponsors Organized to
Assist Refugees (SOAR) 1

Cannot confirmlegal aidChristian Legal Aid of
Los Angeles

Los Angeles, CA10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 542

Multi-Family
Residential (R-2)

community meals, mobile
health and dental care,

shower, laundry trailer,

clothing and food to take
home

Ashland, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 570

Ashland Methodist

Church

Public Reserve (PR)community mealsFirst United Methodist

Church

Roseburg, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 568

General Commercialfood pantry; homeless local

group; overnight shelter;
school clothes and supplies;

washers and dryers

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 569

Newman United

Methodist Church

Grants Pass, Oregon

(GC)

200 W Watkins St.,

Cave Junction, OR

97523

Cave Junction, Oregon food pantry10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 569

Immanual

Residential Generalfood pantry; yoga classesTrinity Methodist Toledo, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 570

Multiple Use
Residential District

food pantry; community
meals

Tillamook UMC Tillamook, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 571

(R-0)

Cannot confirmfood pantry; community
meals

Bay City UMC Bay City, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 571

Downtown Mixed Usedental van; community meals

and care cupboard; care
Albany First Christian
Church

Albany, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-75

support group

Residential 2.5dental vanAlbina Christian Life

Center

Portland, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-76

Commercial Mixed-

Use 2

dental van; food pantry;

clothing closet; hot meals;
thrift store and book nook

All Saints Episcopal
Church

Portland, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-77

3
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Tabic 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-78

Ascension Catholic

Church

Portland, Oregon dental van; homeless shelter;

feed the hungry; clothing
closet

Residential Multi-

Dwelling ]

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-79

Beaverton Seventh-Day
Adventist Church

Beaverton, Oregon dental van Residential Mixed C

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-80

Bend Church Bend, Oregon dental van High Density
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-81

Bethel Community
Church

Beaverton, Oregon dental van Residential Mixed A

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-82

Burnside Baptist Church Gresham, Oregon dental van Rockwood town

Center

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-83

Calvary Baptist Church Albany, Oregon dental van Single Family

Residential (RS-6.5)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-84

Calvary Chapel McMinnville, Oregon dental van Single-Family
Residential (R-2)

Downtown

Commercial (abutting
High Density
Residential)

Rural residential

farmiforest 5 acres

(RRFF-5)

Single Family
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-86

Canby Christian Church Canby, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-87

Canby Foursquare
Church

Unincorporated
Clackamas County

(Canby, Oregon)

Salem, Oregon

dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-88

Capital Park Wesleyan
Church

dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-89

Cedar Mill Bible Church Unincorporated

Washington County
(Portland)

Unincorporated Marion
County (Salem,
Oregon)

dental van Institutional

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-90

Christ The Good

Shepherd Lutheran
Church

dental van Muli Residential

(RM); Single
Residential (RS)

Cannot confirm10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-91

Church of the Cascades -

Bend, OR	

Deschutes dental van

4
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-92

Circle Church of Christ Corvalis, Oregon dental van Low density

Residential (RS-6)
Central Business

District Commercial

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-93

City Center Church Redmond, Oregon dental van

(C-2)

Residential, Multi-

Family
General Commercial

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-95

Coast Vineyard Christian
Fellowship

Columbia River

Lincoln City, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-97

Saint Helens, Oregon dental van

Foursquare Church

Corvallis Evangelical
Church

Corvalis, Oregon dental van Medium Density
Residential (RS-9)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-98

Low density
Residential (RS-6)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-99

Cross Roads Christian Corvalis, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-100

Crowfoot Baptist Church Unincorporated Linn
County (Lebanon,
Oregon)

dental van Mixed Use

Commercial

dental van Limited Density
Residential (R-2)

10-23-23 Agenda
Paekel at 572-101

Dayton Christian Church Dayton, Oregon

Community
Commercial

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-102

East County Church of
Christ

Gresham, Oregon dental van

dental van; disaster relief;

financial support

Residential (R7)10-23-23 Agenda
Paeket at 572-104

Eastside Free Methodist

Church

Portland, Oregon

Commercial Mixed-

Use 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-105

Emmanual Full Gospel
Temple

Portland, Oregon dental van

CommercialEvangelical Bible Church Dallas, Oregon dental van10-23-23 Agenda
Paekel at 572-106 Neighborhood (CN),

abutting Residential
low density (RL)

dental van Low Density
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-107

Faith Lutheran Church Monmouth, Oregon

Multi-family
Residential; Single

Family Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-108

Faith Lutheran Church Incorporated Marion
County (Salem,

Oregon)	

dental van

5
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-109

Faithful Savior Lutheran

Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential (R7)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-110

Family Worship Center
of Salem, Oregon

Salem, Oregon dental van Commercial Office

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-111

First Baptist Church Yamhill dental van Cannot confirm

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-112

First Baptist Church -
Corvallis

Corvalis, Oregon dental van Medium Density
Residential (RS-9)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-113

First Baptist Church -

Newport
Newport, Oregon dental van Medium Density

Single-Family
Residential (R-2)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-115

First Baptist Church of
McMinnville

McMinnville, Oregon dental van Office/Residential

Zone (0-R)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-116

First Baptist Church of
Portland

Portland, Oregon dental van Central Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-117

First Baptist Church of
Prineville

Prineville, Oregon dental van General Residential

IMl
10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-118

First Christian Church Dallas, Oregon dental van Central Business

District (CBD)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-119

First Christian Church Albany, Oregon (I.inn
County)

Corvalis, Oregon

dental van Cannot confirm

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-120

First Christian Church dental van Medium-High Density
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-121

First Christian Church

Dallas

Dallas, Oregon dental van Central Business

District (CBD)

High Density

Residential (R-2)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-122

First Presbyterian
Church- Oregon City

Oregon City, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-123

First United Methodist Corvalis, Oregon dental van

Church Corvallis

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-124

First United Methodist

Church - Portland

Portland, Oregon dental van; food pantry Residential Multi-

Dwelling 2; Open

Space	

6
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

Public/Semi-Publicdental vanFoothills Church Stayton, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-125 iPi

Residentialdental vanForest Grove United

Methodist

Forest Grove, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-126 Mullifamily Low

(RML)

Exclusive Farm UseUnincorporated

Washington County
(Cornelius)

dental vanForest Hills Lutheran

School

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-127

Low Density
Residential (R-1)

dental vanGarden Way Church Eugene, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-128

Residential (R7)dental vanGateway Baptist Church Portland, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-129

Single-Family
Residential (R7.2)

dental vanGladstone First Baptist
Church

Gladstone, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-130

Community
Commercial (C2)

dental vanUnincorporated
Douglas County (Glide,
Oregon)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-131

Glide Seventh Day
Adventist Church

Multi-family
Residential; Single

Family Residential

Unincorporated Marion

County (Salem,
Oregon)

dental vanGrace Baptist Church10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-132

Two Family
Residential (R-2)

Molalla, Oregon denial vanGrace l.uthcran Church -

Molalla

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-133

Medium Density

Residential (RS-9)

dental vanCorvalis, OregonGrant Avenue Baptist
Church

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-134

Moderate Density

Residential (R-2)

dental vanGrants Pass River of Life

Church

Grants Pass, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-135

Single Family
Residential (RS)

Unincorporated

Douglas County
(Roseburg, Oregon)

denial vanGreen Community
Church

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-136

Rural Residential

(RR-10)
Incorporated Benton
County (Corvalis,

Oregon)	

dental vanHarvest Christian Center10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-137

7
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Tabic 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-138

Helping Hands - 7lh Day
Adventist Church

Unincorporated
Douglas County (Glide,

Oregon)

dental van Community
Commercial (C2)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-139

Highland Christian
Center

Portland, Oregon dental van Commercial Mixed-

Use 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-140

Hillsboro Seventh Day
Adventist Church

Hillsboro, Oregon dental van Residential (R7)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-141

Hillsboro Spanish

Seventh Day Adventist
Church

Hillsboro, Oregon dental van Station Community
Residential-Medium

Density

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-142

I loly Cross Catholic
Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential Multi-

Dwelling 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-143

Holy Redeemer Catholic
Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential Multi-

Dwelling 1,
Residential Multi-

Dwelling 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-144

Holy Trinity Catholic
Church

Unincorporated

Washington County
(Beaverton, Oregon)

dental van Institutional

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-146

Jefferson Rvangelical
Church

Jefferson, Oregon dental van Mixed-Use Highway
(MU-H)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-149

Kings Circle Assembly
of God

Corvalis, Oregon dental van Low Density

Residential (RS-6)

Single Family
Residential (RS)

Residential (R-24)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-150

Kingwood Bible Church Salem, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-151

Korean Bethel

Presbyterian Church
Unincorporated
Washington County

(Beaverton, Oregon)

Lebanon, Oregon

dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-152

Lebanon Foursquare
Church

dental van F^esidential Low

Density

Commercial Mixed

Use 2; Residential

Multi-Dwelling 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-153

Lents Seventh-day
Adventist Church

Portland, Oregon dental van

8
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-154

Life Change Church Portland, Oregon dental van Commercial Mixed-

Use 3

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-155

Living Hope City Church Oregon City, Oregon dental van Low Density
Residential (R-8)

Single-Family

Residential Zone (R-
10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-158

McMinnville Covenant

Church

McMinnville, Oregon dental van

Milwaukie Christian

Church

Milwaukee, Oregon Residential - Medium

Density (R-MC)
10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-159

dental van

Mt. Olivet Baptist
Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Commercial Mixed-

Use 1

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-160

Medium Density
Multiple-Family
Residential (MR 18)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-161

New Beginnings Church
of God

Roseberg, Oregon dental van

New Hope Church Bend, Oregon dental van Low Density
Residential (RL)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-162

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential (2.5)10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-163

New Hope Missionary

Baptist Church

New Life Christian

Center

Multiple-Family

Residential (MR29)
10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-164

Roseberg, Oregon dental van

Medium Density

Residential (R-2)
10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-165

New Life Fellowship Philomath, Oregon dental van

Urban Low Density
Residential (R-10)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-166

New Life Foursquare
Church

Unincorporated

Clackamas County

(Milwaukie, Oregon)

Newberg, Oregon

dental van

Medium Density
Residential (R-2)

Newberg Friends Church dental van10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-167

Medium Density
Single-Family

Residential (R-2)

dental van10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-168

Newport Nazarene
Church

Newport, Oregon

Low Density
Residential (R-1)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-171

Northside Community
Church

Newberg, Oregon dental van

9
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

Northwest Hills

Community Church
Oak Street Church

10-23^23 Agenda
Packet at 572-172

Corvalis, Oregon dental van Low Density

Residential (R-6)

Residential (R-1)10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-173

Siiverton, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-174

Olivet Baptist Church Venela, Oregon dental van Residential-

Commercial

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-175

One H.O.P.E. Fellowship Portland, Oregon denial van Residential (2.5);
Residential Multi-

Dwelling I

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-176

Oregon City Church of
the Nazarene

Oregon City, Oregon dental van Low-density
residential (R-6)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-177

Pacific Highway
Community Church

Peace Lutheran Church

Marion dental van Cannot confirm

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-178

Philomath, Oregon dental van Low-Density
Residential (R-l)

Single Family
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-179

Peace Lutheran Church -

Salem

Oregon City, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-180

Cannot confirmPort Orford Christian

Center

Curry dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-181

Portland Central

Nazarene Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential Multi-

Dwelling 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-182

Portland Open Bible
Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential Multi-

Dwelling 2

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-183

dental van Residential Multi-Portsmouth Union

Church

Portland, Oregon
Dwelling 2

Cannot confirm10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-184

Crook dental vanPowell Butte Christian

Church

dental van Multi-Residential10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-186

Redeemer Lutheran

Church

Unincorporated Marion

County (Salem.
Oregon)

Portland, Oregon

(RM)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-187

Redeemer Lutheran

Church

dental van Residential (2.5);
Residential Multi-

Dwelling 2	

10
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General Commercialdental vanRedeemers Fellowship Roseberg, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-188 (C3)

Residential D (RES-dental vanRise Church (Formerly

Calvin Presbyterian

Church)
River Center Church

Tigard, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-189 D)

Mixed Usedental van10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-190

Lebanon, Oregon

Rural residential

farm!forest 5 acres

dental vanRolling Hills Community
Church

Unincorporated

Clackamas County

(Tualatin, Oregon)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-192

(RRFF-5)

Single-family &
Duplex Residential

dental vanSacred Heart Catholic

Church

Tillamook, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-193

(Ml
Mixed-Use II (MU-2)dental vanSalem Alliance Church Salem, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda

Packet at 572-194

Multiple Family
Residential 2

dental vanSalem, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-195

Salem Evangelical
Church

Central Business

District

dental vanSalem First Baptist
Church

Salem, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-196

Single Family
Residential

dental vanSalem First Church of the

Nazarene

Salem, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-197

Commerical (C)dental vanSan Martin de Porres Dayton, Oregon10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-198

General Commercialdental van10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-199

Scappoose, OregonScappoose Foursquare
Church (GO

Community

Commercial (C2)
Unincorporated

Douglas County (Glide,
Oregon)

dental vanSeventh Day Adventist
Church

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-200

Multiple-family
Residential (RM)

dental vanUnincorporated Marion
County (Salem,

Oregon)	

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-201

Solid Rock Community
Church

11
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10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-202

Sonrise Church Hillsboro, Oregon dental van Station Community
Residential-Medium

Density
Cannot confirm10-23-23 Agenda

Packet at 572-203

Southgate Chapel Clackamas dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-204

Southside Community
Church

Corvalis, Oregon dental van Low Density
Residential (R-6)

Commercial Mixed

Use 2; Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-205

St Andrew Catholic

Church

Portland, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-206

St Anne Catholic Church Gresham, Oregon dental van Transit Low Density
Residential

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-207

St. Anthony Catholic
Church-Tigard

Tigard. Oregon dental van Residential D (RES-

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-208

St Anthony of Padua
Catholic Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Residential Multi-

Dwelling 1

Residential Mixed B10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-209

St Cecilia Church Beaverton, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-210

St Frederic Catholic

Church

St. Helen's, Oregon dental van Houlton Business

District (HBD)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-211

St Henry Catholic
Church

Gresham, Oregon dental van Downtown

Commercial Core

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-212

St. James Catholic

Church

McMinnville, Oregon dental van General Commercial

Zone (C-3)

High-density
residential (R-HD)

Station Community
Residential-Medium

Density

Institutional

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-213

St John The Baptist
Catholic Church

Milwaukee, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-215

St Matthew Catholic

Church

Hillsboro, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-216

St. Matthew Lutheran

Church

Unincorporated

Washington County
(Beaverton, Oregon)

dental van

12
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10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-217

St Michael & All Angels
Episcopal Church

Portland, Oregon dental van Commercial Mixed-

Use 2

St Michael's Episcopal
Church

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-218

Newberg, Oregon dental van Low Density
Residential (R-l)

Residential (R5)St Paul Lutheran Church

- Portland

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-219

Portland, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-220

St. Peter Catholic Church Newberg, Oregon dental van Low Density
Residential (R-l)

Commercial Mixed

Use 2; Residential

Multi-Dwelling 2
Institutional

- Newberg

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-221

St Peter Catholic Church Portland, Oregon dental van

- Portland

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-222

St Pius X Catholic

Church

Unincorporated
Washington County

(Portland, Oregon)

dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-224

Suburban Christian

Church

Unincorporated Benton
County (Corvalis,

Oregon)

dental van Urban Residential

(UR-5)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-225

Sunset Presbyterian
Church

Unincorporated

Washington County
(Portland, Oregon)

dental van Office Commercial;

Residential (R-15)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-226

Tigard Christian Church Washington County dental van Unable to confirm

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-227

Trinity Lutheran Church Portland, Oregon dental van Residential (R5)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-228

Trinity United Methodist
Church

Unincorporated Marion
County (Salem,
Oregon)

Hillsboro, Oregon

dental van Single Residential
(RS)

United Methodist Church

of Hillsboro

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-229

dental van Station Community
Residential -

Downtown

Neighborhood
Conservation

13
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Table 1: Zoning Designations of Churches That Provide Similar Social Services to St. Timothy’s

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-230

Valley Life Center Dallas, Oregon dental van Residential Low

Density (RL)

Institutional10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-232

Village Church Unincorporated
Washington County
(Beaverton, Oregon)

dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-233

Willamina Free

Methodist Church

Yamhill dental van Cannot confirm

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-234

Wood Village Baptist
Church

Wood Village, Oregon dental van Multi Residential

2,000 (MR2)

Medium Density
Residential (RM)

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-235

Woodburn Foursquare
Church

Woodburn, Oregon dental van

10-23-23 Agenda
Packet at 572-236

Woodburn United

Methodist Church

Woodburn, Oregon dental van Single Family
Residential (RS)
Exclusive Farm Use10-23-23 Agenda

Packet at 572-238

Zion Mennonite Church Unincorporated
Clackamas County

(Hubbard, Oregon)

dental van

14
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October 27, 2023

Re: APP-01-23 (St. Timothy Episcopal Church)

Dear Brookings City Council,

My wife, our baby, and I used to live in Brookings, Oregon. As of this week, we now

live in Gold Beach, Oregon.

When we lived in Brookings we sometimes parked at Azalea Park so that we could

play disc golf before or after going to the church (St. Timothy's).

We know of other people who volunteer to serve with the church or who go to the

church for help, who also choose to park at the park so they can walk their dog, or

enjoy a stroll to get fresh air and stretch their legs on the trails. There are also a lot

of "Poke'mon gems" and "Poke'stops",at the park, and many people play the

Poke'mon game on the augmented reality app on their phones, so park near the

park to play that game. Azalea Park is popular for people playing Poke'mon.

We are members of this church attend Sunday services at St. Timothy's (and

continue to even though we moved to Gold Beach). Our baby was baptized at St.

Timothy's. When we come to church, we sometimes park at Azalea Park to play disc

golf with friends as a Sunday recreation. We like to take our baby to go for a walk.

We volunteer to serve at the church to help with the Del Norte fire evacuees this

summer, who needed food, clothing, and showers. My wife cleaned between every

single shower in the bathrooms for the evacuees. I have an Oregon food handler's

license and was able to help get evacuees food.

We were helped at St. Timothy's with getting driving licenses, getting the baby

enrolled in Oregon Health Plan, signing up for nutritional assistance, to shower, and

to be able to charge our phones and keep in touch with our pediatrician about the

baby's progress. Our baby had her first bath in a sink at St. Timothy's, and she has

lots of loving church "aunties" and "grandmas" who adore her.

With the help that we received getting back on our feet from St. Timothy's, I am

now employed and my family and I have our own place to call home.

Sincerely,
4;

L ●

Justin Browder

Address: 28555 Hunter Creek Loop, #4C, Gold Beach, OR 97444

Phone: (541) 689-0491
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< Newman United Methodist
Grants Pass, Oregon

Rev. Ryan Scott

Senior Pastor, Newman UMC

541-479-5368

rvaniscott213@amail.com

Brookings City Council
898 Elk Drive

Brookings, OR 97415

Dear Brookings City Council,

I am writing in support of St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church. The services that they provide to vulnerable
Oregonians experiencing homelessness and poverty are core functions of the Christian faith. St.
Tomothy’s is a prime example of Christians living out the biblical commandment to love your neighbor as
yourself.

At Newman United Methodist Church (132 NE B Street Grants Pass), we do our best to serve our

neighbors In need by providing the following services:

● A Food Pantry serving hundreds of people each month. Tuesdays 1 lam-lpm; Wednesdays 3-5pm,
utilizing over a dozen volunteers on rotating shifts.

● A community Resource Center providing neighbors with clean clothing, snacks, emergency
supplies, hygiene kits, tents, sleeping bags, and even resource navigation assistance. This center
also assists people in obtaining ID and looking for work. Thursdays 3-6pm utilizing 3-5
volunteers and 1-2 staff.

● Substance abuse assistance through our partnership with Eugene based HIV Alliance which
includes needle exchange, peer mentoring, HIV and HepC testing, wound care, and assistance
accessing treatment and recovery. Thursdays 12pm-5pm, 5-10 staff on site.

● 12-Step groups open to the public. Sundays 6pm, Fridays 12pm.

● Single-Parent family ministry that provides single-parent families with financial assistance, home
needs, and other help. Offered as needed during office hours.

● Blood drives through our partnership with the Red Cross. Thursdays 9am-5pm utilizing 5-7 staff
and volunteers.

● Pastoral Counseling offered as needed during office hours Monday through Thursday 9am-2pm.
● Community Aid Fund providing emergency assistance with utilities, gas, and other needs.
● During office hours we are open to the public allowing neighbors to charge phones, dry off from

the rain, and use the restrooms

● Throughout the week members of our church are active in community organizing and social
advocacy on behalf of the church.

Newman United Methodist Church

The Reverend Ryan Scott, Senior Pastor
106 NW F Street #95/ Grants Pass, OR 97526

541-479-5369 newmanUMC.net
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Doing our best to care for our neighbors in need is a fundamental part of the Christian faith. Sunday’s are

for worship but we are busy the rest of the week putting our faith into practice. The core function of our
church building is not Sunday services. At Newman, we see more people throughout the week than we do
on Sunday’s. These activities throughout the week are more impactful and more important to our faith
than sitting in a pew on Sunday.

To deny a church’s ability to function in this way Is to deny them their religious liberty. I sincerely hope
that the City of Brookings would see the immense value and service that St. Timothy’s offers the citizens
of Brookings and come along side them in this important, life-saving work.

Sincerely,

Senior Pastor, NewmanUMC

Newman United Methodist Church

The Reverend Ryan Scott, Senior Pastor
106 NWFStreet #951 Grants Pass, OR 97526

541-479-5369 newmanUMC.net
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C H U R C HL U T H E R A N

October 14, 2023

Subject: City Council Oct. 23, 2023, File No. APP-1-23 (St. Timothy’s)

Dear City Council:

As an experienced pastor in Central Oregon, I write to provide support and context as
you deliberate restricting the Christian ministry of St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church in
Brookings.

I have personally crossed the state to visit St. Timothy’s twice in the last two years, each
time enjoying lunch with ministry leaders as they serve the local houseless population. I
have also attended worship on Sundays. I am delighted to see a sister eongregation
reflecting the heart and practices of Jesus so faithfully and so clearly in harmony with
the very center of traditional Christian teachings.

I presently serve Nativity Lutheran Church, in Bend Oregon. I have been pastor there
for a decade. Nativity practices Christian faith in very similar ways to St. Timothy.

Here are eight examples:

1. Worship occurs on Sundays. Worship is our preamble. In worship, we meet Jesus
who insists that when we clothe the naked, feed the hungry, visit the incarcerated,
give water to the thirsty, care for the houseless, we “do it for him.” We notice that
Jesus, (whom Christians follow) fed, healed, forgave and offered new life - both in
church and in the wider community -to lepers, prostitutes, the disabled and destitute,
to sinners and the whole crowds who were drawn to him.

We notice that Church authorities and state authorities collaborated to reject Jesus,

and they crucified him. Their plan ultimately failed.

Therefore, we Lutheran Christians care for the poor, the widow, the houseless, the
hungry, the immigrant, and the orphan as central expressions of our Christian faith
- because these are biblical mandates, and function sacramentally for our faith

practice.

2. Nativity Food Pantry serves 45 families per week with 70 lbs per visit of excellent
groceries, (est. value is around $300 per visit) served from our church Fellowship
Hall. Families also use the church restrooms, receive guidance on citizenship, health
and social needs. Food Pantry is a Tuesday ministry from noon-3, every week. Some
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of these families are homeless. Nativity’s Food Pantry has operated for almost 20
years in partnership with the Neighbor Impact/Oregon Food Bank.

3. Nativity Wood Lot distributes free firewood to as many as 40 needy households per

week, operating every Saturday mommgfrom Nativity’s parking lot. Our volunteers
process and distribute 350 cords of wood per heating season on site at Nativity.

Families also use our restrooms, enjoy a coffee break with snacks, and receive
guidance to other local service opportunities. Some of these families are homeless.
Nativity’s Wood Lot has operated for 15 years.

4. Nativity’s Head Start Preschool serves 35 eligible low income households with free
preschool for their children. These children receive free meals, free education, and the

families are educated and guided to additional services. Some ofthese households are
homeless. Nativity’s Head Start preschool has operated for over 15 years.

5. Nativity Safe Parking program hosts as many as five homeless households to live in
our parking lot as a “waypoint” enroute to permanent housing. Safe Parking is a
partnership (initiated by the City of Bend) with the City of Bend and Reach Out
Central Oregon — a non profit, local case management agency.

Five travel trailers currently occupy the North end of our parking lot. A “porta-
potty” onsite and power & water supplied by the church attend to human biology and
sanitary needs. Tn the last four years, 2/3 of the 25 households who have “safely
parked” at Nativity have subsequently returned into permanent housing. All of these
households previously rented or owned homes in Deschutes County prior to
becoming homeless. Some of these individuals also attend church, one of whom
sings in our choir. Nativity’s “Safe Parking” has operated since 2020.

6. Water and electricity — Nativity makes power and water available to our neighbors
who live outside. People routinely charge their phones from our power, using our
restrooms and receiving coffee during office hours as they wait. Every afternoon
houseless families fill large water jugs from our hose bib - which quench thirst in the
swelling homeless camps in the national forest only a few miles from Nativity.

7. Shower Truck - Nativity faith leaders take shifts operating the “Shower Truck” in

partnership with “Shepherd’s House” ministries, offering showers to houseless

neighbors every month on site at a sister congregation, Trinity Episcopal Church,
also in Bend. We generally give 20-30 showers per week, as people also gather for a

free, hot meal at Trinity’s “Family Kitchen,” where thousands of meals are served
every month on site as an expression of local Christian ministry.
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8. Bethlehem Inn - Nativity faith leaders serve dinner monthly at the 200 bed

Homeless shelter that began in Nativity's Fellowship Hall in 1999, prior to
blossoming into a stand-alone non-profit. Bethlehem inn is the first houseless shelter

in Deschutes County. It began in our church as an expression of Christian
discipleship.

Civic leaders, I write to share these eight Christian ministries of Nativity (this list is
not in any way exhaustive) to illustrate Nativity Lutheran Church’s solidarity with

St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church. I must add that my Methodist, Presbyterian and
Episcopal clergy colleagues in Bend share their univocal support of my words in this
letter.

The ministry work done on site at St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church in Brookings is

simply this: basic, orthodox, everyday, historic Christian life. Where a legitimate
Christian church is found, care for the aches of the world will be clear, locally manifest,

public and prioritized.

I hope and pray that you will see clearly, and bless St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church to
continue their faithful Christian work as God’s Church, pulsing with the heart of Jesus.

Sincerely,

l^6L
Pastor Chris Kramer

Nativity Lutheran Church
60850 Brosterhous RD

Bend, OR 97702.

www.nativityinbend.com

39



10/30/23, 8:56 AM Gmail - Fwd: Letter to Brookings City Council

^ Gmail Sr. Cora Rose <sistercorarose@gmail.com>

Fwd: Letter to Brookings City Council

Cora Ro e

To; sistercorarose@gmaircom
Sun. Oct 29, 2023 at 8 43 AM

Begin forwarded message:

From: Paul Strike <pau!.m.strike@gmail.com>
Date: October 28, 2023 at 15:41:29 PDT
To Cora Lea Ro e

Subject: Letter to BrooKing^Crt^Council

Hi Sister Cora,

I hope you are well!

I apologize for not getting around to this sooner, but Ihave attached a letter in support of St. Timothy’s.
Plea e let me know if you need me to adju t anything

By the way, our zoning at New Life is low-density residential, for what that’s worth.

Peace,
Paul Strike

^ Letter to Brookings City Council.docx
^ 14K

https://mail.google.eom/mail/u/0/? k=b53ad96264&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f:1781105123581548553&simpl=msg-f;1781105123581 5485... 1/1
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My name is Reverend Paul McLean Strike, and I am the pastor of New Life Lutheran Church in

Florence, Oregon. Iwrite this letter in support of St. Timothy's.

As a pastor, Icome face-to-face daily with the needs of the larger Florence community. I provide

counseling and connections to services for many people who are not members of New Life. The

congregation of New Life also intentionally meets needs of the community in two main ways.

First, the church hosts 12-step programs six days—eight meetings total—per week. Second, the

church leases part of its property to Florence Food Share, the local non-profit food bank, for $1

per year. As a result, every month, over two thousand of Florence's most vulnerable people find

help through the services provided on our property. These efforts are fundamental to the way

my church lives out its mission statement; "Serving Christ by Serving Others."

I support the work of any church that sees their mission involving outreach to those who need

help-spiritual, emotional, physical, or otherwise. For any city government to dictate how

churches live out that mission seems to me a dangerous overreach, doing harm to a church's

very identity and reason for being. I hope that the City of Brookings will see St. Timothy's as a

great boon to its community as not just a spiritual home but a place of refuge, help, and hope

for many.

Respectfully submitted,

Rev. Paul McLean Strike

New Life Lutheran Church

2100 Spruce Street

Florence, OR 97439

Cell: 319-830-4530
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St. Andrew Lutheran Church

City Council Oct 23, 2023, File No. APP-1-23 (St. Timothy’s)

Deacon India Jensen Kerr

St. Andrew Lutheran Church

12405 SW Burner Rd.

Beaverton, OR 97005

To the City Council:

St. Andrew Lutheran Church has open doors to the community. We have a Head

Start preschool here where our children and Head Start children share space. Our building

from 9am to 4pm Tuesday through Thursday and Sam to noon on Sundays and

anyone is welcome to come in. We have discretionary funds to provide folks who need

resources and people call or walk into the church who need help maybe 4 or 5 times a

month. One Sunday morning, a man entered our building, and 1 assisted helping him

within the community by searching on my computer and making phone

IS open

access resources

calls.

We are also involved with Family Promise, an organization helping houseless

families to get back on their feet. Before Covid forced Family Promise to change how it

supports houseless folks, we welcomed families into our building 4 times a year for 7

days each time. They ate dinner and breakfast at our church, we provided some sort of

entertainment for the children such as board games, and the families slept at our church

overnight. They left during the day. but returned around 5pm in the evening for dinner,

socializing, sleep, and breakfast. Church members volunteered to cook, hang out with the

families, and make sure that families had what they needed.

12405 S.W. Butner Road, Beaverton, Oregon 97005-9864
Telephone; 503.646.0629 - Fax; 503.627.0237

email; office@standr6wlutheran.com - Website; www.standrewlutheran.com
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St. Andrew Lutheran Church

In addition, our social service ministries gather food for St. Matthew Lutheran

Church's food pantry which is about 3 miles from us. Folks from our congregation also

volunteer in that food pantry and folks needing food come to get food at St. Matthew s.

This is the work of the church and what God expects us to do. Any local, state, or

federal government has no business putting barriers on how the church does God’s work.

Sincerely,

CL' A/

Deacon India Jensen Kei

12405 S.W. Butner Road. Beaverton, Oregon 97005-9864
Telephone; 503.646.0629 - Fax; 503.627.0237

email; office@standrewlutheran.com - Website; wvw.standrewlutheran.com
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Chris and Mikaya Mayo

414 Fir ST

Brookings. OR 97415

30th October 2023

To whom this may concern. We are the current residents of 414 Fir St in

Brookings, Oregon. We have lived here for a little over 2 years and want to

explain a little bit of our day to day lives living next to St. Timothys church. We

want to start off by saying we do not expect members of the church to

understand where we are coming from because they are only here a couple

hours a day for a couple days a week. That being said let us start with the first

few days of us moving into our house, we had a bunch of family come over to

come check out the new house while standing outside near our vehicles a

couple people walked over from the church and instantly started looking into

the back of our vehicles to see if there was anything in them. When we then

asked what they were doing one of the ladies started screaming at us and said

“show me your dick” at my husband while he was asking her to leave our

property and then shejust continued to stand in an aggressive posture in front

of our house yelling, forcing us to all lock our cars and go Inside to remove

ourselves from the situation. Since then occurrences like this have continued

on a regular basis, another example of this would be one day I was unloading

groceries out of my car into the house when a man at the church parking lot

started yelling at me. He was just yelling curse words and saying random

things to me so loud that my husband inside could hear and came out to finish

getting the stuff and told me to Just go inside. The man then just continued

yelling at my husband until he was done and went back inside , the only thing

my husband ever said to this man was “Excuse me" when he came out of the

house to figure out what was going on. Another example of this is one night

we decided to have a fire in our backyard with some friends over and as my

husband was sitting outside some man walked into our drivewayto where he

could see into our backyard and just started yelling at my husband for no

reason, my husband then had to go out of our fence to get this man to leave

our property. Our mailboxes are located very close to the building and there

have been numerous times people cause a scene unprovokedJust due to us

checking our mail. There are multiple people with dogs as well and a majority

of the time they are not on leashes and will Just wander onto our property and

we will have to rush back inside due to the fact we do not know if they are

friendly or not. Due to examples like this it has caused us to feel unsafe

outside of our home and we do not do much out front unless my husband is

present. One thing that is concerning is that the church is so close to the

public schools and directly next to the park, and the people that ST. Timothy's
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attracts have been setting up camp in the parks and have been publicly using

drugs and defecating, not long ago there v/as a crack pipe found in the park

while someone just went out for a stroll with their child. This is creating an

unsafe area and there truly is not much for children in this area to begin with.

One last thing I wish to say is I do not know if you guys have access to the

police logs but if you do look up all the 911 calls that have gone to St. Timothy's

I myself have made many calls to this location and I know at least one ended

with an arrest. All and all I feel like ST. Timothys has been the cause of our

family feeling unsafe in our home and has caused us to want to sell our house

Just after 2 years of living here. We thank you for your time and truly hope that

you do the research on these issues and can figure out what is in the best

interest of our town.

Sincerely,

Chris and Mikaya Mayo
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City Council Review on Planning Commission APP-1-23 
2nd Seven Day Responses to 1st Seven Days 

Deadline:  November 6, 2023 

Attachment/ 
Page # From: Description: 

#J Bernie Lindley, Vicar November 6, 2023 Email Response 
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Brookj^t^^Osterhage

Bernie Lindley [bernie97415@gmail.com] on behalf of Bernie Lindley
Monday, Novembers, 2023 3;33 PM
Iziemer@brookings.or.us
cmadminassistant@brookings.or.us
Response to videos and photos

From:

Sent:

To:

Cc:

Subject:

Lauri

My name is Father Bernie and I was the Vicar when the photos and videos submitted by Brandon and Blake were taken.

Some of the photos and videos show individuals camping in St. Tim's parking lot. St. Tim's had a temporary permit that

allowed three vehicles to camp In Its parking lot overnight that started early during the days of the pandemic lockdown

until June 30, 2021. During that time, the individuals pictured were lawfully camping In St. Tim's parking lot. After this

temporary permit expired, St. Tim's stopped allowing Individuals to stay in the parking lot over night and has trespassed

individuals who do. Other videos and pictures are from people that have been trespassed or have moved on.

Bernie Lindley, vicar

St Tim's, Brookings

Sent from my iPhone

1
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City Council Review on Planning Commission APP-1-23 
3rd Seven Day Response – Applicants Final Legal Argument 

Deadline:  November 13, 2023 

Attachment/ 
Page # From: Description: 

#K Stoel Rives November 13, 2023 Final Legal Argument 
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Stoel Rives LLP

Allison J. Reynolds
760 SW Ninth Avenue, Suite 3000

Portland, OR 97205
D. 503.294.9625

allison.reynolds@stoel.com

November 13, 2023

VIA EMAIL

City Council
Attn: Lauri Zeimer

City of Brookings
898 Elk Drive,

Brookings, OR 97415

Final Legal Argument before the City Council in Support of St. Timothy’s Church
Appeal of the April 14,2023, Notice to Abate

Re:

Dear City Council Members:

This office represents St. Timothy’s Episcopal Church (“St. Tim’s”) in the above referenced
matter. St. Tim’s operates a church use (“Church”) at the subject property at 401 Fir Street
(“Property”) which is the subject of the enforcement action (“Notice”) and appeal before you
with regards to certain “social services” uses the City of Brookings (“City”) alleges St. Tim’s is
conducting at the Property. We refer to the “social services” aspects of St. Tim’s as the Church’s
“Service Ministries.”

The City Council decided to review the Planning Commission’s decision on St. Tim’s appeal of
the Notice through its own motion. The Planning Commission’s decision directs St. Tim’s to
seek to amend its de facto conditional use permit to permit the Service Ministries described in
the Notice. However, the City’s attorney stated to St. Tim’s that in City Staffs opinion, a
conditional use permit could never authorize St. Tim’s Service Ministries because these activities
could never be permitted as part of a church use under the Brookings Municipal Code (BMC)
according to the narrow definition of “church” advanced by City Staff. Although this is not part
of the Planning Commission’s order, we also address this critical issue in our arguments here
since adopting City Staffs interpretation (which City Staff continues to argue for in
communications to the Council) would severely limit the religious practice of St. Tim’s and all

churches in Brookings.

At the October 23, 2023 public hearing before the City Council (“Council”) on this matter, St.
Tim’s requested and received the opportunity to submit a final legal argument which we include
below.

St. Tim’s Service Ministries

St. Tim’s holds office hours within the Church building three days per week where it opens its
doors to the public for worship, fellowship with others, advice and counseling, and offers help to

121409196,3 0076396-00004
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City Council
November 13, 2023

Page 2

those in need. As cited by the Notice and further clarified by evidence in the record, these
activities include an “outreach clinic, a day program and an advocacy program.” St. Tim’s
performs these activities as part of its Christian religious faith which calls St. Tim’s and all
Christian congregations to serve the needy. The Service Ministries are a core part of St. Tim’s
“church” activities at the Property. The Service Ministries take place during a limited period of
time (3 hours per day, for 3 days per week). The activities are also the same or similar to
activities St. Tim’s has been conducting at the Property since before the City’s zoning
regulations burdened the Property. St. Tim’s therefore has a legal right to continue its Service
Ministries.

Evidence

The Notice and St. Tim’s appeal are solely about the definition of “church” under the BMC, and

whether St. Tim’s has the right to continue its Service Ministries under either that definition or
its de facto conditional use permit. The Notice does not identify any actual harms or impacts
from St. Tim’s operations at the Property on the surrounding community. Nor does St. Tim’s

appeal raise the issue of its impacts on the surrounding property.* St. Tim's appeal, made
pursuant to BMC 17.156.010, requests an interpretation of an ambiguous term in BMC which is

the basis for the Notice. Impacts on the surrounding community are important to community
members and St. Tim’s, but are not relevant to this appeal proceeding which is about the proper

interpretation of the BMC. Evidence of impacts, like the photos and videos taken by Blake

Peters and Brandon Ursy, and the testimony and letter submitted by Chris & Mikaya Mayo are
not relevant to these proceedings and are instead the type of evidence that the City might
consider when granting a conditional use permit.

St. Tim’s and supporters of St. Tim’s appeal have provided ample relevant substantial evidence
regarding the typical use of a “church” and the nature of service ministries that are customarily
associated with a church like St. Tim’s. St. Tim’s also provides evidence of its ongoing Service
Ministries to the poor over time.

Argument

A. St. Tim’s Service Ministries arc an allowed aspect of “church use.

The Notice issued by City Staff appears to make two interpretations in order to conclude that Si.

Tim’s Service Ministry is not permitted at the Property: First, it determines that St. Tim’s has an
established, de facto conditional use to conduct a “church” use under BMC 17.20.040, which

allows “Churches, subject to BMC 17.124.100” as a conditional use. We agree that St. Tim’s

has a right to operate a “church” at the Property. Second, the Notice determines that St. Tim’s

Service Ministry activities (which it refers to as “social services,” an undefined term that does

not appear in the BMC) are not among the specifically listed allowed uses in the R-1 zone, and

therefore these activities are not permitted on any site in the R-1 zone, including the Property.

10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 51-52.

121409196.3 0076396-00004
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City Council
November 13, 2023

Page 3

Within that determination is inherently a conclusion that whatever “church” use St. Tim’s is
allowed to conduct at the Property under, local, state or federal law does not include the Service
Ministries.

Additionally, after the Planning Commission’s decision on St. Tim’s appeal was issued, we
learned from the City’s attorney that City Staff interprets the BMC to prohibit St. Tim’s from
even seeking a conditional use permit to authorize the Service Ministries because Staff believes
these activities are not specifically enumerated in the BMC as an aspect of a church use that
could ever be permitted in the R-1 zone. We understand that the Council intends to clarify the
City’s interpretation of the BMC regarding the aspects of a “church” use that could be permitted
as part of this proceeding.

We disagree with City Staffs interpretation of the BMC because it is inconsistent with the
established requirements for interpreting ambiguous code language and is contrary to state and
federal law.

For matters of entirely local control, cities receive deference to interpret their local code
language; however, this deference is not absolute and the text, context, and past interpretations of
the regulation must be taken into account.^ If provisions of the local code implement state law or
a state law imposes additional constraints as is the case here, a city must interpret its code
consistent with state law. Cities must also interpret their codes in a way that does not violate
federal law.^

Local Code Interpretation

Here, even if we assume that the City’s determination of what a “church” use entails is a purely

local matter (which it is not), the text and context of the BMC show that a narrow definition of
“church” that would exclude St. Tim’s Service Ministries is not a plausible interpretation of the
BMC. Historical precedent also shows that the City has not interpreted “church” to exclude a
range of “social service” activities both with respect to currently operating programs at other
Brookings churches and the City’s failure to take any enforcement action against St. Tim’s when
granting St. Tim’s a use permit in 1999 when St. Tim’s was conducting identical activities.

Text

The BMC conditionally allows “[cjhurches, subject to BMC 17.124.100” in all four of the City’s

residential zones (SR and R-1 through R-3). The term “church” is not defined and BMC does
not provide any information about the types of activities that a “church” use includes.

2 ORS 197.829(1); NONA v. CUy of Portland. 80 Or LUBA 269, 276 (2019). LUBA has interpreted these
provisions to only require the local government to make a plausible interpretation. Siporen v. City of Medford, 349
Or 247,261-62 (2010).

^ ORS 197.829(1); M& T Partners. Inc. v. City of Salem, 80 Or LUBA 221,228-29 (2019).
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The BMC states that undefined terms “shall be interpreted as they are commonly defined in
everyday usage.” BMC 17.08.001. To define “church” City Staff cites two dictionary
definitions that reference Christian worship. We do not dispute these definitions and agree that a

Church is a place of Christian worship. Staff then goes on to conclude that “worship” as used in
the dictionary definition of church is “distinct from any other religious activities.” Staff

concludes, without discussion or citation to any evidence to support the position, that the only
“worship” activities at St. Tim’s are its structured sermons on Sundays and Wednesdays. Staffs

interpretation appears to be that “worship,” narrowly defined as sermons/structured church
services, is the only “church” activity that is or can be authorized under the BMC. Staff has

slated in other communications in the record that “prayer” is also considered part of worship and
thus a permissible church use.

Merriam-Webster defines worship as “an act that honors or shows reverence for a divine being”
which is a much broader definition that is consistent with many aspects of church use. Several
other dictionaries use similar definitions. City Staff does not explain why, when determining the
meaning of “worship” which is a critical part of the definition of "church" City Staff did not

further consult a dictionary and instead substituted City Staff s judgement about the meaning of
this term.

There also is no evidence in the record that supports City Staffs narrow interpretation of

“worship,” and resulting narrow definition of “church.” All the evidence in the record directly

refutes this narrow definition. The record is replete with testimonial evidence from other
churches in the region and nationally regarding their operations of a “church” use confirming

that they also provide service ministries similar to the “social services” identified in the Notice.
Many of these churches are not only in residential zones, but in single-family residential zones.**
In Brookings, almost every church is in the R-1-6 zone and many provide similar “social
services.” For example, Brookings Nazarene and Trinity Lutheran Church (R-1-6) host a food

bank and/or provides clothes and other supplies to needy individuals who visit the church.^
Brookings Presbyterian (R-3) opens its doors for Mothers of Pre-Schoolers (“MOPS”)

meetings.^ Several churches across the state provide supplies to needy individuals, advice on a
variety of matters, rest, and a cup of coffee.^

^ See, 10.30.2023 Supp. Evidence, at 5-18.
5 10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 345, 358-60, 402, 544-554.
^ 10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 358-360.
^ For example, Newman United Methodist Church in Grants Pass, Oregon has a Food Pantry and community
resource center that provides “neighbors with clean clothing, snacks, emergency supplies, hygiene kits.” 10.30.2023
Packet at 20. Nativity Lutheran Church in Bend Oregon (Residential) provides a place to read, charge phones, relax
and socialize. 10.30.2023 Packet at 22-24. New Life Lutheran Church in Florence Oregon and St. Andrew

Lutheran Church in Beaverton Oregon assists with applications for jobs, housing, and insurance. 10.30.2023 Packet
at 26. Churches across Oregon provide pro bono legal services and basic dental services. 10.23.2023 Agenda
Packet at 339-343, 405-418, 572-574.
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Several churches have also submitted letters highlighting how these services are “worship.” One
church leader called the services provided by St. Tim’s “core functions of the Christian faith.

Nativity Lutheran Church in Bend, Oregon stated, “[t]he ministry work done at site at St.

Timothy’s Episcopal Church in Brookings is simply this: basic, orthodox, every day, historic
Christian life.”^ To interpret worship as narrowly as City Staff does is “fundamentally

antithetical to the values and practices” of churches.'® Given the common understanding of the
“church” use in the community and beyond, it is not plausible for the City to interpret the

“church” use category to exclude service ministries, like those occurring at St. Tim’s.

i’8

Context

A “church” use is not specifically listed as an allowed or conditional use in any of the City’s
zones except the four residential zones. Since the identical language regarding church use is
used in all four residential zones, the meaning of “church” must be interpreted consistently
across these zones.

II

The purpose statements of the four residential zones indicate that zones are intended for
residential use of varying types and intensities, which is borne out in the list of allowed uses.
The list of conditional uses in all of the residential zones is considerable and includes uses with

public and service components - in all four residential zones, churches, hospitals, schools,
government buildings and public halls are allowed as conditional uses.'^ It is clear that in all of
the residential zones, including R-1, uses with a public or community service component are
conditionally allowed and restrictions on these uses to make them more compatible with the
specific land use district purpose should be imposed through the conditional use process. At the
public hearing. Council members discussed that the appropriate bounds of a “church” use should
be defmitionally limited to activities that are compatible with single-family dwelling uses based

® 10.30.2023 - Supp Evidence PDF at 20-21; see also, 10.30.2023 - Supp Evidence PDF at 27-28 (“This is the work
of the church and what God expects us to do.”
^ 10.30.2023 - Supp Evidence PDF at 22-24; also, 10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 419 (“Our mission as
Methodistsis built on the premise that faith, withoutworks, is dead, and the above ministries reflect this mission.”)
(internal quotations omitted).

10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 420-421.
Brown v. Lane County, 51 Or LUBA 689, 696 (2006) (holding that it is unreasonable to interpret the same term in

a local government’s code to have a different meaning unless the local government provides an express
interpretation explaining why certain modifiers may change the meaning in particular context); Racing Com. v.

Multnomah Kennel Club, 242 Or 572, 584, 411 P2d 65 (1996) (holding that use ofthe same term in a statute
indicates that the term has the same meaning throughout the statute); Greuner v. Lane County, 21 Or LUBA 329,
334 (1991) (applying the statutory rule of construction that the same term used in different sections of the code
should have the same meaning to determinethat “kennel” has the same meaning wherever it is used in the exclusive
farm use statute).

The BMC’s requirement for a conditional use permit for churches appears to recognize that churches may have
impacts that warrant different levels of restriction in the different residential zones which are to be imposed through
that process. The conditional use restrictions that apply to “churches, hospitals, [and] other religious or charitable
institutions” under BMC 17.124.100 require that “[i]n any “R” district, all such uses shall be located on a street
adequate to serve the use. All off-street parking facilities shall be adequately screened from abutting property to
reduce noise and other negative impacts.”

10

12

121409196.3 0076396-00004

53



City Council
November 13, 2023

Page 6

on the purpose statement of the R-1 zone. This is clearly inconsistent with the BMC which
allows a wide range of public-oriented uses that can be further made compatible through the
conditional use permit process. The City is not permitted to ignore the text of the BMC and
circumvent the conditional use process by imposing a narrow definition of “church” in order to
restrict St. Tim's activities.

13

History of Interpretation

We could not locate any legislative history regarding the expected operations of churches in the
City’s residential zones, but the record includes many examples of the operations actually being
conducted at churches in these zones. To our knowledge, the City has never brought an
enforcement action against a church in its residential zones prior to this action. Decisionmakers
at the City appear to be aware of service activities occurring at area churches, so the lack of

enforcement amounts to tacit permission of these activities as part of a “church” use. For
example, Council member Schreiber highlighted the music program at the Seventh Day

Adventist Church. While we agree that this activity is appropriate and should be allowed at a
church in the R-3 zone, this activity is clearly outside of Staffs proffered narrow definition of
“church,” and is not a specifically enumerated use in BMC as a component of a “church” use. It
is not clear how this known activity at a Church in a residential zone could be permitted under
the same BMC language, when City Staff argues that the BMC definition of “church” is too
narrow to accommodate St. Tim’s Service Ministries.

As we’ve argued in previous materials, the City also granted a conditional use permit to St.
Tim’s in 1999 allowing the Church expansion. St. Tim’s was conducting many of the same
Service Ministries listed in the Notice at that time. StafThas argued that the City wasn’t
authorizing St. Tim’s use under this permit but under the BMC it is not permissible for the City
to merely ignore code violations when it issues permits and the City made findings under that
permit that St. Tim’s use was consistent with the BMC.'" Surely the City, in granting an
expansion through a conditional use permit, would have addressed St. Tim’s activities if the

activities were so inconsistent with the BMC that they could never be allowed as part of a church
use. It is clear that the City is now attempting to redefine “church” to restrict St. Tim’s use,

which it has treated as valid for decades, due to the complaints of residential neighbors that

moved to the area long after St. Tim’s began its Service Ministries. This is not a valid
interpretation of the BMC.

'^ORS 174.010.

“The city manager or their designee shall not issue a development permit for the... development, or use of land
that has been...developed or used in violation of this code.” BMC 17.04.060; see also, BMC 17.01.040 (“[i]t shall
be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, establish, move into, alter, enlarge or use, or

cause to be used, any building, structure, improvement or use of premises located in any zone described in this code
contrary to the provisions of this code”).
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State Law

After enactment of the federal Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Person Act (“RLUIPA”,

discussed infra), the Oregon legislature enacted a pair of statutes, ORS 227.500 applicable to
cities and ORS 215.441 applicable to counties.'^ These statutes mandate that on land where
religious institutions such as churches are allowed, local governments must allow '‘the
reasonable use of the real property for activities customarily associated with the practices of the
religious activity.”

The Oregon Legislature was responding to local land use decisions that restricted religious
freedom by prohibiting certain customarily religious activities on Church properties, including
weddings and funerals, or that limited the number of people attending church services. Some
Senators also highlighted their concern with this exact situation, where a church has existed there
for a long time, then the city comes along and changes all of the rules.

The Court of Appeals in Tarr v. Multnomah Cnty., 306 Or. App. 26 (2020), was definitive that
these protections for religious activities under state law are dispositive and control against
provisions of local codes that are more restrictive.'® As the Tarr court found, the legislature’s
intent in enacting these protections was to “displace local approval standards that were making it
difficult for proposed places of worship to obtain approval based on neighbor concerns about the
impacts on the neighborhood.”'^ The City’s Notice, through which Staff is attempting to do
exactly this with respect to St. Tim’s Service Ministry, violates state law.

The ORS includes a non-exclusive list of “activities customarily associated with the practices of

the religious activity” which include funerals, meal programs, and childcare. The ORS also
allows cities and counties to impose design and site regulations and consider the adequacy of
public facilities to serve church uses. Under the ORS, “shall” is a mandatory term, so the City
must interpret the BMC to allow activities customarily associated with religious activity as part
of a “church” use.

17

These provisions were enacted and have been amended together through the same statutes beginning with Senate
Bill 470 in 2001 and contain the same language. The two provisions are intended to have the same meaning so we

refer to case law interpreting ORS 215.441 to support our arguments regarding the intent of ORS 227.500.
OR B. Summ., 2001 Reg. Sess. S.B. 470 (June 5, 2001); Public Hearing on SB 470 Before the Comm. On Natural

Resources, Agriculture, Salmon and Water, 71st Leg. Assem., Tape 94A, Min. 191 (Apr. 18, 2001) (statement by
Senator Atkinson); Work Session on SB 470A Before the Comm on Rules, Redistricting and Public Affairs, 71st

Cong. Legislative Assem., Tape 129A, Min. 276 (June 5, 2021).
Public Hearing on SB 470 Before the Comm. On Natural Resources, Agriculture, Salmon and Water, 71st Leg.

Assem., Tape 94A, Min. 140 (Apr. 18, 2001) (statement by Senator Shields).
“The legislature's specification that a county “shall allow” the use of property for such religious activities shows

that the legislature did not intend to let counties assess whether such activities and their impacts were “consistent
with the character of the area” when called upon to approve a proposed place of worship. A county “shall allow”
land to be used for such activities. Period.” Id. at 34.

Id. at 36.

15

16

17

19
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Because ORS 227.500’s mandate is a matter of state law, when interpreting what the “reasonable
use” of the Property is and what activities are “customarily associated” with a religious activity
like the Church, the City’s interpretation must be “reasonable and correct” based on the text,
context, and history of the state statutory language.The City’s interpretation of state law does
not receive deference as it would for an interpretation of its code on purely local matters.

21

I lere, the text directs the city to allow “activities customarily associated with the practices of
religious activity.” The dictionary defines “customarily” as “by custom.”^^ A custom is a usage
or practice that is common to many or to a particular place. Another definition of custom is
that it is the “usual manner and method of living and doing.”^'* As St. Tim’s and many other
churches have pointed out, the “social services” provided by St. Tim’s are a key part of a

church’s religious practice and the type of activity that churches typically engage in.

The City must consider substantial evidence in the record when determining if ORS 227.500
mandates the City to allow St. Tim’s Service Ministries.The record is replete with evidence
that St. Tim’s Service Ministries are the type of activity that churches customarily engage in as
part of their faith practice. The record does not include any evidence to the contrary. The City’s
Notice and City Staffs proffered interpretation of the BMC is based on a narrow definition of
church” and “worship” that disallows all church activities except sermons and prayer. This

interpretation violates clear mandates of state law.

Finally, the Notice does not identify any design or service deficiencies at St. Tims that are
associated with the Service Ministries. The Service Ministries occur inside the Church for three

hours, three days per week. The City acknowledges that St. Tim’s has a de facto conditional use

20

GloryBee Foods. Inc. v. City of Eugene, 56 Or LUBA 729, 733 (2008).
See Testa V. Clackamas County, 137 Or App 21,24-25, 903 P.2d 373, rev. den. 322 Or 420, 907 P.2d 1114 (1995)

(holding that a county may not permissibly interpret its own zoning ordinanceto classify certain propertiesand uses
or the standards for allowing uses differently than the controlling state regulatory requirements); Hood River Valley
Residents v. Hood River County, 75 Or LUBA 452, *13-14 (2017) (holding that LUBA is not required to apply the
deference afforded under ORS 197.829(l)(a) & (b) and Siporen when a local government is interpreting state law).
See also. Central Oregon Landwatch v, Deschutes County, 52 Or LUBA 582, 598-99(holding that if there is more
than one reasonable interpretation of a code provision, the local government must choose the interpretation that is

consistent with the goal, statute, or rule implemented).
Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (3d ed. 2002); see also, Merriam-Webster,Customarily,

https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/customarily (last visited Nov. 13, 2023) (“by or according to custom
or established practice”); Cambridge English Dictionary, Customarily,

https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/customari ly (last visited Nov. 13, 2023) (“in a way that
follows the usual or traditional way of doing something”).

Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (3d ed. 2002); .tee also, Merriam-Webster, Custom,

https://www.merriam-webstcr.com/dictionarv/custom (last visited Nov. 13, 2023) (“a usage or practice common to

many” or “long-established practice consider as unwritten law”); Cambridge English Dictionary, Custom,
https://dictionarv.cambridge.org/us/dictionarv/english/custom (last visited Nov. 13, 2023) (“a way of behaving or a

belief that has been established for a long time” or “somethingyou usually do”).
Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (3d ed. 2002).

ORS l97.835(9)(a)(C) (authorizing relieffor decisions unsupported by substantial evidence); Sequoia Park
Condo. Assoc, v. City of Beaverton, 36 Or LUBA 317, 339 (1999) (holding that the city council's interpretation of its
industrial policy was supported by substantial evidence).

21

23

24

25
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permit to operate in the building and evaluated design and public service adequacy under St.
Tim’s 1999 conditional use permit for the Church expansion. The Notice does not rely on design
or service deficiencies to restrict St. Tim’s activities - instead, it disallows St. Tim’s religious

activities based on the content of the religious activity. This is not permitted under state law.
26

Federal Law

Federal law also provides strong protection for churches practicing their faith including the Free

Exercise Clause of the U.S. Constitution and the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Person

Act (“RLUIPA”), which prevents local governments from using their zoning restrictions to
prevent the establishment of faith communities in certain areas and restricts the type of activities
churches engage in. RLUIPA recognizes that providing “social services,” like those provided by
St. Tim’s, are an essential tenant of the Christian faith.

27

In Brookings Churches are only allowed in the four residential zones and there are no City zones
that allow “social services.” City Staffs narrow definition of “church” as sermons and pray
activities only, effectively prevents the establishment of a church that provides “social services
from establishing in Brookings.

59

As established in the record, practice of the Service Ministries is a core tenant of St. Tim’s faith
and integral to its religious practice. Prohibiting the Service Ministries or levying substantial
fines will substantially burden St. Tim’s ability to practice its Christian faith.

28

City Staffs determination, that St. Tim’s Service Ministries are not and could not be authorized
through a conditional use review at the site of a church because these service activities are not a
church” use, is contrary to RLUIPA’s requirement that local governments treat religious

26
As previously noted, the Notice also violates the Oregon Constitution. See Art. 1 §§ 2, 3, 8.
Harbor Missionary Church Corp. v. City of Buenaventura, 642 Fed.Appx. 726, 729 (9*^ Cir. 2016) (holding that

the district court erred by questioning the validity of a Church’s assertion that a homeless ministry, including
providing showers and clothing, “when done withing the walls of the Church under a religious mandate - constitute
sacred duties.”).

A substantial burden exists “where the governmental authority puts substantial pressure on an adherent to modify
his behavior and to violate his beliefs,” Int'l Church ofFoursquare Gospel v. City of San Leandro. 673 F.3d 1059,
1067 (9th Cir. 2011) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). See also, Catholic Diocese of Baknterper, v.

Crook County, 60 Or LUBA 157, 173, “[a]s interpreted by the Oregon Supreme Court, a land use regulation

imposes a substantial burden on religious exercise “only if it ‘pressures' or ‘forces' a choice between following
religious preceptsand forfeitingcertain benefits, on the one hand, and abandoning one or more of those precepts in
order to obtain the benefits, on the other.” Corp. ofPresiding Bishop v. City of West Linn, 338 Or 453, 466, 111 P3d
1123 (2005).” The City’s Notice states that the City will St. Tim’s upwards of $700 per day if St. Tims continues to
practice its Service Ministries at the Church. This fine clearly imposes a substantial burden on St. Tim’s ability to
practice a key tenant of its religion. To the extent that the City argue that St. Tim’s and other churches could be
allowed to provide “social services” in another zone within the City, RLUPIA recognizes that requiring a church to
move its ministry to the poor to another location is a substantial burden on a church’s practice of its religion. See
Harbor Missionary Church Corp. v. City of Buenaventura, 642 Fed.Appx. 726, 729 (9th Cir. 2016) (holding that
requiring the Church to relocate to conduct its homeless ministry substantially burdens the Church’s religious
exercise).

27

28
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institutions on equal terms with other non-religious institutions, and substantially burdens St.
Tim’s exercise of its religion. The R-1 zone allows many public institutional uses with a
conditional use permit. These institutions are reasonably expected to perform the same types of
services that City Staffhave stated could never be allowed as part of a church use. For example,
hospitals regularly provide health services, showers, and information about finding social
services to the poor. Country clubs and swimming clubs have public showers. Libraries are

often used by lawyers (including the City’s own counsel during a recent public hearing) to
conduct legal business such as research.^^ The City has not explained why these institutional
uses are allowed to conduct these identical activities with a conditional use permit in the R-1
zone, but a church use could not conduct these same activities.

The City has also not identified a compelling interest that it is trying to achieve by disallowing
St. Tim’s practice of its Service Ministry or defining “church” to categorically disallow activities
the City considers to be “social services.” The City has not explained how adopting a definition
of the types of activities that can be allowed as a “church” use is narrowly tailored to achieve its

compelling interest. RLUIPA requires the City to base its decision on evidence regarding the
City’s substantia! interest and narrowly tailored restriction which does not appear to exist in the
record of this proceeding.

30

St. Tim’s “social services” are a part of its established conditional use and are

allowed to continue as part of their non-conforming use.

B.

Under BMC 17.04.060. the City should not have granted an “expansion of the existing

church use” if any social services going on at the time were not permitted.

Even though the City did not mention “alms” or “social services” when it approved MC-1-99, it
implicitly approved the use existing then because the City cannot approve an application that

violates the BMC. The BMC states that “[t]he city manager or their designee shall not issue a
development permit for the...development, or use of land that has been...developed or used in
violation of this code.”^*

In 1999, St. Tim’s applied for a “minor change to a de facto conditional use permit.”^^ To grant
a modification to a de facto conditional use permit, the City had to determine that the proposal is
in compliance with the comprehensive plan and the BMC.^^ The 1999 decision found that the

29

As explained in the record, the “advocacy clinic” during office hours does not establish a “legal office” at the
Church. Sister Cora Rose provides counseling services, which may include legal advice to those visiting the church
during office hours. The use of the Property for legal services is incidental to St. Tim’s “church” use in the same

way that a lawyer’s use of a library to conduct legal research is incidental to the overall use of the library as a

research institution.

As previously noted, the Notice also violates Amendments 1 and 14 to the U.S. Constitution.

BMC 17.04.060; see also, BMC 17.01.040 (“[i]t shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect,

construct, establish, move into, alter, enlarge or use, or cause to be used, any building, structure, improvement or use
of premises located in any zone described in this code contrary to the provisions of this code”).

10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 21,23-24.
Id. at 23.

30

32

33
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“proposed expansion of the existing church...\s consistent with the other provisions of the Land
Development Code.

»34

The Planning Commission was correct that the decision does not mention “alms” or “social
However, a reference to “alms” or “social services” is not required to show that theservices.

Planning Commission had authorized the use. The Planning Commission was expressly
prohibited by BMC 17.04.060 from approving MC-1-99 if the use, including the social services
offered, at the time of application violated the code. By approving MC-1-99, the Planning
Commission determined that the “social services” existing in 1999 did not violate the BMC.

St. Tim’s has met its burden of showing that St. Tim’s had established “social services”

at the time the time the Brookings Municipal Code was adopted and that the level of use

is similar to today.

2.

To show that a use is a lawful nonconforming use, St. Tim’s must demonstrate that the use was

lawfully established on the date it became non-conforming (existence); the nature and extent of
the use when the use became non-conforming (nature and extent); and that the use has continued
in its current nature and extent uninterrupted from that date to the present day (continuity),
analysis is similar when determining whether a use as changed or expanded.

35

Existence:

It is undisputed that St. Tim’s established and was operating prior to 1989 when the Brookings
Land Development Ordinance was adopted. It is also undisputed that during this time St. Tim’s
provided at least some form of “social services.

In addition, it is also undisputed that St. Tim’s received approval of a minor change to a
conditional use permit in 1999. That decision authorized the activities occurring at the time,
including any “social services” because any unlawful activity would have precluded approval of
the minor change.

i?36

Nature and Extent:

The types of social services offered then, while more formalized today, are the same as those
offered in 1989. In 1981, St. Tim’s added two bathrooms for use by parishioners and non-

parishioners.^"^ At this time a shower was installed for use by non-church members.^* Other

34
Id. (emphasis added).
Morgan V. Jackson County,1% Or LUBA 188, 192(2018).
10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 226-27 (“The Church has not met its burden of proving that the types and scope of

the “social services” it is providing currently have been continuously provided since 1989”).
10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 209.

35

36

37

38 Id.
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social services pre-1989 included the food bank and providing financial assistance to individuals
in need who stopped by the Church.

39

In addition to the shower, food bank and almsgiving, other “social services” were provided in the
1990s.St. Tim's allowed non-parishioners, including houseless individuals to join the church
for Wednesday Bible studies.'*' St. Tim’s also offered needy non-parishioners a cup of coffee,
advice on a range of topics, use of the shower, fellowship, a place to rest, and other hospital
things to individuals who stopped by office hours.'*^ The same office hours that St. Tim’s offers

today, Monday, Wednesday, and Friday from 9 am to noon.'*^ Since these activities were

occurring prior to 1999, they were authorized as part of the minor change to St. Tim’s
conditional use permit in 1999 because any unlawful activity would have precluded approval of
the minor change.

44

Continuity:

The evidence submitted shows that St. Tim’s has provided “social services” of the same type and
in the same manner at the time the City granted in 1989 and 1999 conditional use permit as St.
Tim’s provides today. The Planning Commission Final Order asserts that the alms pre-1989
were limited to financial assistance.**^ However, that statement ignores the other “social

services” F'ather Bemie identifies, including providing an opportunity for individuals in need to
take showers, talk to the Vicar, and visit the Food Bank.**^ .

Even if the City determines that the Church did not meet its burden to show a non-conforming
use as of 1989, the activities during office hours are the same today as they were in 1999. The
church offered needy non-parishioners a cup of coffee, advice on a range of topics, a shower,
fellowship, a place to rest, and other hospital things to individuals who stopped by during the
same office hours that the church offers today.

Today those same services have new names, the Day Program and Advocacy Program.
However, even though their names are different, the services offered are the same type and
provided for the same time as they were in 1990s. Since these activities were occurring prior to
1999, they were authorized as part of the minor change to St. Tim’s conditional use permit
in 1999 because any unlawful activity would have precluded approval of the minor change.
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City Council
November 13, 2023

Page 13

In conclusion, St. Tim’s has provided substantial evidence that a “church” use under the BMC
necessarily includes “social services” akin to St. Tim’s Service Ministries. St. Tim’s has also
shown that its Service Ministries are allowed to continue as part of its de facto conditional use at

the Property. We ask the Council to overturn the Planning Commission’s order and grant St.
Tim’s appeal.

Very truly yours,

/■y
I

Allison J. Reynolds

121409196.3 0076396-00004
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Memo
To: Brookings City Council 

From: Lori Cooper, Attorney 

Date: December 7, 2023 

Re: Rebuttal to St. Timothy’s Church Final Legal Argument before the City 
Council in Support of Appeal of the April 14, 2023, Notice to Abate 

This memo contains a rebuttal to St. Timothy’s Church’s Final Legal Argument which was 
submitted to the record on November 13, 2023. 

Evidence 

St. Timothy’s argues that the City Council should not consider the impacts which have occurred 
in the neighborhood since St. Timothy’s began offering social services.  Despite urging this, St. 
Timothy’s attorney goes on to discuss that the City’s abatement action is not “narrowly tailored” 
to the protect a “compelling government interest.”  

It is impossible to analyze whether the City’s action in citing St. Timothy’s for violating the City’s 
zoning code is “narrowly tailored” without consideration of the impacts being caused by St. 
Timothy’s use of its property. 

In this case, the “compelling government interest” is the City’s duty to enforce its land 
development code, in particular the duty to limit particular uses to certain land use zones. In this 
case, the City’s interest is limiting the uses which are allowed in the single family residential 
zone.  The purpose of residential zones is to provide for the quiet enjoyment of residences, free 
from excessive noise, pollution, traffic, and other similar types of impacts. Protecting public 
safety and public health are also “compelling government interests”. 

The impacts caused by St. Timothy’s provision of social services therefore must be considered 
in order to determine whether the City’s abatement notice is the least restrictive means to 
protect the compelling government interest of preserving the attributes of a residentially zoned 
neighborhood. 

// 
// 
// 
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Argument 
 

A. “Church” use 
 

The City Council is entitled to deference when interpreting the Brookings Municipal Code (BMC). 
An interpretation that the social services that St. Timothy’s is offering at its church building are 
not allowed uses in a residential zone is a plausible interpretation of the BMC. 

 
St. Timothy’s is arguing that the social services it provides are considered religious services, 
and must be allowed as a “church” use under its conditional use permit. 

 
The BMC states that undefined terms “shall be interpreted as they are commonly defined in 
everyday usage.” BMC 17.08.001. St. Timothy’s claims that by not allowing unfettered use of its 
church to provide social services, the City is too narrowly interpreting the BMC. 
 
To support this contention, St. Timothy’s points to evidence in the record that it claims shows 
that other churches in the region and nationally provide service ministries similar to the social 
services which St. Timothy’s provides.  However, a close examination of the record shows that 
this is not an accurate contention.   
 
Many of the churches that St. Timothy’s points to in order to support its contention do not 
provide the same types of social services that St. Timothy’s provides, and many of the churches 
that do provide somewhat similar services are not located in residential zones. 
 
In addition, there is a lack of evidence in the record which shows the intensity, frequency, and 
scope of services provided by these other churches, or whether these churches have obtained 
conditional use permits, and if so, what conditions have been placed on these uses to mitigate 
impacts.  
 
For example, the majority of the entries on a spreadsheet - 141 out of 170 entries - submitted by 
St. Timothy’s as evidence that social services like theirs should be considered a “typical” church 
use merely show that a “dental van” provides services at these churches, with no information 
regarding how often and how long the dental van is at the church. See 10.30.2023 Supp. 
Evidence, at 5-18. This is not substantial evidence to support St. Timothy’s claim that social 
services like they are offering are “typical” church uses. 
 
St. Timothy’s has submitted evidence of other churches conducting activities such as food 
pantries, youth video tournaments, Alcoholics Anonymous meetings, and parent support group 
meetings.  St. Timothy’s claims that these types of activities are “typical” church activities, and 
are similar to the social services St. Timothy’s provides, therefore, St. Timothy’s provision of 
social services can also be considered “typical” church uses.  
 
An argument can be made that these other churches’ activities can be considered “typical” 
church uses, but churches tend to host these types of activities once or twice a week, or maybe 
even less often. However, these details are not included in the record, so there is simply not 
adequate evidence to support a finding that these other churches’ activities are the same as St. 
Timothy’s social services and that therefore St. Timothy’s social services are a “typical” church 
use. 
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In addition, there is no evidence in the record as to the impacts of the activities at these other 
churches, and whether conditions to mitigate any such impacts have been enacted via a 
conditional use permit or other type of permit. Therefore, there is not substantial evidence in the 
record to support St. Timothy’s arguments. 

Context 

St. Timothy’s claims that since other uses with a public or community service component, such 
as hospitals and schools, are conditionally allowed in residential zones, the City must allow St. 
Timothy’s to offer social services without any restrictions.  

However, St. Timothy’s admits that, unlike their church, these other uses have obtained 
conditional use permits which contain restrictions on these uses to make them more compatible 
with the land use zone that they are in. In the St. Timothy’s case, there is not substantial 
evidence in the record that the church has ever indicated to the City that it would be providing 
social services at the church.  To the extent that St. Timothy’s claims that the City did know that 
typical church uses would be occurring at the church, St. Timotny’s never indicated what the 
extent and scope of these social services would be.  

Due to this omission, unlike other conditional uses, the City and the public have never had an 
opportunity to be notified of what activities would be taking place at the church, and what the 
scope and extent of these activities would be.  Therefore, the City and the public were never 
given the opportunity to discuss potential impacts of the activities taking place at the church and 
to apply conditions to mitigate these  impacts.  

For these reasons, St. Timothy’s argument that the City must allow social services to be 
provided at the church because similar services are allowed at other institutions such as schools 
and hospitals is not persuasive. 

History of Interpretation 

St. Timothy’s complains that the City allows activities at other churches in the city, such as a 
music program at the Seventh Day Adventist church, yet the City is now enforcing the BMC 
against St. Timothy’s for similar types of service activities. 

First, there is no evidence in the record which shows what the conditional use permits for the 
other churches in the City do or do not allow, so this comparison cannot be accurately made.  
Secondly, there is no evidence in the record which shows the level and intensity of activities at 
other churches in the city, what the impacts of these activities are, and/or whether there have 
been complaints or police calls due to these impacts. 

Therefore, the conclusion that the City has been inconsistent in its interpretation of the BMC is 
unsupported by substantial evidence in the record. 

1999 Modification to CUP 

St. Timothy’s claims that in 1999, when it applied for and was granted a modification to its CUP, 
was conducting many of the same social services it is currently conducting. 
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The record simply contains no objective evidence that this is true.  The only evidence in the 
record supporting this contention is a July 3, 2023, letter submitted to the City by Father Lindley. 
See 10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 209 - 210. 
 
However, Father Lindley’s sworn testimony in a deposition contradicts his claims that St. 
Timothy’s has been continuously conducting the same social services, at the same scope and 
level of intensity, that they are offering today. Father Lindley stated in his deposition that the 
church has been offering its “day program” only since approximately 2018. See 10.23.2023 
Agenda Packet at 40. 
 
These social services were not mentioned in the church’s 1999 application for a modification to 
its CUP, and are not mentioned anywhere in the record of that 1999 Planning Commission 
approval. See 10.23.2023 Agenda Packet at 21- 37. Surely, if the church was providing these 
types of social services in 1999, this would have been mentioned or noted during the CUP 
modification process.  Yet, there is no indication anywhere in that 1999 record that any types of 
social services were being provided by the church. 
 
And there is no other evidence being offered today (besides Father Lindley’s July 3, 2023, 
letter), that those social services had been provided at the church before 2018. 
 
St. Timothy’s now accuses the City of attempting to redefine “church” to restrict St. Timothy’s 
use, and claims that the City has treated this use (including provision of social services) as valid 
for decades, and that therefore, the City’s interpretation of the BMC that social services are not 
allowed in residential zones is not a valid interpretation. 
 
This is an implausible conclusion, since, as discussed above, it is based on inaccurate and non-
credible claims that are not supported (and in fact, contradicted by) evidence in the record. 
 
State Law 
 
St. Timothy’s states that ORS 227.500 (applicable to cities) and ORS 215.441 (applicable to 
counties) require local governments to allow “the reasonable use of the real property for 
activities customarily associated with the practices of the religious activity”, therefore the City 
must interpret the BMC to allow activities customarily associated with religious activity as part of 
a “church” use. 
 
Again, as it does throughout its legal memo, St. Timothy’s claims that the record is “replete” 
with evidence that the social services activities being provided by the church are the types of 
activities which many churches “customarily” engage in.   
 
And again, as discussed above, the documents on which the church relies to support this 
assertion fall far short of support, and actually show that most churches do not provide social 
services activities. Those churches that do provide services which are perhaps remotely akin to 
what St. Tim’s provides are not similarly situated to St. Tim’s – they are in commercial or 
industrial zones, not residential zones, and the scope and frequency of the services they provide 
do not approach the scope and frequency of what St. Timothy’s provides. 
 

65



 
 
Page 5 
 
In addition, St. Timothy’s completely ignores that the state statutes cited contain important 
qualifying language – that local governments must allow only “reasonable” use of the property 
for activities customarily associated with religious activities. 
 
Even if the social services activities are found to be “customarily associated with religious 
activities” (which the City does not concede), the record does not contain substantial evidence 
that the scope and frequency of the social services being provided by St. Timothy’s are 
“reasonable.”   
 
As previously discussed, there is not substantial evidence in the record showing that services 
provided by other churches (again, the City does not concede that the services are similar) are 
provided to as many people, or as frequently, as St. Timothy’s does.  Therefore, there is no 
evidence in the record which sheds light on whether the services and activities provided by other 
churches can be considered “reasonable use” of those properties. 
 
St. Timothy’s cites an Oregon Court of Appeals case, Tarr v. Multnomah County, to support its 
arguments that the City must allow St. Tim’s social services activities.  However, this case can 
be distinguished from the St. Timothy’s matter in several ways. 
  
Tarr dealt with a land use application to build a mosque – the case did not deal with any 
particular uses of the mosque many years after it had been built and had obtained a conditional 
use permit, unlike the St. Timothy’s situation, where there is no dispute that the church was a 
previously existing, legal use prior to the City adopting its zoning map and land use code. In the 
Tarr case, neighbors disputed the right of the mosque to even be built on the property, due to 
perceived possible adverse impacts to the surrounding area such as traffic, noise, etc. 
 
In addition, the land use standard at issue in Tarr was a “compatibility” standard, a county land 
use rule that specified that for the mosque use to be approved, the use needed to be “consistent 
with the character of the area.”  That is not the type of standard at issue in the St. Timothy’s 
case.  In the St. Timothy’s case, the standard at issue is the types of uses allowed under the 
church’s conditional use permit.   
 
In Tarr, the court ruled that the state law governing reasonable use of real property for religious 
activity (ORS 215.441) overruled local approval standards that were making it difficult for 
proposed places of worship to obtain approval based on neighbor concerns about the impacts 
on the neighborhood.  
 
That is not the same issue presented in the St. Timothy’s case.  If St. Timothy’s was first 
applying to build a church in a residential neighborhood today, then the state law cited in St. 
Timothy’s legal argument would be directly applicable, and the City could not deny the 
application based on a “compatibility” standard.   
 
But because the social services which are at issue with St. Timothy’s were added many years 
after the original church uses were approved (when the church use was “grandfathered” in as a 
legal nonconforming use when the City adopted its land use rules in 1989), and many years 
after the church applied for and was granted a modification to its “de facto” conditional use 
permit in 1999, the Tarr case does not apply in the way that St. Timothy’s is arguing it does. 
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Federal Law 
 

St. Timothy’s cites to a 9th Circuit case, Harbor Missionary Church Corp. v. City of 
Buenaventura, for the proposition that federal law (the “Religious Land Use and 
Institutionalized Person Act”, or “RLUPIA”) recognizes that requiring a church to move its 
ministry to the poor to another location is a substantial burden on a church’s practice of its 
religion. 
 
The Harbor Missionary case did rule that requiring a church to move its ministry to the poor 
to another location is a substantial burden on a church’s practice of its religion, but it based 
that holding on specific evidence which was in the record in that case.   
 
The court relied on evidence in the record that the church would have had to sell its property 
and raise an estimated $1.4 million to relocate, an expense that the City of Buenaventura 
did not dispute. The court then concluded that the substantial cost associated with relocating 
the site of the church demonstrated that the City’s denial of a conditional use permit 
substantially burdened the Church’s religious exercise.  
 
In the St. Timothy’s case, there is no evidence in the record that St. Timothy’s has no other 
alternatives to providing social services at the church location, or that the costs of locating 
the services would constitute a substantial burden on St. Timothy’s exercise of its religion. 
There are many other locations in the City of Brookings where St. Timothy’s could provide 
social services without even having to obtain a conditional use permit (commercial and 
industrial zones). 
 
Another distinguishing characteristic between the Harbor Missionary case and the situation 
in Brookings is that St. Timothy’s has done very little to ameliorate the impacts to the 
neighborhood of its social services program, whereas the church in the 9th Circuit case 
conducted neighborhood patrols, provided on-site security, and provided a public hotline 
which the public could call to report problems caused by those using the church’s services.  
These efforts by the Harbor Missionary church likely influenced the 9th Circuit’s finding that  
the City of Buenaventura denial of a conditional use permit substantially burdened the 
church’s exercise of religion.   
 
For the reasons discussed above, the Harbor Missionary case is not dispositive. 
 
Conclusion 
 
There is not substantial evidence in the record that a “church” use under the BMC necessarily 
includes “social services” like the social services which it currently provides. 
 
In addition, there is not substantial evidence in the record that St. Timothy’s has continually 
provided social services, or if it did, not at the same scope, intensity, and frequency, as part of 
its de facto conditional use and since it obtained the modification to its CUP in 1999.  
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Introduction 
 

The following is the report of the inspection of the diffuser system for the City of Brookings, 
OR, performed by Rubicon Applied Divers on 12/28/2021 
 
Methods Used by Rubicon Applied Divers: 
 
Rubicon Divers deployed licensed commercial divers with portable video and still photo 
documentation capabilities. 
 
All work was performed in accordance of the ADCI consensus standards, OSHA, USCG, as well 
as federal and state regulations and guidelines. 
 
 

Overview 
 
Jacobs contracted Rubicon Applied Divers to inspect the Brookings WWTP outfall diffuser 
system entering the Pacific Ocean at the beach just below the WWTP,  and extending 
approximately 700’ from the shoreline. The divers deployed from the beach and traveled out to 
the diffuser area where they located the diffuser set. 
 
The 24” steel trunkline was found to be encased in concrete and found to be consistently at, or 
slightly below, natural bottom. The diffuser field was difficult to locate due to sea life growth on 
and around the diffusers. 
 
The diffuser system was active during the inspection 
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Structure Diagram 
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Photos and Descriptions 
 

Diffuser #1  

  
Intact Riser as it exits the recess collar 

 
Diffuser #2 

  
Intact Riser as it exits the recess collar 

 
 

Diffuser #3 

  
                                                             Intact Riser as it exits the recess collar 
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Diffuser #4 

 

 
Missing the Duckbill valve Missing the Duckbill valve 

 
 
 
 

Diffuser #5 

  
Riser missing at the riser flange Riser missing at the riser flange 

 
 
 
 
 

Diffuser #6 

  
Missing the Duckbill valve Riser as it exits the recess collar 
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Diffuser #7 

 

 

Riser missing at the riser flange Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
 

Diffuser #8 

  
Intact No issues 

 
Diffuser #9 

  
Riser missing at the riser flange Flange ring nearby 
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Diffuser #10 

  
Intact No issues 

 
 

Cleanout blind flange 

  
 75% marine growth over nuts/bolts 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

91



10 
 

 
 
 

Conclusion 
Based upon the results of the underwater inspection, it appears that the diffuser system is 
operational. However, the diffuser points without the duckbill valves, have significantly greater 
outflow than the diffusers with the duckbill valves still in place. A determination of how this affects 
the intended results of the diffusion of the outfall should be explored and a correction, if needed, 
should be planned.  
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Report of Independent Auditors 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Brookings, Oregon 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, budgetary statements for the general fund and urban renewal special revenue fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Brookings, Oregon (the City) as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City’s as of June 30, 2023, and 
the respective changes in financial position, respective budgetary statement for the general fund and 
urban renewal special revenue fund, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for  
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control–related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis, schedule of the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability, schedule of pension contributions, schedule of the proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability (asset), and the schedule of OPEB contributions be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of 
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the 
combining and individual nonmajor fund statements and the schedules, and are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements 
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining 
and individual nonmajor fund statements and the schedules, and schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 8, 2023 on our consideration of City's internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Other Reporting Required by Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal 
Corporations 

In accordance with the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have 
issued our report dated December 8, 2023, on our consideration of the City’s compliance with certain 
provisions of laws and regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified 
in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-010-0000 through 162-010-0330 of the Minimum Standards for 
Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our 
testing of compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 

Amanda McCleary-Moore, Partner for 
Moss Adams LLP 
Medford, Oregon 
December 8, 2023 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

This discussion and analysis presents the highlights of financial activities and financial position for 

the City of Brookings (City).  The analysis focuses on significant issues, major financial activities 

and resulting changes in financial position, budget changes and variances from the budget, and 

specific issues related to funds and the economic factors affecting the City.  Please read it in 

conjunction with the City’s financial statements. 

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 

• Total assets exceeded liabilities at June 30, 2023, by $66.2 million.  Of this amount, $6.4 

million may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 

• The City’s total net position increased by $4.0 million during the fiscal year due to an 

increase in net capital assets, cash and investments. 

 

• The General Fund’s fund balance is approximately $2.2 million at the end of the fiscal year, 

or 36 percent of General Fund expenditures. 

                       

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 

statements and other required supplementary information.  The City’s basic financial statements 

comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, 

and 3) notes to the financial statements. 

 

Government-wide financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed 

to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-

sector business. 

 

The statement of net position presents information on all assets and liabilities, with the difference 

between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 

serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position is improving or deteriorating. 

 

The statement of activities presents information showing how net position changed during the most 

recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 

rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and 

expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future 

fiscal periods.  Examples of such items include earned, but uncollected property taxes, and earned, 

but unused, compensated absences. 

 

 

City of Brookings  
898 Elk Drive, Brookings, OR 97415      

(541) 469-2163   Fax (541) 469-3650      

www.brookings.or.us 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 

 

The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions that are principally supported by 

taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 

intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business 

type activities). 

 

The government activities include the following: 

 

• General government 

• Public safety 

• Highways and streets 

• Culture and recreation 

 

The business-type activities include the following: 

 

• Water 

• Wastewater 

 

Fund Financial Statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 

control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City uses 

fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance – related legal requirement. All 

funds can be divided into two categories: governmental or proprietary funds. 

 

Governmental Funds.  Governmental fund statements follow the more traditional presentation of 

financial statements.  The City’s major governmental funds are presented in their own column and 

the remaining funds are combined into a column titled “Total Nonmajor Funds.”  Page 6 presents a 

reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances of 

governmental funds to the statement of activities. 

 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all its funds, except agency funds.  To 

demonstrate compliance, budgetary comparison statements have been provided for all of the funds. 

 

Proprietary Funds.  The proprietary fund financial statements immediately follow the governmental 

fund financial statements.  The City maintains two major propriety funds which are used to report 

the same functions presented as business type activities in the governmental-wide financial 

statements, only in more detail.  Proprietary fund reports include statement of net position, 

statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and statement of cash flows. 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a 

full understanding of the data provided in the governmental-wide and fund financial statements. 

 

Other Supplementary Information.  Readers desiring additional information on non-major funds 

can find it in the combining statements of non-major funds and the budgetary comparison 

schedules. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 

 

 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Assets

Cash and investments 8,532$     8,040$      8,674$          6,860$    17,206$    14,900$  

Capital assets, net 37,607     36,655      19,013          17,262    56,620      53,917    

Other assets 1,765       1,563        815                1,045      2,580        2,608      

Total assets 47,904     46,258      28,502          25,167    76,406      71,425    

Deferred Outflows

Pension and OPEB items 2,061       1,945        496                458         2,557        2,403      

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities 4,380       4,118        4,587             3,080      8,967        7,198      

Other liabilities 736          482           1,052             459         1,788        941         

Total liabilities 5,116       4,600        5,639             3,539      10,755      8,139      

Deferred Inflows

   Leases 51            63             -                    -              51             63           

Pension and OPEB items 1,540       2,739        370                645         1,910        3,384      

Liabilities and deferred inflows 6,656       7,339        6,009             4,184      12,665      11,523    

Net Position

Net Investment in

capital assets 36,661     35,450      14,901          14,824    51,562      50,274    

Restricted 3,766       3,160        4,502             3,750      8,268        6,910      

Unrestricted 2,831       2,191        3,585             2,867      6,416        5,058      

Total net position 43,258$   40,801$    22,988$        21,441$  66,246$    62,242$  

Net Position at Fiscal Year End

(in thousands)

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

 
 

Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  In the 

case of the City, assets exceeded liabilities by $66.2 million as of June 30, 2023. 

 

The largest portion of the City’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 

building and improvements, equipment, and infrastructure); less any related debt used to acquire 

those assets that are still outstanding.  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to its 

citizens.  Consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the City’s 

investments in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources 

needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves 

cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  The balance of total net position invested in capital 

assets net of related debt was $51.6 million at June 30, 2023. 

 

An additional portion of net position represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on 

how they may be used.  Restricted net position at June 30, 2023 was $8.3 million.  The remaining 

balance of unrestricted net position, $6.4 million, may be used to meet ongoing obligations to 

citizens and creditors. 

 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all three 

categories of net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate business-

type activities.   
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 

 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

REVENUES

Program revenues

Charges for services 2,040$        1,969$        5,170$       5,149$      7,210$        7,118$      

Grants and contributions 1,441          918             913            780           2,354          1,698        

General revenues

Taxes 4,804          4,107          -                 -                4,804          4,107        

Other 1,475          2,840          265            81             1,740          2,921        

Total revenues 9,760          9,834          6,348         6,010        16,108        15,844      

EXPENSES

Governmental activities 7,753          7,270          -                 -                7,753          7,270        

Business-type activities -                  -                  4,351         4,003        4,351          4,003        

Total expenses 7,753          7,270          4,351         4,003        12,104        11,273      

Net (expense) revenue 2,007          2,564          1,997         2,007        4,004          4,571        

Transfers 450             185             (450)           (185)          -                  -               

Change in net position 2,457          2,749          1,547         1,822        4,004          4,571        

Beginning net position 40,801        38,052        21,441       19,619      62,242        57,671      

Ending net position 43,258$      40,801$      22,988$     21,441$    66,246$      62,242$    

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

 

Governmental Activities.  Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $2.5 

million primarily due to increased net capital assets.  Tax revenue increased ~$697,000, which is 

property taxes from the General Fund.  In total, expenses increased by ~$483,000 compared to the 

prior year.    

 

Business-type Activities.  Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $1.5 million. 

Charges for services increased by ~$21,000 and grants and contributions increased by ~$141,000.  

Expenditures increased ~$348,000 primarily due to increased costs and additional DEQ 

requirements. 

 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

 

The City’s General Fund appropriations increased by approximately $75,000 to $6.8 million. The 

General Fund revenues were $718,000 more than the budget.  Actual expenditures within the 

General Fund were 90 percent of the final budget.  The overall increase in the fund balance was 

$382,000 due to revenues being slightly higher than expenditures and transfers. 
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

 

Capital Assets.  As of June 30, 2023, the City has invested $56.7 million in capital assets as 

reflected in the following table.  This represents a net increase for current year activity (additions, 

retirements, and depreciation) of $2.7 million.  

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Land and non-depreciable assets 16.3$           16.3$          0.6$          0.6$           16.9$       16.9$        

Building and improvements 5.9               6.0              2.7            3.0             8.6           9.0            

Vehicles and equipment 0.7               0.9              1.4            1.4             2.1           2.3            

Infrastructure 13.9             12.4            12.6          11.4           26.5         23.8          

Construction in progress 0.8               1.1              1.8            0.9             2.6           2.0            

Total 37.6$           36.7$          19.1$        17.3$         56.7$       54.0$        

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

The following table reconciles the changes in capital assets.  Additions include assets acquired or 

under construction at year-end.  Reductions are for retirements and depreciation. 

 
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Totals

Beginning balance 36.7$                    17.3$                     54.0$             

Additions 2.0                        3.1                         5.1                 

Retirement -                          -                           -                  

Depreciation (1.1)                       (1.3)                        (2.4)               

Ending balance 37.6$                    19.1$                     56.7$             

 
For more information on the City’s capital assets, including a breakdown of the major asset 

categories by governmental and business-type activities, refer to Note 4 of the notes to the financial 

statements. 
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Debt Outstanding.  As of year end, the City had $5.4 million in debt outstanding compared to $4.0 

million last year.  $1.0 million is due within one year.   

 

2023 2022

Governmental

Loan payable 0.9$          1.2$          

Capital lease -              0.1            

Compensated absences 0.4            0.3            

Sub-total 1.3            1.6            

Business-type

Loan payable - bank 4.1            2.4            

Compensated absences -              -              

Sub-total 4.1            2.4            

Total 5.4$          4.0$          

Outstanding Debt at Fiscal Year End

(in millions)

 
 

 

For more detailed information on the City’s debt and amortization terms, refer to pages 26-30 of the 

notes to the financial statements. 

 

ECONOMIC FACTORS 

 

Like all cities in Oregon, the City continues to operate under Measure 50, the tax limitation measure 

approved by voters on May 20, 1997.  This measure rolled back assessed values to 1995-96 levels 

and effectively limited increased property tax revenues the City could anticipate in future years to a 

maximum of 3 percent, with permitted allowances for increasing valuations based on new 

construction and annexations.  No substantive changes to the basic provisions of Measure 50 have 

been enacted during subsequent Oregon Legislative sessions.  The City management team and staff 

continue to meet the challenge of quality service delivery with limited increases in property tax 

revenue. 
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The City’s business-type activities are funded by utility charges for water and sewer services.  

Revenue increases are needed to make the debt service payments on the City’s revenue secured 

loans which are used to upgrade and expand infrastructure. The financial methodology is to be 

proactive instead of reactionary for vital capital improvement projects.  Additional revenue from 

rate increases is used to cover operating and maintenance costs.  The system replacement fees are 

structured to and have increased by an inflationary factor each year. 

 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

 

The City’s financial statements are designed to present users (citizens, taxpayers, customers, 

investors, and creditors) with a general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the 

City’s accountability.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 

requests for additional financial information should be addressed: 

 

Anella Ehlers 

Finance Director 

City of Brookings 

898 Elk Drive 

Brookings, Oregon 97415 

lehlers@brookings.or.us. 
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See accompanying notes. 1 

 
 

City of Brookings 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2023 

 

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments 8,531,728$         8,673,808$         17,205,536$       

Receivables, net 1,548,216           508,315              2,056,531           

Prepaids 181,598 -                          181,598              

Inventory -                          298,917              298,917              

Net OPEB asset 34,695                8,342                  43,037                

Capital assets, not being depreciated or amortized

Land 2,925,998           551,507              3,477,505           

Construction in progress 815,152              1,791,167           2,606,319           

Right of way 13,360,659         -                          13,360,659         

Other capital assets 20,506,273         16,670,287         37,176,560         

Total assets 47,904,319         28,502,343         76,406,662         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 2,060,320           495,454              2,555,774           

OPEB related items 275                     65                       340                     

Total deferred outflows of resources 2,060,595           495,519              2,556,114           

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 95,358                375,938              471,296              

Accrued interest payable 13,678                18,731                32,409                

Deposits 52,012                215,579              267,591              

Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year 574,945              442,204              1,017,149           

Due in more than one year 685,965              3,698,673           4,384,638           

Net pension liability 3,694,251           888,372              4,582,623           

Total liabilities 5,116,209           5,639,497           10,755,706         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Leases 50,690                -                          50,690                

Pension related items 1,533,062           368,662              1,901,724           

OPEB related items 7,277                  1,749                  9,026                  

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,591,029           370,411              1,961,440           

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 36,661,498         14,901,000         51,562,498         

Restricted for

Highways and streets 634,721              -                          634,721              

Capital projects 1,306,602           2,714,192           4,020,794           

Debt service 511,500              1,788,093           2,299,593           

Airport 48,207                -                          48,207                

Other purposes 384,243              -                          384,243              

Unrestricted 3,710,905           3,584,669           7,295,574           

Total net position 43,257,676$       22,987,954$       66,245,630$       

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation and 

amortization)
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Activities 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

Operating Capital Grants

Charges for  Grants and and Governmental Business-type  

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

General government 2,627,960$     1,271,848$   84,852$        -$                    (1,271,260)$    (1,271,260)$    

Public safety 3,518,696       439,002        317,254        -                      (2,762,440)      (2,762,440)      

Highways and streets 792,753          290,022        1,004,986     -                      502,255           502,255           

Culture and recreation 792,406          39,275          33,923          -                      (719,208)         (719,208)         

Interest on long-term liabilities 21,049            -                   -                    -                      (21,049)           (21,049)           

Total governmental activities 7,752,864       2,040,147     1,441,015     -                      (4,271,702)      (4,271,702)      

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES:

Water 1,698,979       1,822,779     -                    427,808          551,608$        551,608           

Wastewater 2,652,283       3,347,195     -                    485,555          1,180,467       1,180,467        

Total business-type activities 4,351,262       5,169,974     -                    913,363          1,732,075       1,732,075        

Total 12,104,126$   7,210,121$   1,441,015$   913,363$        (4,271,702)      1,732,075       (2,539,627)      

General revenues

Taxes levied for general purposes 3,936,627        -                      3,936,627        

Miscellaneous taxes 866,632           -                      866,632           

Franchise fees 295,730           -                      295,730           

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 594,705           -                      594,705           

Unrestricted investment earnings 225,082           215,293          440,375           

Miscellaneous 359,536           49,641            409,177           

Transfers 450,378           (450,378)         -                      

Total general revenues and transfers 6,728,690        (185,444)         6,543,246        

Change in net position 2,456,988        1,546,631       4,003,619        

Net position - beginning 40,800,688      21,441,323     62,242,011      

 

Net position - ending 43,257,676$    22,987,954$   66,245,630$    

Functions/Programs

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue

and Changes in Net Position
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City of Brookings 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

Total Total

Urban Street System Capital Projects Nonmajor Government

General Renewal Replacement Reserve Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments 1,921,683$    853,943$     5,442$           2,531,801$    3,218,859$    8,531,728$      

Receivables 378,015         35,861         354,502         -                     779,838         1,548,216        

Prepaids 60,598           -                   -                     -                     121,000         181,598           

Total assets 2,360,296$    889,804$     359,944$       2,531,801$    4,119,697$    10,261,542$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities 65,973$         -$                 1,600$           10,481$         20,250$         98,304$           

Payroll and related liabilities 880                -                   -                     -                     -                     880                   

Consumer deposits 48,189           -                   -                     -                     -                     48,189             

Total liabilities 115,042         -                   1,600             10,481           20,250           147,373           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES

Leases -                     -                   -                     -                     50,690           50,690             

Unavailable revenue 50,090           10,102         227,143         -                     86,928           374,263           

Total deferred inflows of 

resources 50,090           10,102         227,143         -                     137,618         424,953           

FUND BALANCES

Restricted for

Highways and streets -                     -                   131,201         -                     503,520         634,721           

Urban renewal projects -                     879,702       -                     -                     -                     879,702           

911 services -                     -                   -                     -                     384,243         384,243           

Debt service -                     -                   -                     -                     511,500         511,500           

Capital projects -                     -                   -                     -                     475,107         475,107           

Airport -                     -                   -                     -                     48,207           48,207             

Committed for

Capital projects -                     -                   -                     2,521,320      1,711,781      4,233,101        

Tourism -                     -                   -                     -                     228,391         228,391           

Police programs -                     -                   -                     -                     80,746           80,746             

Current and future health

care programs -                     -                   -                     -                     1,816             1,816                

Fire equipment and training -                     -                   -                     -                     16,518           16,518             

Unassigned 2,195,164      -                   -                     -                     -                     2,195,164        

Total fund balances 2,195,164      879,702       131,201         2,521,320      3,961,829      9,689,216        

Total liabilities, deferred

inflows of resources,

and fund balances 2,360,296$    889,804$     359,944$       2,531,801$    4,119,697$    10,261,542$    

Capital project funds
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City of Brookings 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Position 
June 30, 2023 

 

Total fund balances reported on the governmental funds balance sheet  $    9,689,216 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, 

are not reported in the funds 37,608,082     

The government-wide statements report as a deferred outflow, contributions made to 

OPERS subsequent to the measurement date of and changes in assumptions 

and investment returns related to its participation in OPERS 2,060,595       

The government-wide statement report a deferred inflow related to changes in assumptions 

and investment returns related to its participation in OPERS (1,540,339)      

Other long-term assets are not available for current period expenditures and, therefore, 

are reported as unavailable revenue in the funds 374,263          

OPEB asset, pension liability, compensated absences, and bonds payable, are not due and 

payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds (4,934,141)      

Net position of governmental activities 43,257,676$   
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – 

Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 
Total Total

Urban Street System Capital Projects Nonmajor Government

General Renewal Replacement Reserve Funds Funds

REVENUES

Property taxes 3,270,661$      742,108$      -$                    -$                    -$                    4,012,769$      

Transient tax 295,730           -                   -                      -                      128,690           424,420           

Local marijuana tax 142,961           -                   -                      -                      -                      142,961           

Local gas tax -                   292,319           -                      465,370           757,689           

Franchise fees 325,842           -                   -                      -                      -                      325,842           

Licenses, permits, and fees 481,339           -                   -                      -                      4,487               485,826           

Fines and forfeitures 51,113             -                   -                      -                      -                      51,113             

Charges for services 1,116,623        -                   -                      -                      -                      1,116,623        

System development charges -                      -                   -                      -                      96,786             96,786             

System replacement charges -                      -                   -                      -                      232,510           232,510           

Intergovernmental 318,986           -                   116,343           41,251             878,041           1,354,621        

Interest 50,905             40,464          2,548               62,340             72,302             228,559           

Miscellaneous 106,402           -                   -                      -                      202,469           308,871           

Total revenues 6,160,562        782,572        411,210           103,591           2,080,655        9,538,590        

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 1,980,374        180,602        -                      -                      38,417             2,199,393        

Public health -                      -                   -                      -                      173                  173                  

Public safety 3,469,643        -                   -                      -                      42,142             3,511,785        

Highways and streets -                      -                   -                      -                      399,280           399,280           

Culture and recreation 551,827           -                   -                      -                      90,338             642,165           

Debt service 108,194           -                   -                      -                      250,569           358,763           

Capital outlay -                      858,573        736,580           351,910           134,373           2,081,436        

Total expenditures 6,110,038        1,039,175     736,580           351,910           955,292           9,192,995        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

 over expenditures 50,524             (256,603)      (325,370)         (248,319)         1,125,363        345,595           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 633,378           -                   50,000             275,000           210,760           1,169,138        

Transfers out (302,000)         -                   (4,918)             -                      (411,844)         (718,762)         

Total other financing

sources (uses) 331,378           -                   45,082             275,000           (201,084)         450,376           

Net change in fund balances 381,902           (256,603)      (280,288)         26,681             924,279           795,971           

Fund balances at beginning of year 1,813,262        1,136,305     411,489           2,494,639        3,037,550        8,893,245        

Fund balances at end of year 2,195,164$      879,702$      131,201$         2,521,320$      3,961,829$      9,689,216$      

Capital project funds
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City of Brookings 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 795,971$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities

are different because of the following:

Governmental funds report the acquisition of capital assets as expenditures

while governmental activities report depreciation and amortization

expense to allocate those expenditures over the life of the assets.

The difference between those two amounts is:

Acquisition and capital contribution of capital assets 2,082,330$    

Depreciation and amortization (1,129,607)    952,723         

The changes in net pension liability (asset) and deferred inflows 

and outflows related to the entity's participation in OPERS are 

reported as pension expense on the statement of activities 222,573         

The changes in net OPEB liability (asset) and deferred inflows 

and outflows related to the entity's participation in OPERS are 2,273             

reported as OPEB expense on the statement of activities

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide

current financial resources are not reported as revenues

in the funds 220,877         

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not

require the use of current financial resources and therefore

are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Accrued interest 4,126             

Compensated absences (48,187)         

(44,061)         

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial 

resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of 

long-term liabilities principal is an expenditure in

the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term

liabilities in the statement of net position.

Principal payments 306,632         

306,632         

Change in net position of governmental activities 2,456,988$    
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – 

Budget to Actual 
General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Property taxes 3,066,440$      3,066,440$      3,270,661$      204,221$         

Franchise Fees 220,000           237,000           295,730           58,730             

Transient tax 200,000           200,000           325,842           125,842           

Local marijuana tax 160,000           160,000           142,961           (17,039)           

Licenses, permits, and fees 296,500           296,500           481,339           184,839           

Fines and forfeitures 80,500             80,500             51,113             (29,387)           

Charges for services 987,000           987,000           1,116,623        129,623           

Intergovernmental 293,500           293,500           318,986           25,486             

Interest 15,000             15,000             50,905             35,905             

Miscellaneous 42,000             107,009           106,402           (607)                

Total revenues 5,360,940        5,442,949        6,160,562        717,613           

EXPENDITURES

Judicial 48,018             48,018             44,692             3,326               

Legislative and administration 615,920           792,816           750,410           42,406             

Police 3,231,250        3,255,148        3,151,631        103,517           

Fire 340,738           340,738           318,012           22,726             

Planning and building 335,575           335,575           226,939           108,636           

Parks and recreation 407,089           411,339           390,549           20,790             

Swimming pool 150,584           180,549           161,278           19,271             

Contract services 700,000           850,000           849,299           701                  

Non-departmental 168,600           168,600           109,036           59,564             

Debt service 108,428           108,428           108,194           234                  

Contingency and reserves 623,120           303,120           -                      303,120           

Total expenditures 6,729,322        6,794,331        6,110,040        684,291           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (1,368,382)      (1,351,382)      50,522             1,401,904        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 633,382           633,382           633,380           2                      

Transfers out (285,000)         (302,000)         (302,000)         -                      

Total other financing (uses) 348,382           331,382           331,380           (2)                    

Net change in fund balance (1,020,000)      (1,020,000)      381,902           1,401,902        

Fund balance at beginning of year 1,020,000        1,020,000        1,813,262        793,262           

Fund balance at end of year -$                    -$                    2,195,164$      2,195,164$      

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – 
Budget to Actual 
Urban Renewal Special Revenue Fund 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

Actual Variance

REVENUES

Property taxes 639,676$       742,108$       102,432$       

Interest 2,000             40,464           38,464           

Total revenues 641,676         782,572         140,896         

EXPENDITURES

Urban Renewal Program 1,541,676      1,039,175      502,501         

Total expenditures 1,541,676      1,039,175      502,501         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (900,000)        (256,603)        643,397         

Net change in fund balance (900,000)        (256,603)        643,397         

Fund balance at beginning of year 900,000         1,136,305      236,305         

Fund balance at end of year -$                   879,702$       879,702$       

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

Total Enterprise

Water Wastewater Funds

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and investments 1,851,588$               6,822,220$               8,673,808$               

Receivables, net 212,787                    295,528                    508,315                    

Inventory 237,816                    61,101                      298,917                    

Total current assets 2,302,191                 7,178,849                 9,481,040                 

Noncurrent assets

Net OPEB asset 3,385                        4,957                        8,342                        

Capital assets

Land and construction in progress 1,684,255                 658,418                    2,342,673                 

Other capital assets, net 9,158,439                 7,511,848                 16,670,287               

Total capital assets 10,842,694               8,170,266                 19,012,960               

Total noncurrent assets 10,846,079               8,175,223                 19,021,302               

Total assets 13,148,270               15,354,072               28,502,342               

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 201,126                    294,328                    495,454                    

OPEB related items 25                             40                             65                             

Total deferred outflows of resources 201,151                    294,368                    495,519                    

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 202,908                    173,030                    375,938                    

Accrued interest payable 18,639                      92                             18,731                      

Consumer deposits 215,579                    -                               215,579                    

Compensated absences 10,351                      18,435                      28,786                      

Long-term liabilities due within one year 385,814                    27,604                      413,418                    

Total current liabilities 833,291                    219,161                    1,052,452                 

Long-term liabilities

Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 3,635,500                 63,172                      3,698,672                 

Net pension liability 360,629                    527,743                    888,372                    

Total liabilities 4,829,420                 810,076                    5,639,496                 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 149,655                    219,007                    368,662                    

OPEB related items 709                           1,040                        1,749                        

Total deferred inflows of resources 150,364                    220,047                    370,411                    

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 6,821,380                 8,079,490                 14,900,870               

Restricted for

Capital projects 271,880                    2,442,312                 2,714,192                 

Debt service 667,028                    1,121,065                 1,788,093                 

Unrestricted 609,349                    2,975,450                 3,584,799                 

Total net position 8,369,637$               14,618,317$             22,987,954$             

Business-type Activities
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

Total Enterprise

Water Wastewater Funds

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services 1,822,779$       3,347,195$       5,169,974$       

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personal services 411,126            623,766            1,034,892         

Materials and services 802,054            1,171,642         1,973,696         

Depreciation 458,169            854,300            1,312,469         

Total operating expenses 1,671,349         2,649,708         4,321,057         

Operating income 151,430            697,487            848,917            

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest income 44,544              170,749            215,293            

Miscellaneous 49,641              -                        49,641              

Interest expense (27,630)             (2,575)               (30,205)             

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) 66,555              168,174            234,729            

Income before capital

contributions and transfers 217,985            865,661            1,083,646         

Capital grants and contributions 427,808            485,555            913,363            

Transfers in 3,529,505         1,987,092         5,516,597         

Transfers out (3,752,429)        (2,214,546)        (5,966,975)        

Change in net position 422,869            1,123,762         1,546,631         

Net position – beginning 7,946,768         13,494,555       21,441,323       

Net position – ending 8,369,637$       14,618,317$     22,987,954$     

Business-type Activities
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

Total Enterprise

Water Wastewater Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 1,820,860$        3,349,097$        5,169,957$        

Payments to suppliers (827,979)           (1,186,584)        (2,014,563)        

Payments to employees (428,046)           (645,302)           (1,073,348)        

Net cash provided by operating activities 564,835            1,517,211         2,082,046         

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Transfers in 3,529,504         1,987,092         5,516,596         

Transfers out (3,752,429)        (2,214,546)        (5,966,975)        

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital

financing activities (222,925)           (227,454)           (450,379)           

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital grants and contributions 229,532            484,555            714,087            

System development charges received 587,594            -                        587,594            

Acquisition of capital assets (2,405,778)        (587,910)           (2,993,688)        

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 2,108,970         -                        2,108,970         

Principal paid on long-term liabilities (380,290)           (54,567)             (434,857)           

Interest paid on long-term liabilities (12,594)             (2,721)               (15,315)             

Net cash provided by (used in)

capital and related

financing activities 127,434            (160,643)           (33,209)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest on investments 44,544              170,749            215,293            

Net change in cash 513,888            1,299,863         1,813,751         

Cash – beginning of year 1,337,700         5,522,357         6,860,057         

Cash – end of year 1,851,588$        6,822,220$        8,673,808$        

Business-type Activities
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City of Brookings 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds (continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

Total Enterprise

Water Wastewater Funds

Business-type Activities

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 151,430$          697,487$          848,917$          

Adjustments to reconcile operating income 

to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities

Depreciation 458,169            854,300            1,312,469         

Decrease (increase) in assets and deferred

outflows

Receivables (1,919)               1,902                (17)                    

Inventory (27,166)             (2,356)               (29,522)             

Net OPEB asset (637)                  (966)                  (1,603)               

Pension and OPEB related items (14,180)             (23,038)             (37,218)             

Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred 

inflows

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,364                (11,546)             (8,182)               

Consumer deposits (2,123)               -                        (2,123)               

Compensated absences payable -                        (728)                  (728)                  

Net pension liability 110,800            165,201            276,001            

Pension and OPEB related items (112,903)           (163,045)           (275,948)           

Net cash provided by operating

activities 564,835$          1,517,211$        2,082,046$        
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Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2023 

 

 

14 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

A. Financial Reporting Entity 

The City of Brookings (City) was organized under the general laws of the State of Oregon. Control of the 

City is vested in its Mayor and Council Members who are elected to office by voters within the City. 

Administrative functions are delegated to individuals who report to and are responsible to the Mayor and 

City Council. The chief administrative officer is the City Manager. 

 

The accompanying financial statements present all activities, funds, and the component unit for which the 

City is considered to be financially accountable. The criteria used in making this determination includes 

appointment of a voting majority, imposition of will, financial benefit or burden on the primary government, 

and fiscal dependency on the primary government.  

 

Brookings Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency) – The Agency was created in July 2003 under the 

provisions of state law as the agency responsible for rebuilding the infrastructure, public facilities, and 

parks in the boundaries of the city. The "tax increment financing" method is used to provide funds for the 

Agency. The City Council serves as the governing board of the Brookings Urban Renewal Agency. 

Therefore, the accounts of the agency are included in the financial statements of the City. A seven-

member Advisory Committee appointed by the Agency makes recommendations on project priorities and 

plan amendments. The Agency’s separate June 30, 2023 financial statements are available at the City’s 

finance office. 

 

Complete financial statements for the Brookings Urban Renewal Agency may be obtained from the City’s 

finance department. 

 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 

activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City (the primary government) and 

its component unit. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these 

statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 

revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees 

and charges for support.  

 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 

segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 

specific function or segment. Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or 

applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital 

grants and contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as 

general revenues rather than as program revenues. Taxes and other items not properly included among 

program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
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Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

 

 

15 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major individual 

governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 

financial statements. 

 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 

focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are 

recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 

related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. 

Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 

provider have been met. 

 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 

statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the functions of the City, the elimination 

of which would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions 

concerned. 

 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 

revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 

connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues are 

charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of 

sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and 

expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 

focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 

measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 

current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 

government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the 

current fiscal period. Significant revenues, which are susceptible to accrual under the modified accrual 

basis of accounting, include property taxes and federal and state grants. Other revenue items are 

considered to be measurable and available when received by the City. Expenditures generally are 

recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as 

well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only 

when payment is due. 

 

The basis of accounting described above is in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). 
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The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

General – accounts for all financial resources of the City, except those required to be accounted for in 

another fund. Principal sources of revenue are property taxes, franchise fees, and state shared revenues. 

Expenditures are primarily for general government operations, public safety (police), and culture and 

recreation. 

 

Urban Renewal – accounts for general administration of the Agency’s urban renewal areas, for 

acquisition and rehabilitation of blighted and deteriorated areas within the designated urban renewal 

areas. 

 

Street System Development – accounts for street capital improvements that increase capacity. The 

principal source of revenue is system development charges. The City has elected to report as major in 

the current year for consistency. 

 

Capital Projects Reserve – accounts for major construction projects and equipment acquisition.  

 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

 

Water – accounts for the operation of the City’s water system. 

 

Wastewater – accounts for the operation of the City’s wastewater system. 

 

The City also includes the following fund types as nonmajor governmental funds and nonmajor enterprise 

funds: 

 

Special revenue – account for revenue derived from specific taxes or other revenue sources, which are 

legally restricted to finance particular functions or activities. When a special revenue fund is not an 

operating fund, transfers are made from the special revenue fund to the operating fund authorized to 

make expenditures. 

 

Debt service – account for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal and interest on 

long-term debt of governmental funds. 

 

Capital projects – account for expenditures on major construction projects or equipment acquisition. The 

principal sources of revenues are proceeds from long-term liabilities issued to finance capital acquisitions 

and improvements. 

 

Enterprise – accounts for the operations of predominantly self-supporting activities. Enterprise funds 

account for services rendered to the public on a user charge basis. 
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D. Budget Policies and Budgetary Control 

Generally, Oregon Local Budget Law requires annual budgets be adopted for all funds except agency 

funds. The modified accrual basis of accounting is used for all budgets. All annual appropriations lapse at 

fiscal year-end. 

 

The City begins its budgeting process by appointing Budget Committee members in the fall of each year. 

Budget recommendations are developed by management through early spring, with the Budget 

Committee meeting and approving the budget document in late spring. Public notices of the budget 

hearing are generally published in May or June and the hearing is held in June. The City Council adopts 

the budget, makes appropriations, and declares the tax levy no later than June 30. Expenditure 

appropriations may not be legally over-expended, except in the case of grant receipts and bond sale 

proceeds which could not be reasonably estimated at the time the budget was adopted. 

 

The resolution authorizing appropriations for each fund sets the level at which expenditures cannot legally 

exceed appropriations. The City established the levels of budgetary control at the department or activity 

level.  

 

E. Cash and Investments 

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash includes cash on hand, checking, savings and money market 

accounts, and any highly-liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less. 

 

F. Receivables 

Receivables are reported at the amount management expects to collect on balances outstanding at year-

end. Management closely monitors outstanding balances and writes off, as of year-end, all balances that 

have not been collected by the time the financial statements are issued. All receivables are shown net of 

an allowance for uncollectibles of $0 as no allowance for doubtful accounts was deemed necessary. 

 

G. Inventory 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. Inventory consists of 

expendable supplies held for consumption. 

 

H. Capital Assets 

Capital assets are recorded in the statement of net position at cost or estimated historical cost if 

purchased or constructed. Donated items are recorded at their estimated acquisition fair value at the date 

of donation. The City records capital assets for items with original cost, or estimated acquisition value if 

donated, of $5,000 or more and an expected economic useful life of 3 years or more. 

 
Public domain (infrastructure) capital assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, storm sewers, and other 

assets that are immovable and of value to the City) that have been acquired or significantly reconstructed 

have been capitalized at estimated historical cost. 

 

Upon disposal of capital assets, the accounts are relieved of the related costs and accumulated 

depreciation, and resulting gains or losses are reflected in the change in net position. Depreciation taken 

on contributed capital assets is recorded as an expense of operations and charged to change in net 

position. 
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Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives 

with prorated depreciation in the year of acquisition and prorated depreciation in the year of disposal. 

 

Assets     Years  

Land improvements   0 – 50 

Buildings    25 – 50 

Building improvements  20 – 40 

Equipment    5 – 15 

Infrastructure   25 – 40 

Water and wastewater systems 25 

Storm drains    25 

 

I. Long-term Liabilities 

Long-term liabilities consist of notes, bonds, compensated absences, and net pension liability. 

 

Long-term liabilities expected to be repaid from proprietary funds are accounted for in the business-type 

activities and proprietary funds. Long-term liabilities expected to be repaid from governmental funds are 

accounted for in the governmental activities. 

 

J. Compensated Absences 

Vacation and comp-time leave amounts are accrued as they are earned. 

 

K. Pensions and OPEB 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, net OPEB asset, deferred outflows of resources and 

deferred inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense, information about 

the fiduciary net position of the Oregon Public Employee Retirement System (OPERS) and additions 

to/deductions from OPERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 

reported by OPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 

recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair 

value. 

 

L. Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statements of net position report a separate section for deferred outflows of 

resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 

consumption of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 

resources (expense/expenditure) until then. These include pension and OPEB related items. 

 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will report a separate section for deferred inflows of 

resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents amount 

that apply to future periods and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 

time. Pension and OPEB related items which are amortized over specified periods are reported as 

deferred inflows of resources.  

 

The balance sheet of governmental funds will report as deferred inflows unavailable revenues from 

property taxes.  
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M.  Leases and Subscription-based IT arrangements 

 

Lessee 

The City recognizes lease contracts or equivalents that have a term exceeding one year and the 

cumulative future payments on the contract exceed $10,000 that meet the definition of an other than 

short-term lease. The City uses a discount rate that is explicitly stated or implicit in the contract. When a 

readily determinable discount rate is not available, the discount rate is determined using the City’s 

incremental borrowing rate at start of the lease for a similar asset type and term length to the contract. 

Short-term lease payments are expensed when incurred. 

 

Lessor 

The City recognizes lease contracts or equivalents that have a term exceeding one year and the 

cumulative future receipts on the contract exceed $10,000 that meet the definition of an other than short-

term lease. The City uses the same interest rate it charges to lessee as the discount rate or that is implicit 

in the contract to the lessee. Short-term lease receipts and variable lease receipts not included in the 

measurement of the lease receivable are recognized as income when earned. 

 
Subscription-based IT arrangements  
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the financial statements include the adoption of GASB Statement No. 

96, Subscription- Based Information Technology Arrangements. The primary objective of this statement is 

to enhance the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ subscription activities. This 

statement establishes a single model for subscription accounting based on the principle that subscriptions 

are financings of the right to use and underlying asset. Under this Statement, an organization is required 

to recognize a subscription liability and an intangible right-to-use subscription asset. The City does not 

have any subscription-based IT arrangements. 

 
N. Fund Balance and Net Position 

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements equity is classified as net position and 

displayed in three components: 

 

Net investment in capital assets – Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of 

accumulated depreciation and amortization and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, 

mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 

improvements of those assets. 

 

Restricted net position – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by (1) external 

groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments; or (2) law 

through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 

Unrestricted net position – All other net position that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net 

investment in capital assets.” 

 

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, when both restricted and unrestricted 

resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted 

resources as they are needed. 
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Governmental type fund balances are to be properly reported within one of the fund balance categories 

list below:  

 

Non-spendable – Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form or 

because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

 

Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constitutional provisions or 

enabling legislation or because of constraints that are externally imposed by creditors, grantors, 

contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments. 

 

Committed – Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal action of the 

City Council. The City Council is the highest level of decision making authority for the City. Commitments 

may be established, modified, or rescinded only through ordinances or resolutions approved by the City 

Council. 

 

Assigned – Amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed but that are 

intended to be used for specific purposes. The City Council has granted authority to the City Manager and 

Finance Director to assign fund balance amounts. 

 

Unassigned – The residual classification for the government’s general fund and includes all spendable 

amounts not contained in the other classifications. Additionally, other funds may report negative 

unassigned fund balance in certain circumstances.  

 

In the governmental fund financial statements, when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which 

both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, the City considers restricted funds to have been 

spent first. When an expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances 

are available, the City considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned 

funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the City Council has provided otherwise in its 

commitment or assignment actions. 

 

O. Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to errors and omissions, automobile, damage to and 

destruction of assets, bodily injury, and worker’s compensation for which the City carries commercial 

insurance. There has been no significant reduction in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled 

claims have not reached the level of commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 

 

P.  New Accounting Pronouncements 

The City implemented GASB No. 96 Subscription-based IT Arrangements (GASB 96) as of July 1, 2022. 

The City evaluated contracts that were to determine whether they meet the definition of a subscription-

based IT Arrangement as defined in GASB 96. The City did not have any changes in relation to this 

adopted accounting standard. 
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Note 2 – Deposits and Investments 

 

The City maintains a pool of cash and investments that are available for use by all funds. Each fund’s 

portion of this pool is displayed on the financial statements as cash and investments. Additionally, several 

funds hold separate cash and investment accounts. Interest earned on pooled cash and investments is 

allocated to participating funds based upon their combined cash and investment balances. 

 

Investments, including amounts held in pooled cash and investments are stated at fair value. In 

accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, investments with a 

remaining maturity of more than one year, at the time of purchase are stated at fair value. Fair value is 

determined at the quoted market price, if available; otherwise the fair value is estimated based on the 

amount at which the investment could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, 

other than a forced liquidation sale. Investments in the State of Oregon Local Government Investment 

Pool (LGIP) are stated at fair value. The Oregon State Treasury administers the LGIP. The LGIP is an 

unrated, open-ended, no-load, diversified portfolio offered to any agency, political subdivision or public 

corporation of the state who by law is made the custodian of, or has control of, any fund. The LGIP is 

commingled with the State’s short-term funds. To provide regulatory oversight, the Oregon Legislature 

established the Oregon Short-Term Fund Board and LGIP investments are approved by the Oregon 

Investment Council. The fair value of the City’s position in the LGIP is the same as the value of the pool 

shares. 

 

Credit risk – Oregon statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. 

agencies, bankers’ acceptances, repurchase agreements, commercial paper rated A-1 by Standard & 

Poor’s Corporation or P-1 by Moody’s Commercial Paper Record, and the state treasurer’s investment 

pool. 

 
As of June 30, 2023, the City had the following investments: 

 

     Maturities   

State Treasurer’s Investment Pool N/A   $       15,996,473 

 

Interest Rate Risk – The City does not have a formal policy that limits investment maturities as a means 

of managing its exposure to fair-value losses arising from increases in interest rates. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk – The City does not have a formal policy that places a limit on the amount 

that may be invested in any one issuer. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk – Investments – This is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the 

City will not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in the possession of an outside party. 

The City does not have a policy which limits the amount of investments that can be held by 

counterparties. 
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Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits – This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposits 

may not be returned. The Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) provides insurance for the 

City’s deposits with financial institutions up to $250,000 each for the aggregate of all non-interest bearing 

accounts and the aggregate of all interest bearing accounts at each institution. Deposits in excess of 

FDIC coverage with institutions participating in the Oregon Public Funds Collateralization Program are 

collateralized with securities held by the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle in the name of the 

institution. As of June 30, 2023, $1,255,521 of the City's bank balances were exposed to custodial risk. 

 

A. The City’s deposits and investments at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 

 

Cash on hand 3,000$           

Deposits with financial institutions 1,206,063      

Local government investment pool 15,996,473    

Total deposits and investments 17,205,536$  

 
B. Cash and investments by fund at June 30, 2023: 

 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES/FUNDS

Unrestricted

General 1,921,683$    

Urban Renewal 853,943         

Street System Development 5,442              

Capital Projects Reserve 2,531,801      

Nonmajor governmental 3,218,859      

Total governmental activities/funds 8,531,728      

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES/PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Water 1,851,588      

Wastewater 6,822,220      

Total business-type activities/proprietary funds 8,673,808      

Total cash and investments 17,205,536$  
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Note 3 – Receivables 

 

A. The City's receivables at June 30, 2023 are shown below: 

 

General

Urban 

Renewal

Street System 

Replacement

Total 

Nonmajor Totals

Property taxes 163,644$      35,861$     -$                   -$                  199,505$      

Leases -                    -                 -                     60,010          60,010          

Accounts 214,016        -                 28,359           147,622        389,997        

System development charges 355               -                 -                     467,516        467,871        

Assessments -                    -                 99,000           -                    99,000          

Grants -                    -                 227,143         104,690        331,833        

378,015$      35,861$     354,502$       779,838$      1,548,216$   

Business-type Activities / Proprietary Funds

Water Wastewater Totals

User charges 133,701$       267,891$      401,592$      

System replacement charges 15,289           17,019          32,308          

System development charges 3,797             10,618          14,415          

Grants 60,000           -                    60,000          

212,787$       295,528$      508,315$      

Governmental Activities / Funds

 
B. Property taxes  

 

i. Collection procedures 

 

Taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable in three installments due November 15, February 15, and 

May 15. Curry County bills and collects property taxes for the City. 

 

ii. Ensuing year's levy 

 

The City’s permanent tax rate is $3.763 per $1,000 assessed value as limited by the Constitution of the 

State of Oregon. 
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The Urban Renewal Agency levied 100 percent of the amount of its authority under option one of ORS 

457.435(2)(a) for the retirement of long-term liabilities principal and interest without making a special levy 

in 2020-21. The tax rate limit of $10.00 per thousand of assessed value imposed by the Oregon 

Constitution is not expected to affect these levies. 

 

C. Leases 

 

The City is a lessor for noncancellable lease of airport hangars (nonregulated) with lease terms through 

2036. For the year ending June 30, 2023, the City recognized $12,673 in lease revenue released from the 

deferred inflows of resources related to the hangar leases and $7,908 in variable payments charged to 

the lessees included in charges for services on the statement of activities. The City recognized interest 

revenue of $400 for the year ending June 30, 2023. No inflows of resources were recognized in the year 

related to termination penalties or residual value guarantees during the fiscal year. 

 
 
Note 4 – Capital Assets 

 

A. Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 

 
Balance Balance

June 30, 2022 Additions Deletions June 30, 2023

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Capital assets not being depreciated or amortized

Land 2,925,998$        -$                      -$                      2,925,998$       

Right of way 13,360,659        -                        -                        13,360,659       

Construction in progress 1,052,071          1,292,461         (1,529,380)        815,152            

Total capital assets not being depreciated or 

amortized 17,338,728        1,292,461         (1,529,380)        17,101,809       

Capital assets being depreciated or amortized

Lease asset - land 67,297               -                        -                        67,297              

Buildings and improvements 9,372,406          255,143            -                        9,627,549         

Equipment 4,388,858          75,549              -                        4,464,407         

Infrastructure 21,547,524        1,988,557         -                        23,536,081       

Total capital assets being depreciated or 

amortized 35,376,085        2,319,249         -                        37,695,334       

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for

Leased asset - land 10,626               10,626              -                        21,252              

Buildings and improvements 3,432,547          345,202            -                        3,777,749         

Equipment 3,519,631          250,892            -                        3,770,523         

Infrastructure 9,096,647          522,887            -                        9,619,534         

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 16,059,451        1,129,607         -                        17,189,058       

Total capital assets being depreciated or 

amortized, net 19,316,634        1,189,642         -                        20,506,276       

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 36,655,362$      2,482,103$       (1,529,380)$      37,608,085$     
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Balance Balance

June 30, 2022 Additions Deletions June 30, 2023  
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 551,507$           -$                      -$                      551,507$          

Construction in progress 795,384             3,196,214         (2,200,431)        1,791,167         

Total capital assets not being depreciated 1,346,891          3,196,214         (2,200,431)        2,342,674         

Capital assets being depreciated

Infrastructure 33,949,188        1,965,555         -                        35,914,743       

Buildings and improvements 9,343,002          -                        -                        9,343,002         

Equipment and vehicles 2,749,403          101,640            -                        2,851,043         

Total capital assets being depreciated or 

amortized 46,041,593        2,067,195         -                        48,108,788       

Less accumulated depreciation for

Infrastructure 22,452,933        857,921            -                        23,310,854       

Buildings and improvements 6,323,183          310,186            -                        6,633,369         

Equipment and vehicles 1,349,916          144,362            -                        1,494,278         

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 30,126,032        1,312,469         -                        31,438,501       

Total capital assets being depreciated or 

amortized, net 15,915,561        754,726            -                        16,670,287       

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 17,262,452$      3,950,940$       (2,200,431)$      19,012,961$     

 
B. Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows for the 

year ended June 30, 2023: 

 
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

General government

Public safety

Public works

Culture and recreation

Total depreciation expense – governmental activities

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Water

Wastewater

Total depreciation expense – business-type activities

854,300              

1,312,469$         

516,558$            

214,752              

221,164              

177,133              

1,129,607$         

458,169$            
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Note 5 – Unavailable Revenue 

 

As of June 30, 2023, the City had the following unavailable revenue: 

 

Urban Street System Total

General Renewal Replacement Nonmajor Totals

Property taxes 50,090$            10,102$           -$                      -$                      60,192$            

Leases -                        -                      -                        50,690              50,690              

Grants -                        -                      -                        83,583              83,583              

System development charges -                        -                      227,143            3,345                230,488            

50,090$            10,102$           227,143$          137,618$          424,953$          

Governmental Funds

 

Note 6 – Interfund Transactions 

 

The interfund transfers during the year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

 

Transfer In Transfer Out

GOVERNMENTAL

General 633,380$         302,000$         

Street System Replacement 50,000              4,918                

Capital Projects Reserve 275,000           -                       

Nonmajor 210,760           411,844           

1,169,140$      718,762$         

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Water 3,529,505$      3,752,429$      

Wastewater 1,987,092        2,214,546        

Totals 5,516,597$      5,966,975$      
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Note 7 – Long-Term Liabilities 

 

A. Changes in long-term liabilities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

 

Balances

Outstanding Outstanding Due Within

June 30, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023 One Year

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Notes from direct borrowings

Lease liability 57,275$          -$                    10,138$          47,137$          10,407$          

Oregon department of transportation 810,647          -                      105,506          705,141          114,650          

Storm system - Umpqua Bank 61,901            -                      61,901            -                      -                      

Vehicles - Umpqua Bank 52,697            -                      48,246            4,451              4,451              

Fire truck - Rogue Credit Union 85,954            -                      28,000            57,954            28,000            

911 tower - Umpqua Bank 89,498            -                      43,797            45,701            45,701            

Parks and Recreation - Business Oregon 47,058            -                      9,044              38,014            9,224              

Total notes from direct borrowings 1,205,030       -                      306,632          898,398          212,433          

Other long-term liabilities

Net pension liability 2,599,027       1,095,224       -                      3,694,251       -                      

Compensated absences 314,326          362,512          314,326          362,512          362,512          

Total long-term liabilities 4,118,383$     1,457,736$     620,958$        4,955,161$     574,945$        

Balances

Outstanding Outstanding Due Within

June 30, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023 One Year

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Notes from direct borrowings 

Storm system - Umpqua Bank 33,331$          -$                    33,331$          -$                    -$                    

Water - Umpqua Bank 1,543,130       -                      293,755          1,249,375       297,541          

Wastewater - Rogue Credit Union 174,543          -                      60,215            114,328          60,721            

First Community Credit Union #0003 14,578            -                      6,439              8,139              6,535              

First Community Credit Union #0004 14,578            -                      6,439              8,139              6,535              

First Community Credit Union #0156 200,000          -                      34,726            165,274          42,137            

Business Oregon OBDD SDWLF 457,817          2,108,970       -                      2,566,787       -                      

Total notes and direct borrowings 2,437,977       2,108,970       434,905          4,112,042       413,469          

Other long-term liabilities

Net pension liability 612,371          276,001          -                      888,372          -                      

Compensated absences 29,514            30,009            29,514            30,009            30,009            

Total long-term liabilities 3,079,862$     2,414,980$     464,419$        5,030,423$     443,478$        
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B. Governmental Activities 

The City’s outstanding notes from direct borrowings related to governmental activities contain certain 

provisions that in the event of default, outstanding amounts become immediately due if the City is unable 

to make payment. 

 

Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) – The City borrowed $650,000 for widening of Railroad 

Street in fiscal year 2021. In February 2022 ODOT authorized an increase to the loan amount and the 

City obtained an additional loan of $250,000. Annual installment payments of $125,255 include interest at 

2.05 percent. 

 

Storm system – Umpqua Bank – The City borrowed $850,000 for storm system improvements. Of the 

original $850,000, $525,000 was allocated to the governmental activities and $325,000 to the business-

type activities. Semi-annual payments of $48,507 include interest at 2.58 percent. Paid off as of June 30, 

2023. 

 

Vehicles – Umpqua Bank – The City borrowed $264,000 to purchase 5 police cars and 2 SUV’s. Semi-

annual payments of $27,896 include interest at 2 percent. 

 

Fire truck – Rogue Credit Union – The City borrowed $365,000 to purchase a fire truck. Annual payments 

of $30,579 include interest at 3 percent. 

 

911 Tower – Umpqua Bank – The City borrowed $540,000 to build a 911 tower. Annual payments of 

$47,690 include interest at 4.35 percent. 

 

Parks and Recreation – Oregon Business Development Department (OBDD) – The City borrowed 

$65,000 to finance the Salmon Run Golf Course Event Center. Annual payments of $9,946 included 

interest at 1.99 percent. 

 

Lease liability – The City is a lessee for noncancellable lease of land with lease terms through 2028. 

There are no residual value guarantees included in the measurement of City’s lease liability nor 

recognized as an expense for the year ended June 30, 2023. The City does not have any commitments 

that were incurred at the commencement of the leases.  

 

C. Business-Type Activities  

The City’s outstanding notes from direct borrowings related to business-type activities contain certain 

provisions that in the event of default, outstanding amounts become immediately due if the City is unable 

to make payment. 
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Storm system – Umpqua Bank – The City borrowed $850,000 for storm system improvements. Of the 

original $850,000, $525,000 was allocated to the governmental activities and $325,000 to the business-

type activities. Semi-annual payments of $48,507 include interest at 2.58 percent. 

 

Water – Umpqua Bank – The City borrowed $3,650,000 for water system improvements. Interest varies 

depending on the maturity of the principal amount from 2.5 to 4 percent. Semi-annual payments of 

$165,513 include interest. 

 

Wastewater – Rogue Federal Credit Union – The City borrowed $300,000 for wastewater meters. Monthly 

payments of $5,322 include interest at 2.48 percent. 

 

Wastewater – First Community Credit Union #0003 – The City borrowed $25,634 for a vehicle. Monthly 

payments of $551 include interest at 1.49 percent. 

 

Wastewater – First Community Credit Union #0004 – The City borrowed $25,634 for a vehicle. Monthly 

payments of $551 include interest at 1.49 percent. 

 

Water and Wastewater – First Community Credit Union #0156 – The City borrowed $200,000 for a Vactor 

Vacuum Truck. Monthly payments of $3,561 include interest at 2.625 percent. 

 

Water – Oregon Business Development Department (OBDD) Project S22005 – In November of 2021, the 

City entered into a loan agreement with the State of Oregon via OBDD for Safe Drinking Water Revolving 

Loan S22005 in the amount of $4,175,000, of which $280,000 is considered forgivable, at 1.7 percent 

interest to finance construction of two water reservoirs. As of June 30, 2023, the City has submitted and 

received $2,566,787 in reimbursable expenses. Loan payments, in annual installments of principal and 

interest over 29 years will commence following completion of the construction project, which is estimated 

to occur in November 2024.  

 
D. Future maturities – governmental activities are as follows: 

 

Fiscal

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 9,224$         1,088$         4,451$          1$                28,000$       3,394$         

2025 10,721         879              -                    -                  29,954         876              

2026 10,934         666              -                    -                  -                  -                  

2027 7,135           448              -                    -                  -                  -                  

2028 -                  -                  -                    -                  -                  -                  

2029-2031 -                  -                  -                    -                  -                  -                  

-                    

38,014$       3,081$         4,451$          -$                57,954$       4,270$         

Police Vehicles

Notes from Direct Borrowings

Parks and Recreation Fire Truck
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Fiscal

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 45,701$       1,988$         114,650$      10,604$       10,407          1,113            

2025 -                  -                  113,170        12,085         10,684          836               

2026 -                  -                  115,490        9,765           10,968          552               

2027 -                  -                  117,857        7,398           11,259          261               

2028 -                  -                  120,253        5,001           3,819            21                 

2029-2031 -                  -                  123,721        2,497           -                  -                  

45,701$       1,988$         705,141$      47,350$       47,137$        2,783$          

of Transportation Leases

Oregon DepartmentNotes from Direct Borrowings

911 Tower

 
 

Fiscal

Year Principal Interest

2024 212,433$     18,188$       

2025 164,529       14,676         

2026 137,392       10,983         

2027 136,251       8,107           

2028 124,072       5,022           

2029-2031 123,721       2,497           

898,398$     59,473$       

Totals

 
 

E. Future maturities – business-type activities are as follows: 

 

Fiscal

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 297,541$       37,270$         60,721$         3,647$           6,535$           -$                   

2025 301,172         29,853           53,607           2,137             1,604             -                     

2026 308,931         22,095           -                     -                     -                     -                     

2027 316,811         14,214           -                     -                     -                     -                     

2028 24,920           6,134             -                     -                     -                     -                     

2028-2031 -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

1,249,375$    109,566$       114,328$       5,784$           8,139$           -$                   

Wastewater

Notes from Direct Borrowings

Water Loan Vehicle
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Fiscal

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 6,535$           -$                   42,137$         3,873$           413,469$       44,790$         

2025 1,604             -                     39,886           2,840             397,873         34,830           

2026 -                     -                     40,945           1,781             349,876         23,876           

2027 -                     -                     42,032           694                358,843         14,908           

2028 -                     -                     274                8                    25,194           6,142             

8,139$           -$                   165,274$       9,196$           1,545,255$    124,546$       

VehicleVehicle Total 

Notes from Direct Borrowings

 
 
Note 8 – Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

 

A. Plan Description 

Employees of the City are provided with pensions through OPERS. All the benefits of OPERS are 

established by the Oregon legislature pursuant to Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) Chapters 238 and 238A. 

 

The OPERS consists of a single cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan. 

 

OPERS produces an independently audited Annual Comprehensive Financial Report which can be found 

at: http://www.oregon.gov/pers/pages/index.aspx 

 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 

OPERS financial report. 

 

B. Description of Benefit Terms 

 

Plan benefits 

All benefits of OPERS are established by the legislature pursuant to ORS Chapters 238 and 238A.  

 

i. Tier one/tier two retirement benefit (Chapter 238). Tier One/Tier Two Retirement Benefit plan is 

closed to new members hired on or after August 29, 2003. 

 
Pension benefits  

The OPERS retirement allowance is payable monthly for life. It may be selected from 13 retirement 

benefit options. These options include survivorship benefits and lump-sum refunds. The basic benefit is 

based on years of service and final average salary. A percentage (2.0 percent for police and fire 

employees, 1.67 percent for general service employees) is multiplied by the number of years of service 

and the final average salary. Benefits may also be calculated under either a formula plus annuity (for 

members who were contributing before August 21, 1981) or a money match computation if a greater 

benefit results.  
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A member is considered vested and will be eligible at minimum retirement age for a service retirement 

allowance if he or she has had a contribution in each of five calendar years or has reached at least 50 

years of age before ceasing employment with a participating employer (age 45 for police and fire 

members). General service employees may retire after reaching age 55. Police and fire members are 

eligible after reaching age 50. Tier One general service employee benefits are reduced if retirement 

occurs prior to age 58 with fewer than 30 years of service. Police and fire member benefits are reduced if 

retirement occurs prior to age 55 with fewer than 25 years of service. Tier Two members are eligible for 

full benefits at age 60.  

 
Death benefits  

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the member’s 

account balance (accumulated contributions and interest). In addition, the beneficiary will receive a lump-

sum payment from employer funds equal to the account balance, provided one or more of the following 

conditions are met:  

 

• the member was employed by a OPERS employer at the time of death,  

• the member died within 120 days after termination of OPERS-covered employment, 

• the member died as a result of injury sustained while employed in an OPERS-covered job, or 

• the member was on an official leave of absence from an OPERS-covered job at the time of death. 

 

Disability benefits  

A member with 10 or more years of creditable service who becomes disabled from other than duty-

connected causes may receive a non-duty disability benefit. A disability resulting from a job-incurred 

injury or illness qualifies a member (including OPERS judge members) for disability benefits regardless of 

the length of OPERS-covered service. Upon qualifying for either a non-duty or duty disability, service time 

is computed to age 58 (55 for police and fire members) when determining the monthly benefit. 

 

Benefit changes after retirement 

Members may choose to continue participation in a variable equities investment account after retiring and 

may experience annual benefit fluctuations due to changes in the market value of equity investments. 

Under ORS 238.360 monthly benefits are adjusted annually through cost-of-living changes. The cap on 

the cost-of-living increases are 2.0 percent. 

 

ii. Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (Chapter 238A) (OPSRP DB) 

 

Pension benefits 

The OPSRP pension program provides benefits to members hired on or after August 29, 2003. 
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This portion of OPSRP provides a life pension funded by employer contributions. Benefits are calculated 

with the following formula for members who attain normal retirement age: 

 

Police and fire – 1.8 percent is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final average salary. 

Normal retirement age for police and fire members is age 60 or age 53 with 25 years of retirement credit. 

To be classified as a police and fire member, the individual must have been employed continuously as a 

police and fire member for at least five years immediately preceding retirement. 

 

General service – 1.5 percent is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final average salary. 

Normal retirement age for general service members is age 65, or age 58 with 30 years of retirement 

credit. 

 
A member of the OPSRP pension program becomes vested on the earliest of the following dates: the 

date the member completes 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years, the date the member 

reaches normal retirement age, and, if the pension program is terminated, the date on which termination 

becomes effective. 

 

Death benefits 

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the spouse or other person who is constitutionally required to be 

treated in the same manner as the spouse, receives for life 50 percent of the pension that would 

otherwise have been paid to the deceased member. 

 

Disability benefits 

A member who has accrued 10 or more years of retirement credits before the member becomes disabled or 

a member who becomes disabled due to job-related injury shall receive a disability benefit of 45 percent of 

the member’s salary determined as of the last full month of employment before the disability occurred. 

 

Benefit changes after retirement 

Under ORS 238A.210 monthly benefits are adjusted annually through cost-of-living changes. Under 

current law, the cap on the COLA in will vary based on 1.25 percent on the first $60,000 of annual benefit 

and 0.15 percent on annual benefits above $60,000. 

 

C. Contributions 

OPERS funding policy provides for monthly employer contributions at actuarially determined rates. These 

contributions, expressed as a percentage of covered payroll, are intended to accumulate sufficient assets 

to pay benefits when due. 

 

Employer contribution rates during the period were based on the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation. 

The rates, based on a percentage of payroll, first became effective July 1, 2022. 

 
Tier 1/tier 2 employer contribution rates are 25.93 percent and the OPSRP employer contribution rates 

are 19.65 percent for general service employees and 24.01 percent for public safety employees. 

Employer contributions for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $713,132, excluding amounts to fund 

employer specific liabilities.  
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D. Pension asset or liability, pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and 

deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 

 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $4,582,623 for its proportionate share of the net pension 

liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to 

calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020. The 

City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of 

contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, 

actuarially determined. 

 

Employers' long-term contribution efforts are based on projected rates that have two major components: 

 

i. Normal Cost Rate: The economic value, stated as a percent of payroll, for the portion of each 

active member’s total projected retirement benefit that is allocated to the upcoming year of service. The 

rate is in effect for as long as each member continues in OPERS-covered employment. The current value 

of all projected future Normal Cost Rate contributions is the Present Value of Future Normal Costs 

(PVFNC). The PVFNC represents the portion of the projected long-term contribution effort related to 

future service. 

 

An employer’s PVFNC depends on both the normal cost rates charged on the employer’s payrolls, and on 

the underlying demographics of the respective payrolls. For OPERS funding, employers have up to three 

different payrolls, each with a different normal cost rate: (1) Tier 1/Tier 2 payroll, (2) OPSRP general 

service payroll, and (3) OPSRP police and fire payroll. 

 

The employer’s Normal Cost Rates for each payroll are combined with system-wide present value factors 

for each payroll to develop an estimated PVFNC. The present value factors are actuarially determined at 

a system level for simplicity and to allow for the PVFNC calculations to be audited in a timely, cost-

effective manner. 

 

ii. UAL Rate: If system assets are less than the actuarial liability, an Unfunded Actuarial Liability 

(UAL) exists. UAL can arise when an event such as experience differing from the assumptions used in 

the actuarial valuation occurs. An amortization schedule is established to eliminate the UAL that arises 

over a fixed period of time if future experience follows assumption. The UAL Rate is the upcoming year’s 

component of the cumulative amortization schedules, stated as a percent of payroll. The present value of 

all projected UAL Rate contributions is equal to the UAL. The UAL represents the portion of the projected 

long-term contribution effort related to past service. 

 

The UAL has Tier 1/Tier 2 and OPSRP pieces. The Tier 1/Tier 2 piece is based on the employer’s Tier 

1/Tier 2 pooling arrangement. If an employer participates in one of the two large Tier 1/Tier 2 rate pools 

[State & Local Government Rate Pool (SLGRP) or School Districts Rate Pool], then the employer’s Tier 

1/Tier 2 UAL is their pro-rata share of their pool’s UAL. The pro-rata calculation is based on the 

employer’s payroll in proportion to the pool’s total payroll. The OPSRP piece of the UAL follows a parallel 

pro-rata approach, as OPSRP experience is mandatorily pooled at a state-wide level. Employers that do 

not participate in a Tier 1/Tier 2 pooling arrangement, who are referred to as “Independent Employers”, 

have their Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL tracked separately in the actuarial valuation. 
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The projected long-term contribution effort is the sum of the PVFNC and the UAL. The PVFNC part of the 

contribution effort pays for the value of future service while the UAL part of the contribution effort pays for 

the value of past service not already funded by accumulated contributions and investment earnings. Each 

of the two contribution effort components are calculated at the employer-specific level. The sum of these 

components across all employers is the total projected long-term contribution effort. 

 
At the June 30, 2022 measurement date, the City’s proportion was 0.0299%. 

 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $449,786. At June 30, 2023, 

the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 

from the following sources: 

 

 Deferred Deferred

 Outflows of Inflows of 

 Resources Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 222,449$         28,580$           

Changes of assumptions 719,039           6,569                

Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments -                       819,285           

Changes in proportion share 897,549           572,173           

Differences between City’s contributions and 

proportionate share of contributions 3,605                475,117           

Subtotal 1,842,642        1,901,724        

City’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date 713,132           -                       

2,555,774$      1,901,724$      

 
Deferred outflows of resources of $713,132 related to pensions resulting from City contributions 

subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the 

year ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 

inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense (income) as follows: 

 

Year ending June 30, 2024  $         (98,195)

2025           (165,042)

2026 (256,506)          

2027             452,187 

2028                 8,474 

(59,082)$          
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E. Actuarial Valuations 

The December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation used the following actuarial methods and valuation 

procedures in determining the Tier One/Tier Two contribution rates. 

 

Actuarial cost method 

The employer contribution rates effective July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2023, were set using the entry 

age normal actuarial cost method. Under this actuarial cost method, each active member’s entry age 

present value of projected benefits is allocated over the member’s service from the member’s date of 

entry until their assumed date of exit, taking into consideration expected future compensation increases.  

 

Tier One/Tier Two unfunded actuarial accrued liability amortization 

The Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL amortization period is reset to 20 years as of December 31, 2013. Gains and 

losses between subsequent odd-year valuations will be amortized as a level percentage of combined 

valuation payroll (Tier 1/Tier 2 plus OPSRP payroll) over a closed 20-year period from the valuation in 

which they are first recognized.  

 

Retiree healthcare unfunded actuarial accrued liability amortization 

The UAL for Retiree Health Care as of December 31, 2007 is amortized as a level percentage of 

combined valuation payroll (Tier 1/Tier 2 plus OPSRP payroll) over a closed 10-year period. Gains and 

losses between subsequent odd-year valuations are amortized as a level percentage of combined 

valuation payroll over a closed 10-year period from the valuation in which they are first recognized.  

 

Asset valuation method 

The actuarial value of assets equals the market value of assets, excluding the Contingency and Capital 

Preservation Reserves, and the Rate Guarantee Reserve when it is in positive surplus status. Market 

values are reported to the actuary by PERS. 

 

Contribution rate stabilization method 

Contribution rates for a rate pool (e.g. Tier 1/Tier 2 SLGRP, Tier 1/Tier 2 School Districts, OPSRP) are 

confined to a collared range based on the prior contribution rate (prior to application of side accounts, pre-

SLGRP liabilities, and 6 percent Independent Employer minimum). The new contribution rate will 

generally not increase or decrease from the prior contribution rate by more than the greater of 3 

percentage points or 20 percent of the prior contribution rate. If the funded percentage excluding side 

accounts drops below 60% or increases above 140%, the size of the collar doubles. If the funded 

percentage excluding side accounts is between 60% and 70% or between 130% and 140%, the size of 

the rate collar is increased on a graded scale. 
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F. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used in Developing Total Pension Liability 

 

Valuation Date  December 31, 2020 

Measurement Date June 30, 2022 

Experience Study Report  2020, published July 2021 

Actuarial Cost Method  Entry Age Normal  

Actuarial Assumptions:  

 Inflation Rate  2.40 percent  

 Long-term expected rate of return  6.90 percent  

 Discount rate 6.90 percent 

 Projected Salary Increases  3.40 percent  

 Cost of living adjustments (COLA) Blend of 2.00 percent COLA and graded COLA 

(1.25%/.015) in accordance with Moro decision; blend 

based on service 

Mortality  Healthy retirees and beneficiaries:  

Pub-2010 Healthy annuitant, sex-distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with collar 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the 

valuation.  

Active members:  

Pub-2010 Employees, sex-distinct, generational with 

Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with collar 

adjustments and set-backs as described in the 

valuation. 

Disabled retirees:  

Pub-2010 Disabled retirees, sex-distinct, generational 

with Unisex, Social Security Data Scale.  

 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of projected benefits and 

assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are 

subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are 

made about the future. Experience studies are performed as of December 31 of even numbered years. 

The methods and assumptions shown above are based on the 2020 Experience Study which reviewed 

experience for the four-year period ending on December 31, 2020.  
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Discount rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90 percent for the Defined Benefit 

Pension Plan. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 

contributions from plan members and those of the contributing employers are made at the contractually 

required rates, as actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 

position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 

members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for the Defined 

Benefit Pension Plan was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 

pension liability. 

 

Long-term expected rate of return 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 

June 2021 the PERS Board reviewed long-term assumptions developed by both the actuary’s capital 

market assumptions team and the Oregon Investment Council's (OIC) investment advisors. Each asset 

class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes adjustment for the 

inflation assumption. These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based on 

forward-looking capital market economic model. For more information on the Plan's portfolio, assumed 

asset allocation and the long-term expected rate of return for each major asset class, calculated using 

both arithmetic and geometric means, see PERS audited financial statements. 

 
The table below presents the assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the Plan was invested at 

the time based on the OIC's long-term target asset allocation. 
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Depletion date projection 

GASB 68 generally requires that a blended discount rate be used to measure the Total Pension Liability 

(the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated using the Individual Entry Age Normal Cost Method). The long-

term expected return on plan investments may be used to discount liabilities to the extent that the plan’s 

Fiduciary Net Position (fair market value of assets) is projected to cover benefit payments and 

administrative expenses. A 20-year high quality (AA/Aa or higher) municipal bond rate must be used for 

periods where the Fiduciary Net Position is not projected to cover benefit payments and administrative 

expenses. Determining the discount rate under GASB 67 will often require that the actuary perform 

complex projections of future benefit payments and asset values. GASB 67 (paragraph 43) does allow for 

alternative evaluations of projected solvency, if such evaluation can reliably be made. GASB does not 

contemplate a specific method for making an alternative evaluation of sufficiency; it is left to professional 

judgment. 

 

The following circumstances justify an alternative evaluation of sufficiency for OPERS: 

 

• OPERS has a formal written policy to calculate an Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC), which 

is articulated in the actuarial valuation report. 

 

• The ADC is based on a closed, layered amortization period, which means that payment of the full 

ADC each year will bring the plan to a 100% funded position by the end of the amortization period if 

future experience follows assumption. 

 

• GASB 68 specifies that the projections regarding future solvency assume that plan assets earn the 

assumed rate of return and there are no future changes in the plan provisions or actuarial methods 

and assumptions, which means that the projections would not reflect any adverse future experience 

which might impact the plan’s funded position. 

 

Based on these circumstances, it is OPERS independent actuary’s opinion that the detailed depletion 

date projections outlined in GASB 67 would clearly indicate that the Fiduciary Net Position is always 

projected to be sufficient to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. 
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G. Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the 

discount rate. 

 

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 

discount rate of 6.90 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 

would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.90 percent) or 1-

percentage-point higher (7.90 percent) than the current rate: 

 

1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage

Point Discount Point

Lower Rate Higher

City’s proportionate share of net pension

liability 8,126,889$        4,582,623$        1,616,240$        

 
Individual Account Program (IAP) 

Participants in OPERS defined benefit pension plan also participate in the defined contribution plan. 

 

Pension benefits 

An IAP member becomes vested on the date the employee account is established or on the date the 

rollover account was established. If the employer makes optional employer contributions for a member, 

the member becomes vested on the earliest of the following dates: the date the member completes 600 

hours of service in each of five calendar years, the date the member reaches normal retirement age, the 

date the IAP is terminated, the date the active member becomes disabled, or the date the active member 

dies.  

 

 

Note 9 – Defined Contribution Plan 

 

Upon retirement, a member of the IAP may receive the amounts in his or her employee account, rollover 

account, and vested employer account as a lump-sum payment or in equal installments over a 5-, 10-, 

15-, 20-year period or an anticipated life span option. Each distribution option has a $200 minimum 

distribution limit. 

 

Death benefits  

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives in a lump sum the member’s account 

balance, rollover account balance, and vested employer optional contribution account balance. If a retired 

member dies before the installment payments are completed, the beneficiary may receive the remaining 

installment payments or choose a lump-sum payment. 

 

Contributions 

The City makes the employee contributions of 6 percent of covered payroll to the plan. Contributions for 

the year ended June 30, 2023 were $906,325. 

 

Recordkeeping  

PERS contracts with VOYA Financial to maintain IAP participant records.  
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Note 10 – Oregon Public Employees Retirement System Retiree Health Insurance Account 

 

Plan description 

The Oregon Public Employee Retirement System (OPERS) administers the Retirement Health Insurance 

Account (RHIA) cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan (the Plan) for units of state 

government, political subdivisions, community colleges, and school districts, containing multiple actuarial 

pools. Plan assets may be used to pay the benefits of the employees of any employer that provides 

OPEB through the Plan. 

 

OPERS is administered in accordance with Oregon Revised Statues (ORS) Chapter 238, Chapter 238A, 

and Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a). The Oregon Legislature has deleted authority to the Public 

Employees Retirement Board (Board) to administer and manage OPERS. All members of the board are 

appointed by the governor and confirmed by the State Senate. The governor designates the chairperson. 

One member must be a public employer manager or a local elected official, one member must be a 

union-represented public employee or retiree, and three members must have experience in business 

management, pension management, or investing. 

 

RHIA was established by ORS 238.420 and is administered and managed by the Board. The Plan was 

closed to new entrants hired on or after August 29, 2003. 

 

OPERS issues a publicly available financial report online at: 

http://www.oregon.gov/pers/EMP/Pages/Actuarial-Financial-Information.aspx 

 

Benefits provided 

The RHIA provides a monthly premium subsidy available to Medicare entitled (enrolled in Medicare Parts 

A and B) retirees that are receiving either a PERS service or disability retirement allowance and have had 

either eight or more years of qualifying service time at retirement or is receiving a PERS disability 

retirement allowance that is computed as if the retiree had eight or more years of creditable service time. 

 

Contributions 

Employer contributions to OPERS are calculated based on creditable compensation for active members 

reported by employers. Employer contributions are accrued when due pursuant to legal requirements. 

Employer proportions are determined as a measure of the proportionate relationship of the employer to all 

employers consistent with the manner in which contributions to the OPEB plan are determined. Ultimate 

authority for setting and changing the laws governing contributions rest with the Oregon Legislature. 

Employees are not required to contribute to the OPEB plan. The contribution, as determined by the 

proportionate share, as of the June 30, 2022 measurement date was $265. 

 

Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, and expense 

related to OPEB 

At June 30, 2023, City of Brookings reported an asset of $43,037 for its proportionate share of the net 

OPEB asset. The City’s proportionate share as of the June 30, 2022 measurement date was .0121%.  
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For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB income of $2,943 and deferred outflows of 

resources and inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources. 

 

 Deferred Deferred

 Outflows of Inflows of 

 Resources Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience  $                     -  $             1,166 

Changes of assumptions 340                   1,435                

Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on OPEB investments -                       3,282                

Changes in proportion share -                       3,143                

Subtotal 340                   9,026                

City’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date -                       -                       

340$                 9,026$              

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 

will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows for the years ended June 30:  

2024  $            (4,747)

2025                (2,922)

2026                (2,071)

2027                 1,054 

(8,686)$            

 
Actuarial methods and assumptions 

The total OPEB liability based on the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation date and rolled forward to 

the June 30, 2022 measurement date. The actuarial assumptions and other inputs are included in Note 9. 

Discount rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at June 30, 2022 was 6.90 percent. The 

projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from contributing 

employers are made at contractually required rates, as actuarially determined. Based on those 

assumptions, the RHIA plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 

future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 

OPEB plan investments for the RHIA plan was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 

determine the total OPEB liability. 
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Long term expected rate of return 

The long-term expected rate of return was determined by a review of the long-term assumptions 

developed by Milliman’s capital market assumptions team and the Oregon Investment Council’s (OIC) 

investment advisors. The table showing Milliman’s assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the 

Plan was invested at the time based on OIC’s long-term target asset allocation can be found in Note 8. 

 

Sensitivity of proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) to changes in the discount rate 

The following presents the County’s proportionate share of the net OPEB asset, as well as what the 

County’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) would be if calculated using a discount rate 

that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.9%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.9%) than the current discount 

rate: 

 

1% Decrease Current Discount 1 % Increase

(5.9%) Rate (6.9%) (7.9%)

Net OPEB liability (asset)  $            (38,789)  $            (43,037)  $            (46,679)

 
OPEB plan fiduciary net position 

Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 

OPERS financial report.  

 

 

Note 11 – Intergovernmental Agreement 

 

The City has an intergovernmental agreement with the Upper Chetco Rural Fire Protection District (the 

District), to provide fire protection. The Agreement was extended through June 30, 2023. The Agreement 

must be evaluated at the end of each 12-month period. Following the evaluation either party may cancel 

the Agreement by giving one year written notice of termination. 

 

The City agrees to provide fire protection to the District, including the use of available pumpers, tankers 

and sufficient personnel to operate fire protection apparatus. The District pays the City an annual fee 

equal to 90 percent of the property taxes collected by the District. 
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Note 12 – Net Position Restricted Through Enabling Legislation 

 

The amount of net position restricted by enabling legislation is as follows: 

 

Governmental Activities 

Highways and streets – Article IX, Section 3a of the Oregon State 

Constitution restricts the use of revenue from taxes on motor vehicle fuel use  $634,721 

 

Capital Projects – Ordinances imposing System Development Charges 

(SDC) restrict the use to capital improvements which expand the capacity 

of the system for which the charge was made      $2,186,304 

 

Airport – grantors restricts the use of the airport funds     $48,207 

 

Other purposes – the State of Oregon restricts the use of 911 taxes   $384,243 

 

Business-type Activities 

Capital Projects – Ordinances imposing System Development Charges 

(SDC) restrict the use to capital improvements which expand the capacity 

of the system for which the charge was made      $2,714,192 

 

 

Note 13 – Risk Management 

 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; torts; 

errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City purchases commercial 

insurance for such risks of loss. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial 

insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 

 

 
Note 14 – Commitments 

 

As of June 30, 2023, the City does not have any commitments. 

 

 

Note 15 – Tax Abatements 

 

The City has entered into no tax abatement programs. There are no tax abatement programs entered into 

by another government reducing the City’s property tax revenues for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
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City of Brookings 
Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
Last 10 Years as of June 30, 

 

 
Measurement date, June 30: 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Proportion of the collective net pension

liability (asset) 0.02992831% 0.02683662% 0.02245053% 0.03031819% 0.03144827% 0.03641733% 0.03794972% 0.03862112% 0.03790856% 0.03790856%

Proportionate share of the collective net

pension liability (asset)  $      4,582,623  $      3,211,398  $      4,899,478  $      5,376,423  $      4,763,998  $      4,909,069  $      5,697,134 2,217,417$       (859,279)$        1,934,529$       

Covered payroll 3,217,755$       2,952,303$       2,695,551$       2,567,429$       2,818,163$       2,965,101$       2,835,306$       2,827,965$       2,663,955$       2,663,955$       

Proportionate share of the collective net 

pension liability (asset) as a percentage 

of the covered payroll 142% 109% 182% 209% 169% 166% 201% 78% -32% 73%

Pension plan's fiduciary net position as a 

percentage of the total pension liability 85% 88% 76% 80% 82% 83% 81% 92% 104% 92%
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City of Brookings 
Schedule of Contributions – Pension  
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
Last 10 Years as of June 30, 

 

 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contributions 713,133$          673,749$          573,767$          524,435$          382,803$          437,927$          367,477$          386,346$          349,482$          339,336$          

Contractually required contributions

recognized by the pension plan 713,133            673,749            573,767            524,435            382,803            437,927            367,477            386,346            349,482            339,336            

Difference -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Covered payroll 3,409,286$       3,217,755$       2,952,303$       2,695,551$       2,567,429$       2,818,163$       2,965,101$       2,835,306$       2,827,965$       2,663,955$       

Contractually required contributions as a

percentage of covered payroll 20.92% 20.94% 19.43% 19.46% 14.91% 15.54% 12.39% 13.63% 12.36% 12.74%
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City of Brookings 
Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) 

Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
Last 10 Years as of June 30, * 

 

 

Measurement date, June 30: 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

0.01211173% 0.01029272% 0.00955562% 2.15321900% 0.02521776% 0.02710102% 0.02926486%

 $         (43,037)  $         (35,346)  $         (19,471)  $         (41,608)  $         (28,150)  $         (11,310)  $            7,947 

Covered payroll  $     3,217,755  $     2,952,303  $     2,695,551  $     2,567,429  $     2,818,163  $     2,965,101  $     2,835,306 

Proportionate share of the collective net OPEB

liability (asset) as a percentage of the covered 

payroll -1% -1% -1% -2% -1% 0% 0%

OPEB's fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total OPEB liability 194.6% 183.9% 150.1% 144.4% 124.0% 94.2% 108.9%

liability (asset)

Proportion of the collective net OPEB liability (asset)

Proportionate share of the collective net OPEB

 
*Information will be accumulated annually until 10 years is presented 
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City of Brookings 
Schedule of Contributions – OPEB 
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
Last 10 Years Ended June 30, * 

 

 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Contractually required contributions 265$             299$             275$             683$             10,672$        12,212$        13,630$        

265               299               275               683               10,672          12,212          13,630          

Difference -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Covered payroll 3,409,286$   3,217,755$   2,952,303$   2,695,551$   2,567,429$   2,818,163$   2,965,101$   

0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.03% 0.42% 0.43% 0.46%

* Information will be accumulated annually until 10 years is presented

Contractually required contributions as a percentage of covered 

payroll

Contractually required contributions recognized by OPEB
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50 

City of Brookings 
Street System Replacement – Capital Projects Fund (Major Fund) 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Local gas tax 290,000$        290,000$        292,319$        2,319$            

Miscellaneous -                     -                     116,343          116,343          

Interest 2,000              2,000              2,548              548                 

Total revenues 292,000          292,000          411,210          119,210          

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 757,082          757,082          736,580          20,502            

Total expenditures 757,082          757,082          736,580          20,502            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (465,082)        (465,082)        (325,370)        139,712          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 50,000            50,000            50,000            -                     

Transfers out (4,918)            (4,918)            (4,918)            -                     

Total other financing 

sources (uses) 45,082            45,082            45,082            -                     

Net change in fund balance (420,000)        (420,000)        (280,288)        139,712          

Fund balance at beginning of year 420,000          420,000          411,489          (8,511)            

Fund balance at end of year -$                   -$                   131,201$        131,201$        

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Capital Projects Reserve – Capital Projects Fund (Major Fund) 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –  
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 719,247$        719,247$        41,251$          (677,996)$       

Interest 1,000              1,000              62,340            61,340            

Total revenues 720,247          720,247          103,591          (616,656)         

EXPENDITURES

Parks and recreation program 121,000          50,000            -                      50,000            

Public safety 195,000          -                      -                      -                      

Capital outlay 2,119,247       2,385,247       351,910          2,033,337       

Total expenditures 2,435,247       2,435,247       351,910          (2,083,337)      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (1,715,000)      (1,715,000)      (248,319)         1,466,681       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 

Transfers in 275,000          275,000          275,000          -                      

Total other financing 

sources (uses) 275,000          275,000          275,000          -                      

Net change in fund balance (1,440,000)      (1,440,000)      26,681            1,466,681       

Fund balance at beginning of year 1,440,000       1,440,000       2,494,639       1,054,639       

Fund balance at end of year -$                    -$                    2,521,320$     2,521,320$     

Budget
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52 

 

City of Brookings 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

 

Special Capital

Revenue Debt Service Projects Totals

ASSETS

Cash and investments 1,127,864$      511,500$         1,579,495$      3,218,859$      

Receivables 290,016           -                       489,822           779,838           

Prepaid deposit -                       -                       121,000           121,000           

Total assets 1,417,880$      511,500$         2,190,317$      4,119,697$      

LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20,166$           -$                     84$                   20,250$           

Total liabilities 20,166             -                       84                     20,250             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Leases 50,690             -                       -                       50,690             

Unavailable revenue 83,583             -                       3,345                86,928             

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES 134,273           -                       3,345                137,618           

FUND BALANCES

Restricted for

Highways and streets 503,520           -                       -                       503,520           

911 services 384,243           -                       -                       384,243           

Debt service -                       511,500           -                       511,500           

Capital projects -                       -                       475,107           475,107           

Airport 48,207             -                       -                       48,207             

Committed for

Capital projects -                       -                       1,711,781        1,711,781        

Police programs 80,746             -                       -                       80,746             

Tourism 228,391           -                       -                       228,391           

Current and future health -                       -                       

 care programs 1,816                -                       -                       1,816                

Fire equipment and training 16,518             -                       -                       16,518             

Total fund balances 1,263,441        511,500           2,186,888        3,961,829        

Total liabilities, deferred inflows 

of resources and fund balances 1,417,880$      511,500$         2,190,317$      4,119,697$      
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53 

 

City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Special Capital

Revenue Debt Service Projects Totals

REVENUES

Transient tax 128,690$         -$                     -$                     128,690$         

Grant revenue -                       465,370           465,370           

Licenses, permits and fees 4,487                -                       -                       4,487                

System development charges -                       96,786             96,786             

System replacement charges -                       232,510           232,510           

Intergovernmental 878,041           -                       -                       878,041           

Interest 32,225             -                       40,077             72,302             

Miscellaneous 77,214             125,255           -                       202,469           

Total revenues 1,120,657        125,255           834,743           2,080,655        

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 21,369             -                       17,048             38,417             

Public health 173                   -                       -                       173                   

Public safety 42,142             -                       -                       42,142             

Highways and streets 357,350           -                       41,930             399,280           

Culture and recreation 90,338             -                       -                       90,338             

Debt service 28,254             222,315           -                       250,569           

Capital outlay 87,070             -                       47,303             134,373           

Total expenditures 626,696           222,315           106,281           955,292           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures 493,961           (97,060)            728,462           1,125,363        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 17,000             97,060             96,700             210,760           

Transfers out (303,622)          -                       (108,222)          (411,844)          

Total other financing sources 

(uses) (286,622)          97,060             (11,522)            (201,084)          

Net change in fund balances 207,339           -                       716,940           924,279           

Fund balances at beginning of year 1,056,102        511,500           1,469,948        3,037,550        

Fund balances at end of year 1,263,441$      511,500$         2,186,888$      3,961,829$      
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City of Brookings 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

 
Special

Street Fund 911 Police Health Fair Special Fire Tourism Airport Totals

ASSETS

Cash and investments 449,426$           301,687$           80,992$             1,816$               16,518$             229,591$           47,834$             1,127,864$        

Receivables 63,361               82,856               -                         -                         -                         -                         143,799             290,016             

TOTAL ASSETS 512,787$           384,543$           80,992$             1,816$               16,518$             229,591$           191,633$           1,417,880$        

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 9,267$               300$                  246$                  -$                       -$                       1,200$               5,330$               16,343$             

Hangar deposit liability -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         3,823                 3,823                 

Total liabilities 9,267                 300                    246                    -                         -                         1,200                 9,153                 20,166               

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES

Leases -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         50,690               50,690               

Unavailable revenue -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         83,583               83,583               

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         134,273             134,273             

FUND BALANCES

Restricted for

Highways and streets 503,520             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         503,520             

Urban renewal projects -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

911 services -                         384,243             -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         384,243             

Tourism -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         228,391             -                         228,391             

Airport -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         48,207               48,207               

Committed for

Police programs -                         -                         80,746               -                         -                         -                         -                         80,746               

Current and future health

care programs -                         -                         -                         1,816                 -                         -                         -                         1,816                 

Fire equipment and

training -                         -                         -                         -                         16,518               -                         -                         16,518               

Total fund balances 503,520             384,243             80,746               1,816                 16,518               228,391             48,207               1,263,441          

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED

INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

AND FUND BALANCES 512,787$           384,543$           80,992$             1,816$               16,518$             229,591$           191,633$           1,417,880$        
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Special

Street Fund 911 Police Health Fair Special Fire Tourism Airport Totals

REVENUES

Property taxes -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Transient tax -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       128,690           128,690           

Licenses, permits and fees -                       -                       -                       -                       1,506               -                       2,981               4,487               

Intergovernmental 539,615           315,757           7,700               -                       -                       -                       14,969             878,041           

Interest 12,417             9,280               2,109               -                       407                  4,535               3,477               32,225             

Miscellaneous 17,002             -                       26,223             -                       -                       -                       33,989             77,214             

Total revenues 569,034           325,037           36,032             -                       1,913               133,225           55,416             1,120,657        

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       21,369             21,369             

Public health -                       -                       -                       173                  -                       -                       -                       173                  

Public safety -                       23,705             18,437             -                       -                       -                       -                       42,142             

Highways and streets 357,350           -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       357,350           

Culture and recreation -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       90,338             -                       90,338             

Debt service 4,409               23,845             -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       28,254             

Capital outlay 2,500               23,872             -                       -                       -                       -                       60,698             87,070             

Total expenditures 364,259           71,422             18,437             173                  -                       90,338             82,067             626,696           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

 over expenditures 204,775           253,615           17,595             (173)                 1,913               42,887             (26,651)            493,961           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 17,000             -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       17,000             

Transfers out (119,370)          (168,200)          -                       -                       -                       (16,052)            -                       (303,622)          

Total other financing sources 

(uses) (102,370)          (168,200)          -                       -                       -                       (16,052)            -                       (286,622)          

Net change in fund balances 102,405           85,415             17,595             (173)                 1,913               26,835             (26,651)            207,339           

Fund balances at beginning of year 401,115           298,828           63,151             1,989               14,605             201,556           74,858             1,056,102        

Fund balances at end of year 503,520$         384,243$         80,746$           1,816$             16,518$           228,391$         48,207$           1,263,441$      
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56 

 

City of Brookings 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Debt Service Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

 

Urban

Renewal Governmental

Debt Service Storm Loan Loan Totals

ASSETS

Cash and investments 511,500$      -$                  -$                  511,500$      

FUND BALANCES

Restricted for debt service 511,500$      -$                  -$                  511,500$      
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Urban Renewal Governmental

Debt Service Storm Loan Loan Totals

REVENUES

Miscellaneous -$                   -$                  125,255$       125,255$      

Total revenues -                     -                    125,255         125,255        

EXPENDITURES

Debt service -                     97,060          125,255         222,315        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures -                     (97,060)        -                     (97,060)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -                     

Transfers in -                     97,060          -                     97,060          

Total other financing

sources (uses) -                     97,060          -                     97,060          

Net change in fund balances -                     -                    -                     -                    

Fund balances at beginning of year 511,500         -                     511,500        

Fund balances at end of year 511,500$       -$                  -$                   511,500$      
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City of Brookings 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

 

Parks and 

Stormwater Recreation Stormwater

Technology Street System System System System

Reserve Development Replacement Development  Development Totals

ASSETS

Cash and investments 32,435$          71,883 1,000,070$     217,175$        257,932$        1,579,495$     

Receivables -                      466,569 21,107            1,342              804                 489,822          

Prepaid deposit -                      121,000 -                      -                      -                      121,000          

Total assets 32,435$          659,452$        1,021,177$     218,517$        258,736$        2,190,317$     

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 84$                 -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    84$                 

Total liabilities 84                   -                      -                      -                      -                      84                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue -                      1,199              -                      1,342              804                 3,345              

FUND BALANCES

Restricted for capital projects -                      -                      -                      217,175          257,932          475,107          

Committed for capital projects 32,351            658,253          1,021,177       -                      -                      1,711,781       

Total fund balances 32,351            658,253          1,021,177       217,175          257,932          2,186,888       

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 32,435$          659,452$        1,021,177$     218,517$        258,736$        2,190,317$     
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Parks and

Stormwater Recreation Stormwater

Technology Street System System System System

Reserve Development Replacement Development Development Totals

REVENUES

System development charges  $                      -  $               33,642  $                         -  $               39,276  $               23,868  $               96,786 

System replacement charges                          -                             -                 232,510                             -                             -                 232,510 

Grant revenue                          -                 465,370                             -                             -                             -                 465,370 

Interest                      113                     3,186                   24,958                     5,316                     6,504                   40,077 

Total revenues                      113                 502,198                 257,468                   44,592                   30,372                 834,743 

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government 17,048               -                           -                           -                           -                                             17,048 

Highways and streets -                         41,930                  -                           -                           -                                             41,930 

Capital outlay 20,070               -                           27,233                  -                           -                                             47,303 

Total expenditures 37,118               41,930                  27,233                  -                           -                                           106,281 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (37,005)              460,268                230,235                44,592                  30,372                                  728,462 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 96,700               -                           -                           -                                             96,700 

Transfers out (53,200)              -                           (55,022)                -                           -                                          (108,222)

Total other financing

sources (uses) 43,500               -                           (55,022)                -                           -                           (11,522)                

Net change in fund balances 6,495                 460,268                175,213                44,592                  30,372                                  716,940 

Fund balances at beginning of year 25,856               197,985                845,964                172,583                227,560                             1,469,948 

Fund balances at end of year 32,351$             658,253$              1,021,177$           217,175$              257,932$              2,186,888$           
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City of Brookings 
Street Fund – Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 710,000$        710,000$        539,615$        (170,385)$       

Interest 2,200 2,200 12,417 10,217            

Miscellaneous 18,000 18,000 17,002 (998)                

Total revenues 730,200          730,200          569,034          (161,166)         

EXPENDITURES

Street maintenance 446,587 463,587 357,350 106,237          

Debt service 4,409              4,409              4,409              -                      

Capital outlay 250,000          250,000          2,500              247,500          

Contingency  139,834          139,834          -                      139,834          

Total expenditures 840,830          857,830          364,259          493,571          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over expenditures (110,630)         (127,630)         204,775          332,405          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in -                  17,000 17,000 -                      

Transfers out (119,370) (119,370) (119,370) -                      

Net change in fund balance (230,000)         (230,000)         102,405          332,405          

Fund balance at beginning of year 230,000          230,000          401,115          171,115          

Fund balance at end of year -$                    -$                    503,520$        503,520$        

Budget
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City of Brookings 
911 – Special Revenue Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

                                                                                            Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 260,000$        260,000$        315,757$        55,757$          

Interest 1,500              1,500              9,280              7,780              

Total revenues 261,500          261,500          325,037          63,537            

EXPENDITURES

911 Division 30,800            30,800            23,705            7,095              

Contingency  133,654          133,654          -                      133,654          

Debt Service 23,846            23,846            23,845            1                     

Capital outlay 115,000          115,000          23,872            91,128            

Total expenditures 303,300          303,300          71,422            231,878          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (41,800)           (41,800)           253,615          295,415          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (168,200)         (168,200)         (168,200)         -                      

Net change in fund balance (210,000)         (210,000)         85,415            295,415          

Fund balance at beginning of year 210,000          210,000          298,828          88,828            

Fund balance at end of year -$                    -$                    384,243$        384,243$        
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City of Brookings 
Special Police – Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 5,000$           5,000$           7,700$           2,700$           

Interest 500                500                2,109             1,609             

Miscellaneous 21,800           21,800           26,223           4,423             

Total revenues 27,300           27,300           36,032           8,732             

EXPENDITURES

Special police

K9 61,000           61,000           13,146           47,854           

Safety city 9,200             9,200             4,484             4,716             

Police reserves 16,800           16,800           -                     16,800           

Police VIPS 100                100                -                     100                

Grants program 17,200           17,200           807                16,393           

Total expenditures 104,300         104,300         18,437           85,863           

Net change in fund balance (77,000)          (77,000)          17,595           (94,595)          

Fund balance at beginning of year 77,000           77,000           63,151           13,849           

Fund balance at end of year -$                   -$                   80,746$         80,746$         

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Health Fair – Special Revenue Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Rentals -$                     -$                     -$                     

Total revenues -                       -                       -                       

EXPENDITURES

Health fair program 1,900               173                  1,727               

Total expenditures 1,900               173                  1,727               

Net change in fund balance (1,900)              (173)                 1,727               

Fund balance at beginning of year 1,900               1,989               89                    

Fund balance at end of year -$                     1,816$             1,816$             
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City of Brookings 
Special Fire – Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Licenses and permits 2,000$             1,506$             (494)$               

Interest 100                  407                  307                  

Total revenues 2,100               1,913               (187)                 

EXPENDITURES

Fire program 16,100             -                       16,100             

Total expenditures 16,100             -                       16,100             

Net change in fund balance (14,000)            1,913               15,913             

Fund balance at beginning of year 14,000             14,605             605                  

Fund balance at end of year -$                     16,518$           16,518$           
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City of Brookings 
Tourism – Special Revenue Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Transient tax 121,000$     121,000$     128,690$     7,690$         

Interest 200              200              4,535           4,335           

Total revenues 121,200       121,200       133,225       12,025         

EXPENDITURES

Tourism 225,148       225,148       90,338         134,810       

Total expenditures 225,148       225,148       90,338         134,810       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures (103,948)      (103,948)      42,887         146,835       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (16,052)        (16,052)        (16,052)        -                   

Net change in fund balance (120,000)      (120,000)      26,835         146,835       

Fund balance at beginning of year 150,000       150,000       201,556       51,556         

Fund balance at end of year 30,000$       30,000$       228,391$     198,391$     
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City of Brookings 
Airport Fund – Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 252,000$        14,969$          (237,031)$      

Licenses, permits and fees 3,100              2,981              (119)               

Interest -                      3,477              3,477              

Miscellaneous 28,800            29,224            424                 

Total revenues 283,900          50,651            (233,249)        

EXPENDITURES

Airport 305,215          82,068            223,147          

Contingency 33,685 -                      33,685            

Total expenditures 338,900          82,068            256,832          

Net change in fund balance (55,000)          (31,417)          23,583            

Fund balance at beginning of year 55,000            70,303            15,303            

Fund balance at end of year -$                    38,886            38,886$          

RECONCILIATION TO GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Lease receivable 60,011            

Deferred inflow - leases (50,690)          

48,207$          
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City of Brookings 
Urban Renewal Debt Service – Debt Service Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

EXPENDITURES

Debt service -$                   -$                   -$                   

Total expenditures -                     -                     -                     

Net change in fund balance -                     -                     -                     

Fund balance at beginning of year -                     511,500         511,500         

Fund balance at end of year -$                   511,500$       511,500$       

 
  

187



 

68 

City of Brookings 
Storm Loan – Debt Service Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

EXPENDITURES

Debt service 97,085$           97,060$           25$                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 97,085             97,060             25                    

Net change in fund balance -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance at beginning of year -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance at end of year -$                     -$                     -$                     
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69 

 
City of Brookings 
Governmental Loan – Debt Service Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 
 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Miscellaneous 126,000$         125,255$         745$                

EXPENDITURES

Debt service 126,000           125,255           745                  

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures -                       -                       -                       

Net change in fund balance -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance at beginning of year -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance at end of year -$                     -$                     -$                     
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City of Brookings 
Technology Reserve – Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Interest 150$            150$            113$            (37)$             

EXPENDITURES

Technology program 65,000         65,000         37,118         27,882         

Contingency  3,650           3,650           -                   3,650           

Total expenditures 68,650         68,650         37,118         31,532         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures (68,500)        (68,500)        (37,005)        31,495         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 96,700         96,700         96,700         -                   

Transfers out (53,200)        (53,200)        (53,200)        -                   

Total other financing sources

(uses) 43,500         43,500         43,500         -                   

Net change in fund balance (25,000)        (25,000)        6,495           31,495         

Fund balance at beginning of year 25,000         25,000         25,856         856              

Fund balance at end of year -$                 -$                 32,351$       32,351$       
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City of Brookings 
Street System Development – Capital Projects Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Improvement fees 24,000$       24,000$       27,019$       3,019$         

Reimbursement fees 6,000           6,000           6,623           623              

Grant revenue 2,844,600    2,844,600    465,370       (2,379,230)   

Interest 5,000           5,000           3,186           (1,814)          

Total revenues 2,879,600    2,879,600    502,198       (2,377,402)   

EXPENDITURES

Street Program 3,563,600    3,563,600    41,930         3,521,670    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (684,000)      (684,000)      460,268       1,144,268    

Net change in fund balance (684,000)      (684,000)      460,268       1,144,268    

Fund balance at beginning of year 684,000       684,000       197,985       (486,015)      

Fund balance at end of year -$                 -$                 658,253$     658,253$     

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Stormwater System Replacement – Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

System replacement fees 218,000$       232,510$       14,510$         

Interest 2,000             24,958           22,958           

Total revenues 220,000         257,468         37,468           

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 974,953         27,233           947,720         

Total expenditures 974,953         27,233           947,720         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (754,953)        230,235         985,188         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (55,047)          (55,022)          25                  

Total other financing sources (uses) (55,047)          (55,022)          25                  

Net change in fund balance (810,000)        175,213         985,213         

Fund balance at beginning of year 810,000         845,964         35,964           

Fund balance at end of year -$                   1,021,177$    1,021,177$    
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City of Brookings 
Parks and Recreations System Development – Capital Projects Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Improvement fees 15,000$       15,000$       33,433$       18,433$       

Reimbursement fees 3,000           3,000           5,843           2,843           

Interest 400              400              5,316           4,916           

Total revenues 18,400         18,400         44,592         26,192         

EXPENDITURES

Parks and recreation program 175,400       175,400       -                   175,400       

Total expenditures 175,400       175,400       -                   175,400       

Net change in fund balance (157,000)      (157,000)      44,592         (201,592)      

Fund balance at beginning of year 157,000       157,000       172,583       15,583         

Fund balance at end of year -$                 -$                 217,175$     217,175$     

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Stormwater System Development – Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Improvement fees 5,000$             9,972$             4,972$             

Reimbursement fees 6,000               13,896             7,896               

Interest 1,000               6,504               5,504               

Total revenues 12,000             30,372             18,372             

EXPENDITURES

Stormwater system 230,000           -                       230,000           

Total expenditures 230,000           -                       (230,000)          

Net change in fund balance (218,000)          30,372             248,372           

Fund balance at beginning of year 218,000           227,560           9,560               

Fund balance at end of year -$                     257,932$         257,932$         
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75 

 

City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Net Position – Water Fund 
Enterprise Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

 
Water

 System Water System  Water

Water Replacement Development Loan Totals

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and investments 289,308$           627,169$           268,083$           667,028$           1,851,588$        

Receivables, net 133,701             75,289               3,797                 -                         212,787             

Inventory 237,816             -                         -                         -                         237,816             

Total assets 660,825             702,458             271,880             667,028             2,302,191          

Noncurrent assets

Net OPEB asset 3,385                 -                         -                         -                         3,385                 

Capital assets

Land and construction in progress 1,684,255          -                         -                         -                         1,684,255          

Other capital assets, net 9,158,439          -                         -                         -                         9,158,439          

Total capital assets 10,842,694        -                         -                         -                         10,842,694        

Total noncurrent assets 10,846,079        -                         -                         -                         10,846,079        

Total assets 11,506,904        702,458             271,880             667,028             13,148,270        

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 201,126             -                         -                         -                         201,126             

OPEB related items 25                      -                         -                         -                         25                      

Total deferred outflows of resources 201,151             -                         -                         -                         201,151             

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

52,238               150,670             -                         -                         202,908             

Accrued interest payable 2,348                 16,291               -                         -                         18,639               

Consumer deposits 215,579             -                         -                         -                         215,579             

Compensated absences 10,351               -                         -                         -                         10,351               

Long-term liabilities due 

within one year 385,814             -                         -                         -                         385,814             

Total current liabilities 666,330             166,961             -                         -                         833,291             

Long-term liabilities

3,635,500          -                         -                         -                         3,635,500          

360,629             -                         -                         -                         360,629             

Total liabilities 4,662,459          166,961             -                         -                         4,829,420          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 149,655             -                         -                         -                         149,655             

OPEB related items 709                    -                         -                         -                         709                    

Total deferred inflows of resources 150,364             -                         -                         -                         150,364             

Net investment in capital assets 6,821,380          -                         -                         -                         6,821,380          

Restricted for

Capital projects -                         -                         271,880             271,880             

Debt service -                         -                         -                         667,028             667,028             

Unrestricted 73,852               535,497             -                         -                         609,349             

Total net position 6,895,232$        535,497$           271,880$           667,028$           8,369,637$        

Net pension liability

Long-term liabilities due in more one year

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, And Changes in Net Position – 

Water Fund 
Enterprise Funds 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Water

Water System System Water

Water Replacement Development Loan Totals

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services 1,822,779$    -$                     -$                   -$                   1,822,779$    

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personal services 411,126         -                       -                     -                     411,126         

Materials and services 802,054         -                       -                     -                     802,054         

Depreciation 458,169         -                       -                     -                     458,169         

Total operating expenses 1,671,349      -                       -                     -                     1,671,349      

Operating income 151,430         -                       -                     -                     151,430         

NONOPERATING REVENUES

(EXPENSES)

Interest income 24,527           13,467             6,550             -                     44,544           

Miscellaneous 49,641           -                       -                     -                     49,641           

Interest expense 22,926           (15,517)            -                     (35,039)         (27,630)         

Total nonoperating

revenues (expenses) 97,094           (2,050)              6,550             (35,039)         66,555           

Income (loss) before capital

contributions and transfers 248,524         (2,050)              6,550             (35,039)         217,985         

Capital contributions 377,198           50,610           427,808         

Transfers in 687,076         2,111,537        730,892         3,529,505      

Transfers out (752,196)       (2,640,382)       -                     (359,851)       (3,752,429)    

(65,120)         (151,647)          50,610           371,041         204,884         

Change in net position 183,404         (153,697)          57,160           336,002         422,869         

Total net position at beginning of year 6,711,828      689,194           214,720         331,026         7,946,768      

Total net position at end of year 6,895,232$    535,497$         271,880$       667,028$       8,369,637$    
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Water Fund 
Enterprise Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Water

Water System System

Water Replacement Development Water Loan Totals

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 1,820,860$    -$                   -$                   -$                   1,820,860$    

Payments to suppliers (827,979)        -                     -                     -                     (827,979)        

Payments to employees (428,046)        -                     -                     -                     (428,046)        

564,835         -                     -                     -                     564,835         

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers in 687,076         2,111,537      -                     730,891         3,529,504      

Transfers out (752,196)        (2,640,382)     -                     (359,851)        (3,752,429)     

Net cash provided by (used in)

noncapital financing activities (65,120)          (528,845)        -                     371,040         (222,925)        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND 

RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital grants -                     178,922         50,610           -                     229,532         

System development fees 49,641           537,953         -                     -                     587,594         

Acquisition of capital assets (2,405,778)     -                     -                     -                     (2,405,778)     

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 2,108,970      -                     -                     -                     2,108,970      

Principal paid on long-term liabilities (377,723)        (2,567)            -                     -                     (380,290)        

Interest paid on long-term liabilities 22,446           (1)                   -                     (35,039)          (12,594)          

Net cash provided by

(used in) capital and

related financing activities (602,444)        714,307         50,610           (35,039)          127,434         

CASH FLOWS FROM 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest on investments 24,527           13,467           6,550             -                     44,544           

Net increase (decrease) in cash (78,202)          198,929         57,160           336,001         513,888         

Cash - beginning of year 367,510         428,240         210,923         331,027         1,337,700      

Cash - end of year 289,308$       627,169$       268,083$       667,028$       1,851,588$    

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 

activities
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Water Fund  

Enterprise Funds (continued) 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Water

Water System System

Water Replacement Development Water Loan Totals

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 151,430$       -$                   -$                   -$                   151,430$       

Adjustments to reconcile

operating income to net cash

provided by (used in)

operating activities

Depreciation 458,169         -                     -                     -                     458,169         

Decrease (increase) in assets and deferred

outflows

Receivables (1,919)            -                     -                     -                     (1,919)            

Inventory (27,166)          -                     -                     -                     (27,166)          

Deposits (2,123)            -                     -                     -                     (2,123)            

Net OPEB asset (637)               -                     -                     -                     (637)               

Change in deferred outflows (14,180)          -                     -                     -                     (14,180)          

Increase (decrease) in liabilities

and deferred inflows

Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities 3,364             -                     -                     -                     3,364             

Net pension liability 110,800         -                     -                     -                     110,800         

Change in deferred inflows (112,903)        -                     -                     -                     (112,903)        

Net cash provided by

(used in) operating

activities 564,835$       -$                   -$                   -$                   564,835$       
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Net Position – Wastewater Fund 
Enterprise Funds 
June 30, 2023 

 

 
Wastewater Wastewater

Wastewater System System

Wastewater Loan Replacement Development Totals

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and investments 681,263$         1,121,065$      2,588,198$      2,431,694$      6,822,220$      

Receivables 267,891           -                       17,019             10,618             295,528           

Inventory 61,101             -                       -                       -                       61,101             

Total assets 1,010,255        1,121,065        2,605,217        2,442,312        7,178,849        

Noncurrent assets

Net OPEB asset 4,957               -                       -                       -                       4,957               

Capital assets -                       -                       -                       -                       

Land and construction in progress 658,418           -                       -                       -                       658,418           

Other capital assets, net 7,511,848        -                       -                       -                       7,511,848        

Total capital assets 8,170,266        -                       -                       -                       8,170,266        

Total noncurrent assets 8,175,223        -                       -                       -                       8,175,223        

Total assets 9,185,478        1,121,065        2,605,217        2,442,312        15,354,072      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 294,328           -                       -                       -                       294,328           

OPEB related items 40                    -                       -                       -                       40                    

Total deferred outflows of resources 294,368           -                       -                       -                       294,368           

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

102,641           -                       70,389             -                       173,030           

Accrued interest payable 92                    -                       -                       -                       92                    

Consumer deposits -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Compensated absences 18,435             -                       -                       -                       18,435             

Long-term liabilities due 

within one year 27,604             -                       -                       -                       27,604             

Total current liabilities 148,772           -                       70,389             -                       219,161           

Long-term liabilities

Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 63,172             -                       -                       -                       63,172             

Net pension liability 527,743           -                       -                       -                       527,743           

Total liabilities 739,687           -                       70,389             -                       810,076           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension related items 219,007           -                       -                       -                       219,007           

OPEB related items 1,040               -                       -                       -                       1,040               

Total deferred inflows of resources 220,047           -                       -                       -                       220,047           

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 8,079,490        -                       -                       -                       8,079,490        

Restricted for

Capital projects -                       -                       -                       2,442,312        2,442,312        

Debt service -                       1,121,065        -                       -                       1,121,065        

Unrestricted 440,622           -                       2,534,828        -                       2,975,450        

Total net position 8,520,112$      1,121,065$      2,534,828$      2,442,312$      14,618,317$    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, And Changes in Net Position – 

Wastewater Fund 
Enterprise Funds 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Wastewater Wastewater

Wastewater System System

Wastewater Loan Replacement Development Totals

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services 3,347,195$     -$                    -$                    -$                    3,347,195$     

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personal services 623,766          -                      -                      -                      623,766          

Materials and services 1,171,642       -                      -                      -                      1,171,642       

Depreciation 854,300          -                      -                      -                      854,300          

Total operating expenses 2,649,708       -                      -                      -                      2,649,708       

Operating income (loss) 697,487          -                      -                      -                      697,487          

NONOPERATING REVENUES

(EXPENSES)

Interest income 69,217            -                      40,556            60,976            170,749          

Interest expense (2,808)             -                      233                 -                      (2,575)             

Total nonoperating

revenues (expenses) 66,409            -                      40,789            60,976            168,174          

Income (loss) before capital

contributions and transfers 763,896          -                      40,789            60,976            865,661          

Capital contributions -                      -                      186,992          298,563          485,555          

Transfers in 617,325          -                      1,369,767       -                      1,987,092       

Transfers out (1,562,956)      -                      (651,590)         -                      (2,214,546)      

Change in net position (181,735)         -                      945,958          359,539          1,123,762       

Total net position at beginning of year 8,701,847       1,121,065       1,588,870       2,082,773       13,494,555     

Total net position at end of year 8,520,112$     1,121,065$     2,534,828$     2,442,312$     14,618,317$   
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Wastewater Fund 
Enterprise Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Wastewater Wastewater

Wastewater System System

Wastewater Loan Replacement Development Totals

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 3,349,097$   -$                  -$                  -$                  3,349,097$   

Payments to suppliers (1,186,584)    -                    -                    -                    (1,186,584)    

Payments to employees (645,302)       -                    -                    -                    (645,302)       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 

activities 1,517,211     -                    -                    -                    1,517,211     

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers in 548,039        -                    1,439,053     -                    1,987,092     

Transfers out (1,562,956)    -                    (651,590)       -                    (2,214,546)    

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital 

financing activities (1,014,917)    -                    787,463        -                    (227,454)       

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital grants -                    -                    185,992        298,563        484,555        

Acquisition of capital assets (587,910)       -                    -                    -                    (587,910)       

Principal paid on long-term liabilities (23,802)         -                    (30,765)         -                    (54,567)         

Interest paid on long-term liabilities (2,722)           -                    -                    -                    (2,722)           

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and

related financing activities (614,434)       -                    155,227        298,563        (160,644)       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest on investments 69,217          1                   40,556          60,976          170,750        

Net increase (decrease) in cash (42,923)         1                   983,246        359,539        1,299,863     

Cash - beginning of year 724,186        1,121,064     1,604,952     2,072,155     5,522,357     

Cash - end of year 681,263$      1,121,065$   2,588,198$   2,431,694$   6,822,220$   
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City of Brookings 
Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Wastewater Fund  

Enterprise Funds (continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 
Wastewater Wastewater

Wastewater System System

Wastewater Loan Replacement Development Totals

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 697,487$      -$                  -$                  -$                  697,487$      

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to 

net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities

Depreciation 854,300        -                    -                    -                    854,300        

Decrease (increase) in assets and deferred outflows

Receivables 1,902            -                    -                    -                    1,902            

Inventory (2,356)           -                    -                    -                    (2,356)           

Net OPEB asset (966)              -                    -                    -                    (966)              

Pension and OPEB related items (23,038)         -                    -                    -                    (23,038)         

Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (11,546)         -                    -                    -                    (11,546)         

Consumer deposits -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Compensated absences payable (728)              -                    -                    -                    (728)              

Net pension liability 165,201        -                    -                    -                    165,201        

Pension and OPEB related items (163,045)       -                    -                    -                    (163,045)       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities 1,517,211$   -$                  -$                  -$                  1,517,211$   
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City of Brookings 
Water – Enterprise Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Charges for services 1,885,000$       1,885,000$       1,822,779$       (62,221)$          

Interest 8,000               8,000               24,527             16,527             

Other 40,000             40,000             49,641             9,641               

Total revenues 1,933,000        1,933,000        1,896,947        (36,053)            

EXPENDITURES

Water distribution 652,358           652,358           619,472           32,886             

Water treatment 584,613           590,613           574,046           16,567             

Debt service 30,679             30,679             28,757             1,922               

Contingency  143,154           137,154           -                       137,154           

Total expenditures 1,410,804        1,410,804        1,222,275        188,529           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures 522,196           522,196           674,672           152,476           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (752,196)          (752,196)          (752,196)          -                       

Total other financing 

sources (uses) (752,196)          (752,196)          (752,196)          -                       

Net change in fund balance (230,000)          (230,000)          (77,524)            152,476           

Fund balance at beginning of year 230,000           230,000           232,716           2,716               

Fund balance at end of year -$                     -$                     155,192           155,192$         

RECONCILIATION TO GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Inventory 237,816           

Capital assets, net 10,842,694       

Pension related items (309,158)          

Accrued interest payable (2,348)              

Compensated absences payable (10,351)            

Long-term liabilities (4,021,314)       

OPEB related items 2,701               

Net position at end of year 6,895,232$       

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Water System Replacement – Enterprise Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Grants -$                 -$                  148,940$     148,940$     

System replacement fees 157,000       157,000        168,258       11,258         

Interest 1,000           1,000            13,467         12,467         

Total revenues 158,000       158,000        330,665       172,665       

EXPENDITURES

Water system maintenance 687,145       4,862,145     2,469,527    2,392,618    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures (529,145)     (4,704,145)    (2,138,862)  2,565,283    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Issuance of debt proceeds -                   (4,175,000)    2,108,970    6,283,970    

Transfers out (170,855)     (170,855)       (170,855)     -                   

Total other financing 

sources (uses) (170,855)     (4,345,855)    1,938,115    6,283,970    

Net change in fund balance (700,000)     (9,050,000)    (200,747)     8,849,253    

Fund balance at beginning of year 700,000       9,050,000     692,535       (8,357,465)  

Fund balance at end of year -$                 -$                  491,788       491,788$     

Unavailable revenue 60,000         

Accrued interest payable (16,291)        

Net position at end of year 535,497$     

Budget

RECONCILIATION TO GENERALLY 

ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
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City of Brookings 
Water System Development – Enterprise Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Improvement fees 40,000$       42,520$       2,520$         

Reimbursement fees 7,000           8,090           1,090           

Interest -                   6,550           6,550           

Total revenues 47,000         57,160         10,160         

EXPENDITURES

Water system 237,000       -                   237,000       

Total expenditures 237,000       -                   237,000       

Net change in fund balance (190,000)      57,160         247,160       

Fund balance at beginning of year 190,000       210,923       20,923         

Fund balance at end of year -$                 268,083       268,083$     

Unavailable revenue 3,797           

Net position at end of year 271,880$     

RECONCILIATION TO GENERALLY ACCEPTED 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
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City of Brookings 
Water Loan – Enterprise Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

EXPENDITURES

Debt service 562,892$     394,890$     168,002$     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (562,892)      (394,890)      168,002       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 730,892       730,892       -                   

Net change in fund balance 168,000       336,002       168,002       

Fund balance at beginning of year (168,000)      331,026       499,026       

Fund balance at end of year -$                 667,028$     667,028$     
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City of Brookings 
Wastewater – Enterprise Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Original Final Actual Variance

REVENUES

Charges for services 3,503,800$     3,503,350$     3,347,195$     (156,155)$     

Interest 10,000            10,000            69,217            59,217           

Total revenues 3,513,800       3,513,350       3,416,412       (96,938)         

EXPENDITURES

Wastewater collection 874,741          874,741          738,086          136,655         

Wastewater treatment 1,173,011       1,182,511       1,118,852       63,659           

Debt service 30,679            30,679            28,757            1,922             

Contingency  242,413          228,413          -                      228,413         

Total expenditures 2,320,844       2,316,344       1,885,695       430,649         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures 1,192,956       1,197,006       1,530,717       333,711         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (1,562,956)      (1,562,956)      (1,562,956)      -                    

Total other financing 

sources (uses) (1,562,956)      (1,562,956)      (1,562,956)      -                    

Net change in fund balance (370,000)         (365,950)         (32,239)           333,711         

Fund balance at beginning of year 370,000          370,000          878,752          508,752         

Fund balance at end of year -$                    4,050$            846,513          842,463$       

RECONCILIATION TO GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Inventory 61,101            

Capital assets, net 8,170,266       

Pension related items (452,422)         

Accrued interest payable (92)                  

Compensated absences payable (18,435)           

Long-term liabilities (90,776)           

OPEB related items 3,957              

Net position at end of year 8,520,112$     

Budget
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City of Brookings 
Wastewater Loan – Enterprise Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

EXPENDITURES

Debt service 1,114,000$    -$                   1,114,000$    

Contingency 1,122,716      -                     1,122,716      

Total expenditures 2,236,716      -                     2,236,716      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (2,236,716)    -                     2,236,716      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 1,114,000      -                     (1,114,000)    

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,114,000      -                     (1,114,000)    

Net change in fund balance (1,122,716)    -                     1,122,716      

Fund balance at beginning of year 1,122,716      1,121,065      (1,651)            

Fund balance at end of year -$                   1,121,065$    1,121,065$    
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City of Brookings 
Wastewater System Replacement – Enterprise Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

System replacement fees 178,000$       186,992$       8,992$           

Interest 5,000             40,556           35,556           

Total revenues 183,000         227,548         44,548           

EXPENDITURES

Wastewater system maintenance 29,538,735    617,325         28,921,410    

Total expenditures 29,538,735    617,325         28,921,410    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (29,355,735)  (389,777)        28,965,958    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Issuance of long-term obligations 24,996,000    -                     (24,996,000)  

Transfers in 225,000         1,339,000      1,114,000      

Transfers out (34,265)          (34,265)          -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) 25,186,735    1,304,735      (23,882,000)  

Net change in fund balance (4,169,000)    914,958         5,083,958      

Fund balance at beginning of year 4,169,000      1,619,870      (2,549,130)    

Fund balance at end of year -$                   2,534,828$    2,534,828$    
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City of Brookings 
Wastewater System Development – Enterprise Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget to Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Improvement fees 60,000$         88,556$         28,556$         

Reimbursement fees 130,000         210,007         80,007           

Interest 2,000             60,976           58,976           

Total revenues 192,000         359,539         167,539         

EXPENDITURES

Wastewater system 2,092,000      -                     2,092,000      

Total expenditures 2,092,000      -                     2,092,000      

Net change in fund balance (1,900,000)    359,539         2,259,539      

Fund balance at beginning of year 1,900,000      2,072,155      172,155         

Fund balance at end of year -$                   2,431,694      2,431,694$    

Unavailable revenue 10,618           

Net position at end of year 2,442,312$    

RECONCILIATION TO GENERALLY ACCEPTED 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
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City of Brookings 
Schedule of Property Tax Transactions 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

CITY OF BROOKINGS 

 

Taxes Taxes

Receivable Discounts and Receivable

Tax Year July 1, 2022 Current Levy Adjustments Collections June 30, 2023

2022-23 -$                   3,273,746$    (87,183)$        (3,094,797)$  91,766$         

2021-22 74,663           -                     (76)                 (40,960)          33,627           

2020-21 30,481           -                     (46)                 (14,108)          16,327           

2019-20 18,437           -                     (112)               (9,578)            8,747             

2018-19 7,868             -                     (72)                 (5,393)            2,403             

2017-18 1,611             -                     (5)                   (341)               1,265             

2016-17 1,115             -                     -                     (245)               870                

Prior years 8,946             -                     (135)               (172)               8,639             

143,121$       3,273,746$    (87,629)$        (3,165,594)$  163,644$       

 
BROOKINGS URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 

 

Receivable Discounts and Receivable

Tax Year July 1, 2022 Current Levy Adjustments Collections June 30, 2023

2022-23 -$                   743,891$       (19,803)$        (703,184)$     20,904$         

2021-22 15,620           -                     (16)                 (8,569)            7,035             

2020-21 6,835             -                     (11)                 (3,164)            3,660             

2019-20 3,763             -                     (23)                 (1,955)            1,785             

2018-19 1,751             -                     (16)                 (1,200)            535                

2017-18 354                -                     (1)                   (75)                 278                

2016-17 230                -                     -                     (51)                 179                

Prior years 1,538             -                     (23)                 (30)                 1,485             

30,091$         743,891$       (19,893)$        (718,228)$     35,861$         
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93 See notes to schedule of expenditurse of federal awards. 

 

City of Brookings 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Assistance Agency or

Listing Pass Thru

Number Contract Expenditures

U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

Passed Through Oregon Business Development Department

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Cluster 66.468 S22005 $2,112,224

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Direct Program

Airport Improvement Program

   COVID-19 Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Program 20.106 n/a 13,000         

   COVID-19 - CARES Act Grant Offer 20.106 n/a 30,000         

   Brookings Airport Master Plan 20.106 n/a 60,630         

Subtotal ALN 20.106 and U.S. Department of Transportation 103,630       

Total federal expenditures $2,215,854

Federal Grantor / Pass-Through Grantor / Program Title
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City of Brookings 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 

Note 1 – Basis of Presentation 

 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant activity of the 

City of Brookings (the City) under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 

Federal  Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 

Requirements of Federal Awards. Because the schedule presents only a selected portion of the 

operations of the City, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net 

position or cash flow of the City. 

 

 

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented using the modified accrual 

basis of accounting.  Expenditures reported on this schedule are recognized following the cost principles 

in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CRF) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements of Federal Awards, where certain types of expenditures are not 

allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented 

where applicable and available. 

 

The City has not elected to use the 10% de minimis cost rate. 

 

 

Note 3 –  Outstanding Loan Balances 

 

The federal loan programs listed below are administered directly by the City, and balances and 

transactions relating to these programs are included in the City's basic financial statements.  Loans made 

during the year are included in the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule. 

 

At June 30, 2023, outstanding loan balances were as follows: 

 
Federal ALN         Loan Balance 
      Number                                 Program Title                                Receivable    

 
    66.468    Oregon Business Development Department  

Safe Drinking Water           $   2,566,787       
 

 
 
             $   2,566,787 
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Report of Independent Auditors Required by Oregon State 
Regulations 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Brookings, Oregon 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, budgetary statement for the general fund and 
urban renewal special revenue fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Brookings, Oregon (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Brookings, Oregon’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 8, 2023. 

Compliance 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s basic financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, including provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 
as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 162-010-0000 to 162-010-0330, of the Minimum 
Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. 

We performed procedures to the extent we considered necessary to address the required comments 
and disclosures which included, but were not limited to, the following: 

 Accounting records and internal control 

 Public fund deposits 

 Indebtedness  

 Budget 

 Insurance and fidelity bonds 

 Programs funded from outside sources 

 Highway funds 

 Investments 

 Public contracts and purchasing 
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In connection with our testing, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe the City was 
not in substantial compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, including the provisions of ORS as specified in OAR 162-010-0000 through 162-010-
0330 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the council members and management of 
the City and the Oregon Secretary of State and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these parties. 

Amanda McCleary-Moore, Partner 
for Moss Adams LLP 
Medford, Oregon 
December 8, 2023 
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Brookings, Oregon 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, budgetary statement for the 
general fund and urban renewal special revenue fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of City of Brookings, Oregon (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated December 8, 2023. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Medford, Oregon 
December 8, 2023 
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance for the Major Federal 
Program and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the 
Uniform Guidance 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Brookings, Oregon 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Brookings, Oregon’s (the City) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on the City's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. The 
City's major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended 
June 30, 2023. 

Basis for Opinion on Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government 
Auditing Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the City’s federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the City's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always 
detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 
resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood 
that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of 
the report on compliance about the City's compliance with the requirements of the major federal 
program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the City's compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the City's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report 
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 
all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Medford, Oregon 
December 8, 2023 
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Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial 

statements audited were prepared in accordance with 

GAAP: Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? Yes No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes No 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major federal programs: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? Yes No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes None reported 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported 
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes No 

Identification of major federal programs and type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major 
federal programs: 

Federal Assistance 
Listing Numbers Name of Major Federal Program or Cluster 

Type of Auditor’s Report 
Issued on Compliance for 
Major Federal Programs 

66.468 Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
Cluster 

Unmodified 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and 
type B programs: $750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes No 

Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

None reported 

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

None reported 
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City of Brookings Check Register - Summary Page:     1

Check Issue Dates: 11/1/2023 - 11/30/2023 Dec 05, 2023  03:43PM

Report Criteria:

Report type:  Summary

GL Check Check Vendor Check GL Account Amount

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee

11/23 11/02/2023 90812 5908 Amazon Capital Services 10-00-2005 429.75

11/23 11/02/2023 90813 313 Brookings Vol Firefighters 10-00-2005 2,250.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90814 715 Budge McHugh Supply 20-00-2005 3,402.91

11/23 11/02/2023 90815 2364 C & S Fire-Safe Services LLC 20-00-2005 713.52

11/23 11/02/2023 90816 5567 CAL/OR Insurance Agency 30-00-2005 683.33

11/23 11/02/2023 90817 588 Cardinal Services Inc 10-00-2005 988.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90818 6031 Cascade Home Center 20-00-2005 1,371.40

11/23 11/02/2023 90819 193 Central Equipment Co, Inc 10-00-2005 54.13

11/23 11/02/2023 90820 5842 Century West Engineering Corp 33-00-2005 11,820.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90821 3015 Charter Communications 30-00-2005 749.96

11/23 11/02/2023 90822 5822 Chaves Consulting Inc 49-00-2005 370.20

11/23 11/02/2023 90823 5952 Chetco Auto Marine & Industrial Supply 20-00-2005 104.48

11/23 11/02/2023 90824 3834 Clean Sweep Janitorial Service 33-00-2005 2,345.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90825 5827 Coastal Investments LLC 10-00-2005 960.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90826 1745 Coastal Paper & Supply, Inc 10-00-2005 1,165.16

11/23 11/02/2023 90827 5734 Jose Contreras 10-00-2005 937.18

11/23 11/02/2023 90828 182 Coos-Curry Electric 10-00-2005 10,522.13

11/23 11/02/2023 90829 6078 Curry County Reporter 10-00-2005 315.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90830 317 DCBS - Fiscal Services 10-00-2005 554.64

11/23 11/02/2023 90831 1 Karl & Amy Frandsen 20-00-2005 278.82

11/23 11/02/2023 90832 1 Chelsea Lopez 20-00-2005 266.95

11/23 11/02/2023 90833 1 Baptist Community Church 20-00-2005 14.83

11/23 11/02/2023 90834 1 Cynthia Gil 20-00-2005 75.05

11/23 11/02/2023 90835 1 Jeremiah Scott 20-00-2005 20.51

11/23 11/02/2023 90836 1 Utilities One 20-00-2005 300.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90837 1 Worthington Pipeline 20-00-2005 245.04

11/23 11/02/2023 90838 1 Natalie Zenkus 20-00-2005 191.54

11/23 11/02/2023 90839 5804 Early Management Team Inc 50-00-2005 2,000.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90840 6235 Firecom 10-00-2005 125.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90841 5432 First Community Credit Union 25-00-2005 4,662.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90842 6097 GP Energy 10-00-2005 3,211.06

11/23 11/02/2023 90843 6106 Hastings Bulb Growers Inc 10-00-2005 9,810.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90844 4980 iSecure 10-00-2005 33.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90845 328 Les Schwab Tire Center 10-00-2005 2,698.60

11/23 11/02/2023 90846 4269 Gary Milliman 10-00-2005 325.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90847 4443 Napa Auto Parts-Golder's 20-00-2005 50.25

11/23 11/02/2023 90848 4487 Net Assets Corporation 10-00-2005 240.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90849 3561 Oil Can Henry's 10-00-2005 87.18

11/23 11/02/2023 90850 687 Owen Equipment Company 25-00-2005 50.88

11/23 11/02/2023 90851 6240 Brandon Pereda 10-00-2005 91.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90852 322 Postmaster 20-00-2005 1,075.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90853 207 Quill Corporation 10-00-2005 251.12

11/23 11/02/2023 90854 6229 Wayne E Sheffel Jr 10-00-2005 417.75

11/23 11/02/2023 90855 5979 LeeAnn Spring Sheffel 10-00-2005 714.35

11/23 11/02/2023 90856 6239 Jan Sirchuk 75-00-2005 10,996.00

11/23 11/02/2023 90857 2863 Verizon Wireless 10-00-2005 714.68

11/23 11/02/2023 90858 5992 Ziply Fiber 10-00-2005 16.13

11/23 11/09/2023 90859 5908 Amazon Capital Services 10-00-2005 203.51

11/23 11/09/2023 90860 4734 Aramark Uniform Services 10-00-2005 120.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90861 5767 Axon Enterprise Inc 10-00-2005 6,289.20

11/23 11/09/2023 90862 4939 Bi - Mart Corporation 20-00-2005 38.96

11/23 11/09/2023 90863 2407 Blue Star Gas 10-00-2005 1,234.95

11/23 11/09/2023 90864 6116 Brookings Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram 10-00-2005 127.88

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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11/23 11/09/2023 90865 5048 Brookings Harbor Medical Center 10-00-2005 150.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90866 6039 Business Oregon 10-00-2005 9,980.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90867 2364 C & S Fire-Safe Services LLC 10-00-2005 291.75

11/23 11/09/2023 90868 5070 Canon Solutions America 10-00-2005 101.05

11/23 11/09/2023 90869 588 Cardinal Services Inc 10-00-2005 988.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90870 193 Central Equipment Co, Inc 10-00-2005 165.50

11/23 11/09/2023 90871 5842 Century West Engineering Corp 33-00-2005 22,033.63

11/23 11/09/2023 90872 5939 Country Media Inc 25-00-2005 180.33

11/23 11/09/2023 90873 185 Del Cur Supply 10-00-2005 75.02

11/23 11/09/2023 90874 153 Ferrellgas 25-00-2005 430.09

11/23 11/09/2023 90875 4989 Gaylord Klinefelter Contracting Inc 25-00-2005 45,400.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90876 139 Harbor Logging Supply 10-00-2005 1,261.34

11/23 11/09/2023 90877 6030 Hartwick Automotive LLC 10-00-2005 68.19

11/23 11/09/2023 90878 5754 iFocus Consulting Inc 49-00-2005 2,575.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90879 5858 Jacobs Engineering Group Inc 25-00-2005 132,129.50

11/23 11/09/2023 90880 5860 Lane Council of Governments 10-00-2005 173.25

11/23 11/09/2023 90881 4741 M & J Glazebrook Construction 53-00-2005 5,366.04

11/23 11/09/2023 90882 3159 NorthCoast Health Screening 10-00-2005 45.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90883 4324 OGFOA 10-00-2005 120.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90884 4781 Oregon Health Authority 10-00-2005 275.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90885 5008 Online Information Services 10-00-2005 128.74

11/23 11/09/2023 90886 1561 Pacific Coast Hearing Center 10-00-2005 125.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90887 4 Tyler Bronson 10-00-2005 258.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90888 4 Destiny Cook 10-00-2005 233.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90889 5101 Pitney Bowes Reserve Acct 10-00-2005 500.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90890 207 Quill Corporation 10-00-2005 182.99

11/23 11/09/2023 90891 486 Dept of Forestry 10-00-2005 1,225.89

11/23 11/09/2023 90892 797 Town & Country Animal Clinic 61-00-2005 129.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90893 4542 Umpqua Bank 45-00-2005 5,322.00

11/23 11/09/2023 90894 861 Village Express Mail Center 10-00-2005 26.37

11/23 11/09/2023 90895 5965 Virtru Corporation 10-00-2005 2,243.34

11/23 11/09/2023 90896 2122 Cardmember Service 15-00-2005 9,931.86

11/23 11/09/2023 90897 5992 Ziply Fiber 10-00-2005 342.44

11/23 11/16/2023 90898 5908 Amazon Capital Services 49-00-2005 224.35

11/23 11/16/2023 90899 6121 AutoZone Inc 10-00-2005 71.93

11/23 11/16/2023 90900 588 Cardinal Services Inc 10-00-2005 988.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90901 5842 Century West Engineering Corp 33-00-2005 12,415.81

11/23 11/16/2023 90902 4746 Curry County Treasurer 10-00-2005 48.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90903 173 Curry Equipment 10-00-2005 1,899.64

11/23 11/16/2023 90904 5224 Department of Administrative Services 25-00-2005 900.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90905 371 Dept. of Environmental Quality 25-00-2005 1,527.76

11/23 11/16/2023 90906 5951 Executech Utah LLC 49-00-2005 30.60

11/23 11/16/2023 90907 6235 Firecom 10-00-2005 125.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90908 282 Gov't Finance Officers Assn 10-00-2005 150.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90909 1130 H.D. Fowler 20-00-2005 3,850.79

11/23 11/16/2023 90910 4526 Janell K. Howard 10-00-2005 378.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90911 5858 Jacobs Engineering Group Inc 53-00-2005 29,722.64

11/23 11/16/2023 90912 6065 Local Government Law Group PC 10-00-2005 6,582.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90913 6237 Miller Nash LLP 10-00-2005 18,660.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90914 5501 Natures Coastal Holiday 32-00-2005 5,000.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90915 5155 Oregon Department of Revenue 10-00-2005 189.25

11/23 11/16/2023 90916 6122 Owens Pump & Equipment 52-00-2005 22,334.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90917 6129 Pacific Coast Properties LLC 75-00-2005 659.50

11/23 11/16/2023 90918 4 Lori Barrera 10-00-2005 244.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90919 4 John Miller 10-00-2005 244.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90920 5768 Proficient Auto Center Inc 10-00-2005 1,590.40

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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11/23 11/16/2023 90921 267 SeaWestern Fire Fighting Equip 10-00-2005 21.84

11/23 11/16/2023 90922 6241 Seek Thermal Inc 10-00-2005 190.00

11/23 11/16/2023 90923 380 Stadelman Electric Inc 10-00-2005 3,510.09

11/23 11/16/2023 90924 142 Tidewater Contractors Inc 75-00-2005 8,893.05

11/23 11/16/2023 90925 169 Waste Connections Inc 50-00-2005 2,111.43

11/23 11/16/2023 90926 1253 Western Burner Co Inc 53-00-2005 6,176.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90927 5908 Amazon Capital Services 49-00-2005 497.03

11/23 11/22/2023 90928 588 Cardinal Services Inc 10-00-2005 988.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90929 1 Tim Lycett 20-00-2005 300.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90930 1 Patrick Fadden 20-00-2005 11.84

11/23 11/22/2023 90931 1 Norbert Roetzer 20-00-2005 252.35

11/23 11/22/2023 90932 1 Jamie Ryan 20-00-2005 33.35

11/23 11/22/2023 90933 1 Juan Miguel Arredondo 20-00-2005 6.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90934 1 Howard & Howard 20-00-2005 300.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90935 1 Pave Northwest Inc 20-00-2005 300.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90936 1 Thomas & Shelley Yockey 20-00-2005 132.91

11/23 11/22/2023 90937 4518 Government Ethics Commission 10-00-2005 1,323.95

11/23 11/22/2023 90938 6097 GP Energy 10-00-2005 2,146.10

11/23 11/22/2023 90939 5789 Moss Adams LLP 10-00-2005 5,156.25

11/23 11/22/2023 90940 5584 Northwoods Overhead Door 10-00-2005 778.80

11/23 11/22/2023 90941 5155 Oregon Department of Revenue 10-00-2005 297.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90942 687 Owen Equipment Company 25-00-2005 76.62

11/23 11/22/2023 90943 207 Quill Corporation 10-00-2005 442.85

11/23 11/22/2023 90944 1840 Rogue Credit Union 10-00-2005 30,579.01

11/23 11/22/2023 90945 3369 Schwabe Williamson & Wyatt PC 20-00-2005 2,339.00

11/23 11/22/2023 90946 5992 Ziply Fiber 25-00-2005 1,040.66

11/23 11/30/2023 90947 5070 Canon Solutions America 10-00-2005 298.77

11/23 11/30/2023 90948 588 Cardinal Services Inc 10-00-2005 988.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90949 6031 Cascade Home Center 20-00-2005 322.56

11/23 11/30/2023 90950 182 Coos-Curry Electric 10-00-2005 11,131.60

11/23 11/30/2023 90951 1 BMC Trucking & Excavation 20-00-2005 225.66

11/23 11/30/2023 90952 5344 Dooley Enterprises, Inc 10-00-2005 1,899.32

11/23 11/30/2023 90953 5004 Galls LLC 10-00-2005 135.67

11/23 11/30/2023 90954 6030 Hartwick Automotive LLC 10-00-2005 134.58

11/23 11/30/2023 90955 5754 iFocus Consulting Inc 49-00-2005 900.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90956 4980 iSecure 10-00-2005 33.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90957 6242 Lewis Industries LLC 10-00-2005 450.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90958 5789 Moss Adams LLP 75-00-2005 31,150.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90959 4901 Mountain View Paving, Inc 25-00-2005 4,597.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90960 5956 Municipal Emergency Services 50-00-2005 39,853.84

11/23 11/30/2023 90961 329 New Hope Plumbing 10-00-2005 125.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90962 6245 Oregon Parks & Recreation Dept 10-00-2005 68.20

11/23 11/30/2023 90963 6244 Oregon Utility Notification Center 20-00-2005 50.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90964 5703 PacWest Machinery 15-00-2005 1,044.15

11/23 11/30/2023 90965 207 Quill Corporation 10-00-2005 125.12

11/23 11/30/2023 90966 6243 Southern Oregon Trees and Stumps LLC 10-00-2005 2,490.00

11/23 11/30/2023 90967 956 Suiter's Paint & Body 10-00-2005 75.45

11/23 11/30/2023 90968 2863 Verizon Wireless 10-00-2005 714.68

11/23 11/30/2023 90969 861 Village Express Mail Center 10-00-2005 133.81

11/23 11/30/2023 90970 4220 Woof's Dog Bakery 61-00-2005 63.99

11/23 11/30/2023 90971 5992 Ziply Fiber 30-00-2005 190.07

          Grand Totals:  602,110.62

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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   Page 1 of 1 

City of Brookings 

URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY MEETING MINUTES 
City Hall Council Chambers, 898 Elk Drive, Brookings, OR 97415 

Monday, October 9, 2023 
 

Call to Order 
Chair Hedenskog called the meeting to order at 8:10 PM 
 

Roll Call 
Agency Present: Chair Ron Hedenskog, Directors Isaac Hodges, Andy Martin, Michelle Morosky, and Ed 
Schrieber; a quorum present 
 

Staff present: City Manager Janell Howard, Public Works and Development Services Director Anthony 
Baron and Deputy Recorder Brooklyn Osterhage 
 

Media Present: 2 
Others Present: 0  
 

Consent Calendar 
1. Approve Urban Renewal meeting minutes for June 26, 2023. 

 

Chair Hedenskog moved, Director Schreiber seconded, and Agency voted unanimously to 
approve the Consent Calendar. 
 

Staff Reports  
1. City Hall Fire Bay Doors 
Tony Baron presented the staff report. 
 

Chair Hedenskog moved, Director Morosky seconded and Agency voted unanimously to 
authorize City Manager to sign an agreement with American Industrial Door LLC in the 
amount of $91,350 for the installation of new fire bay doors at City Hall. 
 
2. Alder Street Parking Lot sidewalk and paving projects 
Tony Baron presented the staff report. 
 
Chair Hedenskog moved, Director Schreiber seconded and Agency voted unanimously to 
authorize City Manager to sign agreement with Klinefelter Contracting for the Alder Street 
sidewalk project in the amount of $74,668 and to authorize City Manager to sign 
agreement with Tidewater Contractors Inc. for the Alder Street parking lot paving project 
to Tidewater Contractors Inc. in the amount of $59,878. 
 

Adjournment 
Chair Hedenskog moved and Agency voted unanimously to adjourn the meeting at 8:25 PM. 
 

 

Respectfully submitted: 
 ATTESTED: 

this 11th day of December, 2023: 

 

  

 
Andy Martin, URA Chair  Janell K. Howard, City Recorder 
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Annual Financial Report 

Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Report of Independent Auditors 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major 
fund and budgetary statement for the general (special revenue) fund of the Brookings Urban Renewal 
Agency (the Agency), a component unit of the City of Brookings, Oregon, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the Agency’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the 
Brookings Urban Renewal Agency as of June 30, 2023 , and the respective changes in financial 
position and budgetary statement for the general (special revenue) fund for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Agency and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Financial Reporting Entity 

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Agency and do not purport to, and 
do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Brookings, Oregon as of June 30, 2023, the 
changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our 
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Brookings 
the Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement 
date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Brookings Urban Renewal Agency’s internal control. Accordingly,
no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about Brookings Urban Renewal Agency’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control–related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 's basic financial statements. The 
budgetary comparison for the debt service (major fund) and schedule of property tax transactions 
(collectively the supplementary information) are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are 
not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is 
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal 
Corporations 

In accordance with the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have 
issued our report dated December 8, 2023, on our consideration of the Agency’s compliance with 
certain provisions of laws and regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as 
specified in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-010-0000 through 162-010-0330 of the Minimum 
Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations. The purpose of that report is to describe the 
scope of our testing of compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on 
compliance. 

Amanda McCleary-Moore, Partner, 
for Moss Adams LLP 
Medford, Oregon 
December 8, 2023 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

This discussion and analysis presents the highlights of financial activities and financial position 

for the Brookings Urban Renewal Agency (Agency), component unit of the City of Brookings, 

Oregon.  The analysis focuses on significant issues, major financial activities and resulting 

changes in financial position, budget changes, and variances from the budget, and specific issues 

related to funds and the economic factors affecting the Agency. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) focuses on the current year activities and 

resulting changes from the prior year.  Please read it in conjunction with the Agency’s financial 

statements (beginning on page 1). 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• The net position of the Agency decreased by $270,390 from $1,671,694 to $1,401,304 at 

June 30, 2023. 

• Governmental activities revenue increased by $121,049 to $768,785. This is due to an 

increase in property tax revenues and interest earnings. 

• Overall, expenditures increased by $760,785 to $1,039,175. This is due to the completion 

of infrastructure projects in the Urban Renewal District. 

REPORT LAYOUT 

The Agency’s annual financial report consists of several sections.  Taken together they provide a 

comprehensive look at the Agency.  The components of the report include the following: 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  This section of the report provides financial 

highlights, overview, and economic factors affecting the Agency. 

Brookings Urban Renewal Agency  
898 Elk Drive, Brookings, OR 97415      

(541) 469-2163   Fax (541) 469-3650      

www.brookings.or.us 
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Basic Financial Statements.  Includes statement of Net Position, Statement of Activities, and 

Changes in Net Position, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial statements.  

Statements of Net Position and Activities focus on entity-wide presentation using the accrual 

basis of accounting.  They are designed to be more corporate-like in that all activities are 

consolidated into a total for the Agency. 

The Statement of Assets focuses on resources available for future operations.  In simple terms, 

this statement presents a snapshot view of the assets the Agency owns, the liabilities it owns and 

the net difference.  The net differences if further separated into amounts restricted for specific 

purposes and unrestricted amounts. 

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the Agency’s net position changed 

during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as thy 

underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

The focus is on Agency revenues and expenditures, the net of which equals change in net 

position. 

Fund financial statements focus separately on major governmental funds.  Governmental fund 

statements follow the more traditional presentation of financial statements.  The Agency’s 

General Fund is presented here along with budgetary comparisons. 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional disclosures required by 

governmental accounting standards and provide information to assist the reader in understanding 

the Agency’s financial condition. 

Other Supplementary Information.  The report includes other financial information, 

comments, and disclosures from the independent certified public accountants, as required by 

Oregon Statutes. 
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AGENCY AS A WHOLE 

Government-Wide Financial Statements  

Statement of Net Position at June 30, 2023: 

2023 2022

Assets

Cash and investments 1,365,443$    1,642,514$  

Other assets 35,861           30,616         

Total Assets 1,401,304      1,673,130    

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities - 

Other liabilities - 1,436           

Total Liabilities - 1,436           

Net Position

Unrestricted 1,401,304$    1,671,694$  

Table 1

Net Position at Fiscal Year End

Governmental Activities

As of June 30, 2023, the Agency had no current liabilities or long-term liabilities. Projects 

completed and assets purchased by the Agency become assets of the City; however, the debt 

remains with the Agency.   

Governmental Activities 

The Agency’s net position decreased by $270,390 from $1,671,694 to $1,401,304, primarily due 

to increased expenditures. 
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Statement of Activities for the Year Ended June 30, 2023: 

2023 2022

REVENUES

General revenues

Taxes 728,321$     639,601$     

Investment earnings 40,464 8,135 

Total revenues 768,785          647,736          

EXPENSES

Program 1,039,175       278,390          

Change in net position (270,390)         369,346          

Beginning net position 1,671,694       1,302,348       

Ending net position 1,401,304$     1,671,694$     

Table  2

Governmental Activities For Fiscal Year Ending

Nearly all of the general revenue was tax increment funding. The remainder was from 

investment earnings. 

Program expenses included $1,039,175 for agency management, audit expense and capital 

projects. 

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

No changes were made from the original 2022-23 adopted General Fund budget. 

DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

As of June 30, 2023, the Agency had no outstanding debt.  The final debt payment was made 

June 2020 on $3.4 million debt that was originally financed in 2008. 
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ECONOMIC FACTORS 

Like all municipalities in Oregon, the Agency continues to operate under Measure 50, the tax 

limitation measure approved by voters on May 20, 1997.  This measure rolled back assessed 

values to 1995-96 levels and effectively limited increased property tax revenues the City could 

anticipate in future years to a maximum of 3%, with permitted allowances for increasing 

valuations based on new construction and annexations.  No substantive changes to the basic 

provisions of Measure 50 have been enacted during subsequent Oregon Legislative sessions. 

As an urban renewal agency, the Agency receives tax increment revenues; calculated on the 

assessed value over the frozen base, which was set at the time the urban renewal district was 

formed.  When the Agency completes projects, it is actually investing in itself; as the value of 

property increases in the district, the tax increment revenues increases. 

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

The Agency’s financial statements are designed to present users (citizens, taxpayers, customers, 

investors, and creditors) with the general overview of the Agency’s finances and to demonstrate 

the Agency’s accountability.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 

report or requests for additional information should be addressed to: 

Anella Ehlers 

City of Brookings 

Finance Director 

898 Elk Drive 

Brookings, OR 97415 

(541) 469-2163

lehlers@brookings.or.us 
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Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

See accompanying notes. 
1 

 

Statement of Net Position 
June 30, 2023 

Governmental
Activities

ASSETS
Cash and investments 1,365,443$    
Receivables 35,861           

Total assets 1,401,304      

NET POSITION 
Restricted for urban renewal projects and debt service 1,401,304$    
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Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

See accompanying notes. 
2 

 

Statement of Activities 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Governmental
Activities

PROGRAM EXPENSES
General government 1,039,175$    

Total program expenses 1,039,175      

GENERAL REVENUES
Property taxes, levied for debt service 728,321         
Unrestricted investment earnings 40,464           

Total general revenues 768,785         

Change in net position (270,390)        

NET POSITION - beginning 1,671,694      

NET POSITION - ending 1,401,304$    
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Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

See accompanying notes. 
3 

 

Balance Sheet 
Governmental Funds 

June 30, 2023 

General Debt Service Totals
ASSETS

Cash and investments 853,943$       511,500$       1,365,443$    
Receivables 35,861           -                     35,861           

Total assets 889,804$       511,500$       1,401,304$    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue 10,102           -                     10,102           

FUND BALANCES
Restricted for

Urban renewal projects 879,702         -                     879,702         
Debt service -                     511,500         511,500         

Total fund balances 879,702         511,500         1,391,202      

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 
OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 889,804$       511,500$       

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO 
THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement net position are
different because:

Long-term assets which are not available for current-period expenditures are
reported as unavailable revenue in the funds.  However, such amounts are 
recognized as revenue in the government-wide financial statements. 10,102           

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 1,401,304$    
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Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

See accompanying notes. 
4 

 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

General Debt Service Totals
REVENUES

Property taxes 742,108$       -$                   742,108$       
Interest 40,464           -                     40,464           

Total revenues 782,572         -                     782,572         

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 180,602         -                     180,602         
Capital outlay 858,573         858,573         

Total expenditures 1,039,175      -                     1,039,175      

Net change in fund balances (256,603)        -                     (256,603)        
Fund balances at beginning of year 1,136,305      511,500         1,647,805      

Fund balances at end of year 879,702$       511,500$       1,391,202$    
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Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

See accompanying notes. 
5 

 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 
in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (256,603)$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because of the following:

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not
provide current financial resources are not reported
as revenues in the funds as follows:

Taxes (13,787)          

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES (270,390)$      
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Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

See accompanying notes. 
6 

 

General (Special Revenue) Fund 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –  

Budget and Actual 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Property taxes 639,676$         639,676$         742,108$         (102,432)$        
Interest 2,000               2,000               40,464             (38,464)            

Total revenues 641,676           641,676           782,572           (140,896)          

EXPENDITURES
Urban renewal program 1,541,676        1,541,676        1,039,175        502,501           

Total expenditures 1,541,676        1,541,676        1,039,175        502,501           

Net change in fund balance (900,000)          (900,000)          (256,603)          (643,397)          

Fund balance at beginning of year 900,000           900,000           1,136,305        236,305           

Fund balance at end of year -$                     -$                     879,702$         879,702$         

Budget

 

 

261



 
 

Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon 

 
7 

 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2023 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 

The Brookings Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency), a component unit of the City of Brookings, was 
organized in July 2003 under ORS 457 and is a municipal corporation created by the City of Brookings to 
facilitate urban renewal within the boundaries of the City. The City Council serves as the governing body 
and is accountable for the fiscal matters of the Agency. 

Urban renewal areas 

Tax allocation bonds for urban renewal plan areas are authorized by state law to 1) eliminate and prevent 
the development or spread of urban blight and deterioration; and 2) encourage needed urban 
conservation and rehabilitation and provide for redevelopment of blighted or deteriorated areas. 

Projects are financed in urban renewal plan areas as follows: 

 The Agency (City Council) selects an urban renewal plan area and defines its boundaries. 

 The County Assessor "freezes" the assessed value of property within the urban renewal area. This 
is referred to as the "frozen" value. 

 Any increase in assessed value above the frozen value is called the "incremental value." The tax 
revenue generated by the tax rate times the incremental value is provided for use in paying the 
principal and interest on any indebtedness incurred to finance Urban Renewal Projects. 

 Urban Renewal Tax Increment revenues are used to repay the indebtedness of the Agency. The 
proceeds of the indebtedness finance the Agency’s activities. 

As required by ORS 457.190(3)(a), the Agency has included in its current plan the maximum amount of 
indebtedness that may be issued or incurred under the plan in the amount of $15,825,000. 

Basis of presentation, measurement focus, and basis of accounting 

Government-wide financial statements – The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
display information about the Agency, including all of its financial activities. Governmental activities are 
financed primarily through property taxes and proceeds from borrowings. 

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
the Agency’s program. The Agency does not allocate indirect expenses. Program revenues include 
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting operational requirements. Revenues that are not 
classified as program revenues, including property taxes, earnings on investments, and the gain on sale 
of property, are presented as general revenues. 
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Fund financial statements – The fund financial statements provide information about the Agency’s 
funds. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major funds, each displayed in a separate column. 

The General Fund accounts for general administration of the Agency’s urban renewal areas, for 
acquisition and rehabilitation of blighted and deteriorated areas within the designated urban renewal 
areas. 

The Debt Service Fund accounts for repayment of debt incurred by the Agency. 

Measurement focus and basis of accounting 
Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at 
the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange 
transactions, in which the Agency receives value without giving equal value in exchange, include property 
taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On the accrual basis of accounting, revenue from property 
taxes are recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenues from grants, entitlements, 
and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when 
measurable and available. The Agency considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be 
available if they are collected within sixty days after year end. Property taxes and interest are considered 
to be susceptible to accrual. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except 
for claims and judgments, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have been incurred. 
Capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds and proceeds from 
general long-term debt are reported as other financing sources. 

Net position classification 

Government-wide statements – Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components: 

Net investment in capital assets – Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, 
or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those 
assets. 

Restricted net position – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by 
(1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other 
governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted net position – All other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net 
investment in capital assets.” 
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In the government wide financial statements when both restricted and unrestricted net position are 
available, unrestricted resources are used only after the restricted resources are depleted. 

Governmental fund type fund balance reporting – Governmental type fund balances are to be 
reported within the fund balance categories listed below: 

Non-spendable – Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form or 
because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constitutional provisions 
or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are externally imposed by creditors, grantors, 
contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments. 

Committed – Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal action of the 
City Council. The City Council is the highest level of decision making authority for the Agency. 
Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through ordinances or resolutions 
approved by the City Council. 

Assigned – Amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed but that 
are intended to be used for specific purposes. The City Council has granted authority to the 
Administrative Services Director to assign fund balance amounts. 

Unassigned – The residual classification for the government’s general fund and includes all spendable 
amounts not contained in the other classifications. Additionally, other funds may report negative 
unassigned fund balances in certain circumstances. 

In the governmental fund financial statements, when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which 
both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, the Agency considers restricted funds to have 
been spent first. When an expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund 
balances are available, the Agency considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, 
then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the City Council has provided 
otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. 

Budget policies and budgetary control – Generally, Oregon Local Budget Law requires annual budgets 
be adopted for all funds. The modified accrual basis of accounting is used for all budgets. All annual 
appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. 

The Agency begins its budgeting process by appointing Budget Committee members in the fall of each 
year. Budget recommendations are developed by management through early spring, with the Budget 
Committee meeting and approving the budget document in late spring. Public notices of the budget 
hearing are generally published in May or June and the hearing is held in June. The governing body 
adopts the budget, makes appropriations, and declares the tax levy no later than June 30. Expenditure 
appropriations may not be legally overexpended. 
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The resolution authorizing appropriations for each fund sets the level at which expenditures cannot legally 
exceed appropriations. The governing body established the levels of budgetary control at the personal 
services, materials and services, capital outlay, operating contingencies, debt service, and all other 
requirement levels for all funds. 

Budget amounts shown in the financial statements have been revised since the original budget amounts 
were adopted. The governing body must authorize all appropriation transfers and supplementary 
budgetary appropriations. 

Note 2 – Cash and Investments 

The Agency invests its cash in the City of Brookings, Oregon’s cash and investment management pool, 
which is available for use by all City funds and is unrated. The cash and investment management pool 
has the general characteristic of a demand deposit account in that City funds may deposit additional cash 
at any time and also effectively may withdraw cash at any time without prior notice or penalty. Interest 
earned from pooled investments is allocated to each fund based on each fund's portion of the total 
investment balance calculated on a daily basis.  

State statutes authorize the County to invest in the State of Oregon Local Government Investment Pool. 
The LGIP operates in accordance with appropriate State laws. It is not practical to determine the 
investment risk, collateral, or insurance coverage for the Agency’s share of these pooled investments. 

Information about the pooled investments, including investment risk, collateral, and insurance coverage, 
is included in the City’s annual financial report and may be obtained by contacting the City’s Finance 
Department at 898 Elk Drive, Brookings, Oregon 97415. 

Note 3 – Receivables 

The Agency's receivables at June 30, 2023 are shown below: 

Property taxes  $35,861 

Collection procedures – Taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable in three installments due 
November 15, February 15, and May 5. Curry County bills and collects property taxes for the Agency. 

Ensuing year’s levy – The Agency will levy 100 percent of the amount of its authority under option one of 
ORS 457.435(2)(a) for the retirement of long-term obligations principal and interest without making a 
special levy. 

The tax rate limit of $10 per thousand of assessed value imposed by the Oregon Constitution is not 
expected to affect this levy. 

265



 
 

Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 
A Component Unit of City of Brookings, Oregon  

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2023 

 
11 

 

Note 4 – Unavailable Revenue 

Resource owned by the Agency, which are measurable, but not available, and therefore, unavailable in 
the funds, consist of the following at June 30, 2023: 

Property taxes  $10,102 

Note 5 – Tax Abatements 

The Agency has entered into no tax abatement programs. There are no tax abatement programs entered 
into by another government reducing the Agency’s property tax revenues for the year ended June 30, 
2023. 
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Debt Service Fund (Major Fund) 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –  

Budget and Actual 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Interest -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

EXPENDITURES
Debt service -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total expenditures -                     -                     -                     -                     

Net change in fund balance -                     -                     -                     -                     
Fund balance at beginning of year -                     -                     511,500          511,500          

Fund balance at end of year -$                   -$                   511,500$        511,500$        

Budget
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Schedule of Property Tax Transactions 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Taxes Taxes
Receivable Discounts and Receivable

Tax Year July 1, 2022 Current Levy Adjustments Collections June 30, 2023

2022-23 -$                   743,891$       (19,748)$        (703,228)$      20,915           
2021-22 15,620           -                     (16)                 (8,280)            7,324             
2020-21 6,835             -                     (11)                 (3,463)            3,361             
2019-20 3,763             -                     (23)                 (1,955)            1,785             
2018-19 1,751             -                     (16)                 (1,200)            535                
2017-18 354                -                     (1)                   (75)                 278                
2016-17 230                -                     -                     (52)                 178                
Prior years 1,538             -                     (23)                 (30)                 1,485             

30,091$         743,891$       (19,838)$        (718,283)$      35,861$         
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Report of Independent Auditors Required by Oregon State 
Regulations 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
Brookings Urban Renewal Agency 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund and the budgetary 
statement for the general (special revenue) fund of the Brookings Urban Renewal Agency (the 
Agency), a component unit of the City of Brookings, Oregon as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Brookings 
Urban Renewal Agency’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 8, 2023. 

Compliance 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether URA’s basic financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, including provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 
as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 162-010-0000 to 162-010-0330, of the Minimum 
Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements: However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. 

We performed procedures to the extent we considered necessary to address the required comments 
and disclosures which included, but were not limited to, the following: 

 Accounting records and internal control 

 Public fund deposits 

 Budget 

 Insurance and fidelity bonds 

 Investments 

 Public contracts and purchasing 

In connection with our testing, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe the Agency 
was not in substantial compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, including the provisions of ORS as specified in OAR 162-010-0000 through 162-010-
0330 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations. 
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Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Agency’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the council members and management of 
the Agency and the Oregon Secretary of State and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these parties. 

Amanda McCleary-Moore, Partner, 
for Moss Adams LLP 
Medford, Oregon 
December 8, 2023 
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